

LUND UNIVERSITY

The role of myeloid cells in neurodegenerative diseases. Studies on cellular phenotype and communication.

Yang, Yiyi

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Yang, Y. (2021). The role of myeloid cells in neurodegenerative diseases. Studies on cellular phenotype and communication. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

The role of myeloid cells in neurodegenerative diseases

Studies on cellular phenotype and communication

YIYI YANG EXPERIMENTAL MEDICAL SCIENCE | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



About the author

YIYI YANG

Born and raised in China. I moved to Sweden in 2012 for the master's program in biotechnology at Lund University and started my PhD study with neuroscience in 2015. My research is about the characterization of microglia in neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD). I am also interested in the cross-talk between microglia and the peripheral immune system. The value of my work may provide potential molecular targets for early diagnostics and pharmacological intervention to prevent the progression of AD.





FACULTY OF MEDICINE Department of Experimental Medical Science

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:71 ISBN 978-91-8021-077-5 ISSN 1652-8220



The role of myeloid cells in neurodegenerative diseases

The role of myeloid cells in neurodegenerative diseases

Studies on cellular phenotype and communication

Yiyi Yang



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended in Belfrage lecture hall (BMC D15) on June 3 2021 at 9:00.

> Faculty opponent Professor Robert Harris Department of Clinical Neuroscience Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

		Document name	NN .	
LOND UNIVERSITY		DOCTORAL DISSERTATIC	2021	
		Date of ISSUE Sid of Julie 2	.021	
Author(s) Yiyi Yang		Sponsoring organization		
Title and subtitle				
The role of myeloid cells in neurodeg	The role of myeloid cells in neurodegenerative diseases: studies on cellular phenotype and communication			
Abstract				
Neurological disorders are listed as the second leading cause of death worldwide. Stroke and Alzheimer's disease (AD) are the major contributors to neurological disorders of deaths. Every year, around 14 million new people are affected by stoke and nearly 10 million new cases of AD are diagonosed worldwide. The number of deaths and disabilities due to these disorders have increased considerably. Neuroinflammation is a major pathological feature appearing in the central nervous system (CNS) in these disorders. The central cellular components for neuroinflammation in CNS is microglia. The multifaceted roles of microglia under pathological conditions have been investigated by several research groups. Even if the knowledge about these cells is extensive, many aspects of their role in diseases have not been well elucidated. One of them is how microglia contribute to the pathology. Thus, I investigated how microglia communicate with other cells through extracellular vesicles (EVs) and how microglia cross-talk with the periphery under AD pathology.				
Firstly, upon LPS activation of microglia, we found that larger sizes of EVs were released and the levels of proinflammatory cytokines, TNF and IL-6, were increased in EVs. The proteomic profile was shifted to ribosomal assembly and translation. Complete ablation of TNF expression alleviated the inflammation and lead to reduced EVs secretion in a mouse model of stroke, as well as <i>in vitro</i> with LPS stimulation.				
Microglia are highly dynamic cells and can alter their phenotypes in response to diverse conditions. Therefore, we wanted to elucidate the activation profile of microglia under pathogenic conditions. In the early phase of AD pathogenesis, there is little known about how microglia contribute to the pathology. Thus, the 5xFAD mouse model of AD was used to investigate the effects before the formation of amyloid- β (A β) plaques in the CNS. Using a proteomic approach, early inflammatory activation of microglia was found before the formation of plaques.				
Last but not least, we studied the cross-talk between CNS and periphery under Aβ pathology. There are conflicting findings from animal studies on the contribution of peripheral inflammation on AD due to the variations in the degree of inflammation, timepoint of the stimulation, and the duration. Therefore, we designed our study to have two timepoints wherein we modulate the innate immunity, one was at the pre-plaque stage and the other was at the postnatal stage. Strikingly, a reduced number of plaques was found in hippocampus accompanied by less microglial activation in 5xFAD mice 4.5 months after the peripheral LPS challenge during the pre-plaque state. Subsequently, single-cell sequencing demonstrated that the early inflammation at the postnatal phase affected microglia and bone marrow resident monocytes (BM-Mo) similar to how AD affects these cell types. Interestingly, unique subpopulations of microglia were identified that were enriched in genes associated with lysosomal function (Lyz2) and a detrimental inflammatory marker (Galectin-3). These particular subsets carried a BM-Mo-like phenotype and appeared in response to acute peripheral inflammation and chronic inflammation caused by AD. We also observed that some subsets of myeloid cells were provoked by Aβ pathology but not systemic inflammation and vice versa. To summarize, microglia have multiple ways of contributing to the pathology of AD. Systemic inflammatory challenge can have pronounced effects on innate immunity in the CNS and the underlying mechanism remains to be elucidated. The findings of this thesis also provide potential candidates for use in early diagnostics and				
pharmacological targets to prevent the progression of AD.				
Key words Microglia, Neuroinflammation, Alzher Single-cell sequencing	imer's dis	sease, Stroke, Innate immunit	y, Systemic inflammation, Monocytes,	
Classification system and/or index ter	rms (if an	y)		
Supplementary bibliographical information,			Language English	
ISSN and key title 1652-8220,			ISBN 978-91-8021-077-5	
Recipient's notes	Numbe 105	er of pages	Price	
	Securit	y classification		
I, the undersigned, being the copyright	owner of	the abstract of the above-me	ntioned dissertation, hereby grant to all	

reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby give reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature 从y Ymy 杨荣 Date 2021-04-28

The role of myeloid cells in neurodegenerative diseases

Studies on cellular phenotype and communication

Yiyi Yang



Dynamic alterations of microglia (in dual colors) under β -amyloid pathology. β -amyloid plaques are in orange. The transition of microglia from resting to activation is indicated by changes from blue and green colors to pink and red colors.

Coverphoto by Yiyi Yang

Copyright pp 1-105 Yiyi Yang

Paper 1 © Springer Nature

Paper 2 © Nature Publishing Group

Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Experimental Medical Science

ISBN 978-91-8021-077-5 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN 致我亲爱的女儿和我的家人

To my little daughter, Wei-yi Xu, and my family

路漫漫其修远兮,吾将上下而求索。——屈原《离骚》

I sit at my window this morning where the world like a passer-by stops for a moment, nods to me and goes. Rabindranath Tagore, Stray Birds

Table of Contents

List of publications	11
Papers include in the thesis	11
Additional publications, not included in the thesis	12
Abbreviations	15
Popular summary	17
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	19
论文简介	21
Context of this thesis	23
Introduction	25
Neurological disorders	
Innate immunity	
Rationale	45
Aims	47
Methods	49
Cell culture and treatment	
Animal models	
Animal surgery, treatment, and behavioral tests	
Isolation of monocytes and microglia	53
Transcriptomic and proteomic analysis	54
Microscopy	
Data Analysis	

Results	59
Inflammatory response of microglia upon different stimuli (Paper I and Paper II)	59
Modulation of innate immunity by systemic inflammation (Paper III and Paper IV)	59
Paper I	60
Paper II	62
Paper III	64
Paper IV	66
Discussion	69
Inflammatory response of microglia upon different stimuli	69
Modulation of innate immunity by systemic inflammation	70
General conclusions	75
Future Perspectives	77
Challenges of studying microglia	77
Shared responses between systemic inflammation and Alzheimer's	disease
	78
Validation of the single-cell sequencing data	78
Modulation of innate immunity	79
Acknowledgement	81
References	85

List of publications

Papers include in the thesis

- I. Inflammation leads to distinct populations of extracellular vesicles from microglia. <u>Yang Y</u>, Boza-Serrano A, Dunning CJR, Clausen BH, Lambertsen KL, Deierborg T. J Neuroinflammation. 2018 May 28;15(1):168.
- II. Innate immune alterations are elicited in microglial cells before plaque deposition in the Alzheimer's disease mouse model 5xFAD. Boza-Serrano A*, <u>Yang Y</u>*, Paulus A, Deierborg T. Sci Rep. 2018 Jan 24;8(1):1550.
- III. Long-term effects of acute systemic inflammation in adulthood on myeloid cells in the 5xFAD mouse of Alzheimer's disease. Yiyi Yang, Bazhena Bahatyrevich-Kharitonik, Lluís Camprubí-Ferrer, Sara Bachiller, Tomas Deierborg. Manuscript
- IV. Postnatal LPS injection induces a unique phenotype of myeloid cells in the adulthood associated with amyloid-beta pathology. <u>Yiyi Yang</u>, Sara Bachiller, Bazhena Bahatyrevich-Kharitonik, Roy Francis, Tomas Deierborg. Manuscript

*Equal contribution to the paper

Additional publications, not included in the thesis

- I. Endogenous IFN-β signaling exerts anti-inflammatory actions in experimentally induced focal cerebral ischemia. Inácio AR, Liu Y, Clausen BH, Svensson M, Kucharz K, <u>Yang Y</u>, Stankovich T, Khorooshi R, Lambertsen KL, Issazadeh-Navikas S, Deierborg T. J Neuroinflammation. 2015 Nov 18; 12:211.
- II. Focal, but not global, cerebral ischaemia causes loss of myenteric neurons and upregulation of vasoactive intestinal peptide in mouse ileum. Cheng X, Svensson M, <u>Yang Y</u>, Deierborg T, Ekblad E, Voss U. Int J Exp Pathol. 2018 Feb;99(1):38-45.
- III. Galectin-3, a novel endogenous TREM2 ligand, detrimentally regulates inflammatory response in Alzheimer's disease. Boza-Serrano A, Ruiz R, Sanchez-Varo R, García-Revilla J, <u>Yang Y</u>, Jimenez-Ferrer I, Paulus A, Wennström M, Vilalta A, Allendorf D, Davila JC, Stegmayr J, Jiménez S, Roca-Ceballos MA, Navarro-Garrido V, Swanberg M, Hsieh CL, Real LM, Englund E, Linse S, Leffler H, Nilsson UJ, Brown GC, Gutierrez A, Vitorica J, Venero JL, Deierborg T. Acta Neuropathol. 2019 Aug;138(2):251-273.
- IV. Midlife physical activity is associated with lower incidence of vascular dementia but not Alzheimer's disease. Hansson O^{*}, Svensson M^{*}, Gustavsson AM, Andersson E, <u>Yang Y</u>, Nägga K, Hållmarker U, James S, Deierborg T. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2019 Oct 20;11(1):87.
- V. Voluntary running does not reduce neuroinflammation or improve non-cognitive behavior in the 5xFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Svensson M, Andersson E, Manouchehrian O, <u>Yang Y</u>, Deierborg T. Sci Rep. 2020 Jan 28;10(1):1346.
- VI. The effect of electroconvulsive therapy on neuroinflammation, behavior and amyloid plaques in the 5xFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Svensson M, Olsson G, <u>Yang Y</u>, Bachiller S, Ekemohn M, Ekstrand J, Deierborg T. Sci Rep. 2021 Mar 1;11(1):4910.

- VII. Amyloid Structural Changes Studied by Infrared Microspectroscopy in Bigenic Cellular Models of Alzheimer's Disease. Paulus A, Engdahl A, <u>Yang Y</u>, Boza-Serrano A, Bachiller S, Torres-Garcia L, Svanbergsson A, Garcia MG, Gouras GK, Li JY, Deierborg T, Klementieva O. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Mar 26;22(7):3430.
- VIII. Review article: Microglia in Neurological Diseases: A Road Map to Brain-Disease Dependent-Inflammatory Response. Bachiller S^{*}, Jiménez-Ferrer I^{*}, Paulus A^{*}, <u>Yang Y</u>^{*}, Swanberg M, Deierborg T, Boza-Serrano A. Front Cell Neurosci. 2018 Dec 18; 12:488.
 - IX. Review article: Targeting Neuroinflammation to Treat Alzheimer's Disease. Ardura-Fabregat A, Boddeke EWGM, Boza-Serrano A, Brioschi S, Castro-Gomez S, Ceyzériat K, Dansokho C, Dierkes T, Gelders G, Heneka MT, Hoeijmakers L, Hoffmann A, Iaccarino L, Jahnert S, Kuhbandner K, Landreth G, Lonnemann N, Löschmann PA, McManus RM, Paulus A, Reemst K, Sanchez-Caro JM, Tiberi A, Van der Perren A, Vautheny A, Venegas C, Webers A, Weydt P, Wijasa TS, Xiang X, Yang Y. CNS Drugs. 2017 Dec;31(12):1057-1082. (All authors have equal contribution)

*Equal contribution to the paper

Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's disease
CNS	central nervous system
BM-Mo	bone marrow resident monocytes
MRI	resonance imaging
CT	computed tomography
NO	nitric oxide
APP	amyloid precursor protein
Αβ	amyloid-β
NFT	neurofibrillary tangles
AICD	APP intracellular domain
PET	positron emission tomography
PSEN1	presenilin-1
PSEN2	presenilin-2
APOE	apolipoprotein E
TREM2	triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
MCI	mild cognitive impairment
CVD	cerebrovascular disease
NK	natural killer
ROS	reactive oxygen species
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
MS	multiple sclerosis
ALS	amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
EMP	erythromyeloid progenitor
CSF1R	macrophage colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor
TFG - β	transforming growth factor- β
IL	interleukin
CX3CL1	CX3C chemokine ligand 1
CX3CR1	CX3C chemokine receptor 1
CD	Cluster of differentiation
PRRs	pathogen recognition receptors
DAMPs	danger associated molecular patterns
PAMPs	pathogen associated molecular patterns
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
NF-κB	nuclear factor kB

IRFs	interferon regulatory factor
EVs	extracellular vesicles
ILVs	intraluminal vesicles
MVB	multivesicular body
ESCRT	endosomal sorting complex required for transport
MHC	major histocompatibility class
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor 1
MS4A	membrane-spanning 4-domains subfamily A
CAM	CNS-associated macrophages
CLEC7A	C-Type Lectin Domain Containing 7A
SPP1	secreted Phosphoprotein 1
DAM	disease-associated microglia'
MGnD	microglia neurodegenerative phenotype
TMEM 119	transmembrane protein 119
P2RY12	purinergic receptor P2Y
HEXB	hexosaminidase subunit β
LPL	lipoprotein lipase
ITGAX	complement component 3 receptor 4 subunit
TYROBP	transmembrane immune signaling adaptor
CTSD	cathepsin D
HIF1	hypoxia-inducible factor 1
CMP	common myeloid progenitor
BM	bone marrow
cMoP	common monocyte progenitor
CXCR4	C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4
CCR2	C-C motif chemokine receptor 2
BBB	blood-brain-barrier
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
LPS	lipopolysaccharides
CR1	complement C3b/C4b receptor 1
PLCG2	phospholipase C gamma 2
BIN1	bridging integrator 1
RD1	retinal degeneration mutation 1
pMCAO	permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion
scRNA-seq	Single-cell sequencing
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
RSC	retrosplenial cortex
DG	dentate gyrus
solTNF	soluble TNF
tmTNF	transmembrane TNF

Popular summary

Brain disorders are the second leading cause of death worldwide. Among them, stroke and Alzheimer's disease (AD) are the main contributors. Every year, around 14 million new people are affected by stroke and nearly 10 million new cases of AD are diagnosed (WHO 2020). The number of deaths and disabilities due to these disorders have increased considerably in the past decades and it is estimated to continuously rise globally. Therefore, it is urgent to develop effective therapies for these diseases, especially AD as there is currently no effective treatment available.

Neuroinflammation is an inflammation in the brain. It is an important feature of these brain diseases. Microglia play a central role in neuroinflammation. They are the only resident immune cells in the brain and act as guards, taking care of the brain under healthy conditions. However, these allies can become enemies in the brain as they are over-activated under disease conditions. The reactions of these harmful forms of microglia can start neuroinflammation. Likewise, over-activation of immune cells in the body may cause peripheral inflammation.

To be able to therapeutically treat these diseases, it is important to understand how neuroinflammation is amplified and triggered in the brain. Firstly, we investigated a previously undiscovered way of cell-cell communication via extracellular vesicles (EVs) in microglia. EVs are small vesicles spontaneously released by all types of cells. They can amplify the signals of the diseases and transport them over long distance. We found that under inflammatory conditions, larger sized EVs were released from microglia and the levels of inflammatory mediators were increased in those EVs. A better understanding of EVs could provide potential biomarkers for early diagnosis of AD. They also have the potential to be a means to specifically deliver drugs.

Secondly, to know when neuroinflammation is triggered in AD, we investigated the protein-profile of microglia before and after amyloid- β (A β) deposition. A β deposition is one of the hallmarkers in the AD brain causing neuroinflammation. We chose to use an AD mouse model (5xFAD) with high production of A β to study the starting point of neuroinflammation. We found the appearance of activated microglia was even before the presence of A β deposition.

Finally, we wanted to investigate how to prime the microglia in AD through a more convenient way as an alternative therapy. Microglia have the capability to respond faster and more effectively when they meet the stimuli a second time. This phenomenon is defined as priming. The LPS, a major component on the cellular wall of bacteria, was introduced to the body of the mice as the first stimuli to prime microglia. And A β is regarded as the second stimuli. Two time-points were decided to prime the microglia, the postnatal stage and the adulthood before the appearance of A β deposition. Following, induction of acute peripheral inflammation by LPS in adult mice, we found a long-lasting influence on microglia. When we injected LPS in 5xFAD mice, we found a reduced activation of microglia and a decreased amount of A β load. Moreover, induction of an even earlier challenge with systemic LPS injection in the postnatal stage caused a stronger long-term effect on microglia. Transcriptomic analysis at single-cell level revealed a great diversity within the microglial population. After LPS induction, a unique group of microglia may have a detrimental role in the progression of AD. More studies will be required to further verify the function of this microglial subpopulation.

Taken together, microglia seem to retain an immunological memory that may reduce the pathology but may also participate in the development of AD. These findings will help us to modulate microglia in a beneficial way to prevent the disease. More studies are required to validate our experimental findings in humans. A better understanding of the different functions of microglia in AD may provide potential molecular targets for early diagnostics and pharmacological intervention to prevent the progression of AD.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Hjärnsjukdomar är den andra vanligaste dödsorsaken i världen. Bland dessa utgör stroke och Alzheimers sjukdom flest dödsfall. Årligen drabbas runt 14 miljoner personer av stroke och 10 miljoner insjuknar i Alzheimers sjukdom (WHO 2020). Antalet dödsfall och invalidiserade på grund av dessa sjukdomar har ökat de senaste decennierna. Detta gäller i synnerhet Alzheimers där framgångsrika behandlingar ännu saknas.

Neuroinflammation betyder inflammation i hjärnan. Tillståndet är ett viktigt inslag vid stroke och Alzheimers. Mikroglia är hjärnans främsta immuncell och de spelar en central roll för neuroinflammationen. Dessa celler är nervcellernas livvakter. Under friska förhållanden stöttar mikrogliacellerna hjärnans funktioner. Men vid sjukdom kan dessa livvakter överaktiveras och förvandlas till nervcellernas fiender. Tillsammans med andra sjukliga förändringar kan överaktiverade mikroglia orsaka neuroinflammation. Detsamma gäller även immunceller i övriga kroppen som kan orsaka perifer inflammation.

För att behandla dessa sjukdomar är det viktigt att förstå hur neuroinflammationen utlöses och sprids i hjärnan. Därför undersökte jag kommunikationen mellan celler via extracellulära vesiklar (EV) i mikroglia. EVs är som små bubblor som frigörs spontant av alla typer av celler. Dessa bubblor kan bära på molekyler som signalerar sjukdom när de sprids i kroppen. Vi upptäckte att större storlekar av EVs utsöndrades under inflammatoriska tillstånd. Dessutom bar dessa vesiklar på ökade nivåer av inflammatoriska signalmolekyler. En bättre förståelse för EVs skulle kunna ge potentiella biomarkörer för tidig diagnos av AD. De kan också användas som budbärare för att leverera läkemedel till specifika platser i kroppen.

För att ta reda på när neuroinflammationen startar vid Alzheimers undersökte vi proteinsammansättningen i mikroglia före och efter amyloid-beta(A β) -plack bildats i hjärnan. Ansamling av ihopklumpade så kallade A β -plack är typiskt hos patienter med sjukdomen och leder till neuroinflammation. För detta användes musmodellen 5xFAD. Dessa möss bär på fem mutationer som leder till högre nivåer av proteinet A β . I musmodellen aktiverades mikrogliacellerna redan innan dessa plack bildades.

När mikroglia stöter på samma hotfulla stimuli igen reagerar den snabbare, ett fenomen som kallas primning. Detta skulle kunna användas som en alternativ behandling vid Alzheimers sjukdom genom att mikrogliaceller triggas i ett tidigt skede för att sedan lättare aktiveras och skydda hjärnan när sjukliga A β -plack

bildats. Men att ingripa direkt i hjärnan är komplicerat. Därför ville jag i avhandlingens sista del undersöka om aktiveringen av mikroglia kan modifieras via det perifera immunsystemet i resten av kroppen. Lipopolysackarid (LPS) är en del av bakteriers cellvägg och kan användas som ett första stimuli för att trigga mikroglia. Därefter kan Aß fungera som ett andra stimuli för att återaktivera mikroglia. Detta undersöktes genom att inducera inflammation i kroppen med LPS vid två olika tillfällen hos möss. I ena gruppen framkallades inflammationen redan när mössen var ungar och i den andra hos vuxna möss som ännu inte utvecklat Aβplack. Om inflammationen orsakades i vuxna möss ledde det till långvarig påverkan på mikrogliacellerna i hjärnan. Dessutom minskade mängden Aß i musmodellen av Alzheimers sjukdom. I de fall där inflammationen inducerades redan hos ungarna påverkades mikroglia långvarigt i ännu större utsträckning, något som också ses i Alzheimersmössen. Nivåerna av olika genuttryck mättes i enskilda mikrogliaceller och visade att många olika typer av mikrogliaceller fanns i hjärnproverna från mössen. De möss som haft en kroppslig inflammation orsakad av LPS hade en speciell typ av mikrogliaceller som också fanns hos Alzheimersmössen. Denna typ av mikroglia kan ha en skadlig roll vid utvecklandet av Alzheimers. Därför behöver funktionen hos denna typ av mikrogliaceller undersökas vidare i framtida studier.

Sammantaget verkar mikroglia primas av LPS för att minska sjukliga förändringar och påverka utvecklingen av Alzheimers. Dessa resultat kan hjälpa oss att modulera immunsystemet på ett fördelaktigt sätt för att förhindra eller lindra sjukdomen. Fler studier krävs för att säkerställa att samma gäller hos människor. En bättre förståelse för olika funktioner hos mikroglia vid Alzheimers sjukdom kan ge potentiella kandidater för tidigare diagnos och farmakologiska angreppspunkter för att förhindra sjukdomsutvecklingen.

论文简介

脑部疾病(brain disorders)是全球第二大死因。其中,中风和阿尔茨海 默症(又称老年痴呆症)占据了重大比例。据世界卫生组织的报告,全球每 年仍有近 1400 万中风和 1000 万阿尔茨海默症新增病例,而这一数字还有持 续上升的趋势。不幸的是,目前医学界对这些疾病尚无有效的治疗方法。

脑部疾病的一个重要特征是神经系统炎症(Neuroinflammation)。作为大脑 中唯一驻留的免疫细胞,小胶质细胞(microglia)在神经炎症中起到了重 要的作用。在健康状态下,这些细胞充当守卫,维护着大脑的正常运作。然 而在病理情况下,这些过度活跃的"守卫",就会变为大脑的敌人,引起神 经炎症。同样的,体内其他免疫细胞的过度活化也可能导致大脑以外部分的 炎症。

了解神经炎症的传播机制与触发对治疗此类疾病尤为重要。首先,我们对胞 外小泡(extracellular vesicles, EVs)在小胶质细胞中的作用进行了研 究。胞外小泡是最近被发现的胞间通讯的新途径之一。任何类型的细胞都可 自发释放胞外小泡。它们可携带疾病信号,并在体内远距离、扩大传播。我 们发现在炎症作用下相对较大的胞外小泡会从小胶质细胞中释放,并且这些 小泡中炎症因子的水平也有所增加。对胞外小泡的深入研究可以为阿尔茨海 默症的早期诊断提供生物标志物。而且胞外小泡还具有成为靶向运送药物载 体的潜力。

其次,为了研究神经炎症是如何触发的,我们分析了 β 淀粉样蛋白沉积前 后小胶质细胞的蛋白图谱。β 淀粉样蛋白的沉积是阿尔茨海默症中引起神经 炎症的典型标志之一。我们决定采用可产生大量β淀粉样蛋白的小鼠模型 (5xFAD)作为研究对象,并观察到在β淀粉样蛋白沉积之前,小胶质细胞 中就已出现了大量炎症相关蛋白的表达。

最后,我们阐述了如何通过外周免疫系统调节小胶质细胞的活化,作为更为 简单方便的阿尔兹海默症疗法。我们了解到当小胶质细胞在第二次遇到相同 或类似的刺激时能够做出更快更有效的免疫反应,被称为启动效应 (Priming)。我们通过对 5xFAD 老鼠模型注射 LPS (一种存在于革兰氏阴性 细菌外膜的脂多糖)来触发启动效应,用以观察小胶质细胞对 β 淀粉样蛋白 吞噬作用的影响。我们选择了两个不同的时间点对 5xFAD 小鼠进行测试,即 幼儿期和β淀粉样蛋白未沉积时的成年期。四个半月后,在注射了脂多糖的 成年 5xFAD 小鼠中,我们发现小胶质细胞的炎症反应降低了并伴随着β淀粉 样蛋白积累的减少。此外,在六个月大的 5xFAD 小鼠中,我们发现更为早期 的 LPS 诱导对小胶质细胞的影响更大。单细胞高通量转录组分析显示大脑中 的小胶质细胞存在着丰富的多样性。我们发现了一组独特的小胶质细胞,这 组小胶质细胞出现在幼儿期被 LPS 诱导后的成年老鼠中。它们与未经诱导的 阿尔茨海默症成年小鼠中的一组小胶质细胞有相似特征,这些特征可能使其 对阿尔茨海默症的发展具有推动作用。我们计划在之后的实验中继续验证这 组小胶质细胞的功能。

综上所述,小胶质细胞可通过启动效应减少β淀粉样蛋白的沉积。这些发现 将有助于我们通过调节小胶质细胞,来达到治疗疾病的目的。深入了解小胶 质细胞在阿尔兹海默症中的不同功能,可为阿尔兹海默症的早期诊断提供新 的思路,并为延缓疾病进展提供潜在的药物靶点。

Context of this thesis

I came to Sweden in August 2012 for the master's program in biotechnology at Lund University. At that time, I was a student at Faculty of Engineer (LTH). Afterwards, I became interested in medical research generally and was enrolled in a Ph.D. preparatory program for stem cell biology, at Faculty of Medicine in my second year of the master's education. It provided me a great opportunity to learn flow cytometry, which later was extensively applied in the studies included in this thesis.

I started my Ph.D. project with my supervisor, Tomas Deierborg, in 2015 to characterize the different phenotypes of microglia upon inflammatory stimulation. We wanted to investigate the role of microglia in neurodegenerative diseases as a broad topic with specific aims related to how microglia communicate with other cells.

In the first study, as EVs emerged as a novel pathway for cellular communication and were demonstrated to be involved in the aggregation of misfolded proteins and spreading of the pathology, in collaboration with Christopher Dunning, we investigated the effects of inflammation on the dynamics of EVs released from microglia (Paper I). Firstly, I tried to isolate EVs by a novel label-free technology developed by Thomas Laurell and his group, called acoustophoresis and acoustic trapping. However, due to the low reproducibility and still ongoing development of the technology, we decided to use a traditional ultracentrifugation instead. And LPS was applied as a standard method to activated the microglia to study certain aspects.

Next, we wanted to have more clinically relevant studies related to neuroinflammation, so we focused on Alzheimer's disease (AD) as it is one of the major neurodegenerative diseases and involves neuroinflammation. A mouse model of AD is a suitable choice to study experimentally different aspects of microglial activation. With this, we sought to elucidate the pathogenesis of sporadic form of AD and how the neuroinflammation contributes to it. Thus, we initiated a study looking at early alterations of microglia in a mouse model of AD (Paper II). In parallel, I got the chance to work with my colleague Antonio on a project using the same model to look at how galectin-3 (Gal-3) expressed in microglia contributed to the AD pathology. As a result, I gained more experience with experimental skills and a better understanding of the pathology in this model. And Gal-3 was later used as a marker for the activation of microglia (**Paper II and III**).

These findings made us to think that the early alterations in microglia may initiate detrimental effects in the central nervous system (CNS) and periphery and may even accelerate the progression of the diseases. To answer this question, the following two studies were proposed to evaluate the effects of LPS-raised inflammation at different stage of life on myeloid cells. There are conflicting findings from animal studies on the contribution of peripheral inflammation on AD due to different experimental setups. Therefore, we designed the study to have two timepoints for modulating innate immunity, one was at the pre-plaque stage (**Paper III**) and the other was at the postnatal stage (**Paper IV**).

Overall, these findings in my thesis can be viewed as an effort to investigate the inflammatory response of microglia under different aspects-one is LPS-triggered inflammation and the other is A β -caused chronic inflammation. The general aims of my work were to promote a better understanding of the different roles of microglia and monocytes in the progression of AD and to help develop a potential treatment for neurological disorders.

Introduction

In this part, I will first describe the pathology of neurological disorders, including ischemic stroke (Paper I) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Papers II, III, and IV), that I investigated in my projects, of which AD will be emphasized. Following this, I will focus on myeloid cells, microglia from brain and monocytes from periphery as key players in AD.

Neurological disorders

Neurological disorders are diseases that affect the central nervous system (CNS) and peripheral nervous system. The symptoms of these disorders vary significantly, ranging from emotional disorders, such as depression and delusions, to physical disability, including paralysis, seizures, muscle weakness, as well as loss of memory and sensation. The number of deaths and the number of people with a disability due to these disorders have increased considerably in the past decades, and it is estimated to continue to rise globally. Neurological disorders were listed as the second leading cause of death worldwide¹. Among the different disorders, stroke was the major contributor to neurological causes of death, accounting for 64.4% of deaths, followed by Alzheimer's disease and other dementias (27.8%)².

Ischemic stroke

Ischemic stroke, the most common form of stroke, has been estimated to have around 10 million new cases each year with about 50% mortality rate^{3–5} Men have a higher risk (52% of all strokes) than women (48% of all strokes) experiencing ischemic stroke⁶. A comprehensive epidemiological study across different countries implicated several potential modifiable risk factors, such as hypertension, physical training, smoking, alcohol consumption and diabetes⁷. Ischemic stroke is caused by a reduction of blood flow to a region of the brain, leading to the activation of various cascades and neuronal damage⁸. In just a few hours after onset, patients with ischemic stroke often manifest an infarct core, an irreversible impaired area, surrounded by a possibly recovered, damaged area called the penumbra⁹. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computed tomography (CT) have been developed to better assess the lesion in ischemic patients¹⁰.

The underlying mechanisms behind ischemic stroke injury have been extensively studied. Various components are involved in the injury, including excitotoxicity, oxidative stress and inflammation¹¹. Excitotoxicity is caused by the elevation of excitatory neurotransmitters, such as glutamate, which initiates over-activation of receptors, N-methyl-d-aspartate α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-propionate receptors or kainite receptors¹¹. These receptors then facilitate a large influx of Ca²⁺ and Na⁺, causing cellular death^{12,13}. The process of restoring blood flow after the event, referred to ischemia-reperfusion, triggers the generation of superoxide and nitric oxide (NO) in the impaired neurons¹⁴. Last but not least, inflammation takes place due to dving cells and debris. Inflammation in ischemic stroke is mainly mediated by the activation of innate immunity in the CNS¹⁵, which will be described in detail in the **Innate immunity** section. Meanwhile, inflammatory molecules released in response to cerebral ischemia disrupt the blood-brain barrier. This allows for the infiltration of myeloid cells and lymphocytes into the brain, which then participate in the pathological alterations^{16,17}. Understanding the role of inflammation behind ischemic stroke may reveal essential targets for the development of an effective treatment.

Alzheimer's disease

Dementia is characterized by symptoms including memory loss, language disability and cognitive impairment. It has been considered by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a public health priority. Dementia encompasses various neurological disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), vascular dementia, dementia with Lewy bodies and frontotemporal dementia. In 2015, 46.8 million people globally were estimated to suffer from dementia, and the numbers were calculated to reach 74.7 million by 2030 and 152 million by 2050^{1,18}. The economic burden of dementia was estimated to reach one trillion US dollars by 2018 and is expected to double by 2030¹⁸.

Alzheimer's disease was first reported in 1906 by Alois Alzheimer at a meeting in Tübingen, Germany. The symptoms and analysis were noted for his patient Auguste Deter who displayed, as known today, histological AD features: the substantial loss of neurons and the appearance of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (Figure 1)¹⁹. At that time, nobody realized the importance of this discovery. However, Alzheimer continued studying his observations and published the findings in 1911, which initiated the first of now numerous studies and publications on one of the most pressing diseases in modern times.

AD is the most common cause of dementia, accounting for 60–80% of cases²⁰. The primary risk factor for AD is ageing. The number of AD patients is expected to grow exponentially worldwide due to longer life expectancy and population ageing. Patients with AD present with memory decline that gradually worsens, followed by other motor deficits, emotional disturbances and sleeping disorders²¹. These

symptoms affect patients' daily life to a large degree and, by extension, their family members since the main burden of caring for AD patients is often carried by families rather than healthcare systems, especially in low-income and lower-middle-income countries²⁰. AD has become one of the leading causes of disability and death for the elderly²².

Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease

The number of AD patients is estimated to increase by more than 5 million cases each year²¹. The prevalence of AD is around 0.5 % in the population aged 65-69 years old, which then increase to 12-fold higher in the elderly aged 85 years old and older²³, as age is the predominant risk factor for AD. In other words, the incidence of AD increases significantly with age, and the pattern is the same across different ethnicities ^{24–26}. The progression of the disease usually takes between 8 to 10 years ranging from the second to twenty-fifth year after diagnosis²⁷. Moreover, gender is another risk factor for developing AD. Epidemiological studies have revealed that women have a double likelihood of developing AD than men^{1,28}. This is not simply due to the longer life span of women, but also other factors, such as hormone effects and the different cellular functions of microglia in women compared to men^{28–31}.

There are two forms of AD according to the age of onset. The majority of AD patients develop the disease after the age of 65 years, and these cases are considered as late-onset AD. However, 1-6% of AD patients present with the disease at an age younger than 65 years old, so-called early-onset AD. Nearly 60% of early-onset AD cases have a family history of AD, and 13% of familial cases are caused by autosomal mutations³². These cases due to autosomal mutations are classified as familial AD, which constitutes only 5% of all AD cases³³. The other 95% of AD patients are diagnosed with sporadic AD, which has a late-onset and appears to be a multifaceted disease involving a combination of multiple susceptibility genetic factors and environmental risk factors³⁴.

Pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease

One hundred years after the discovery of the disease, the pathogenesis of AD is still not clear. The two main pathological hallmarks of AD are amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT)^{35–37}, illustrated in Figure 1. Amyloid plaques are primarily comprised of amyloid- β (A β) and are retained in the extracellular space^{38,39}. A β is derived from the cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) by secretases. APP is located on chromosome 21 and appears to be a transmembrane protein in many tissues but is heavily expressed in neurons^{40–42}. Several important functions modulated by APP include neural plasticity and synapse formation^{43,44}. APP and its proteolytic product, A β , have also been reported to translocate into mitochondria, causing dysregulation of cellular bioenergetics^{45,46}. There are three different secretases involved in the metabolism of APP: α -secretase, β -secretase and γ -secretase ⁴⁷. APP is firstly cleaved either by α -secretase or β -secretase and then mediated by γ -secretase ⁴⁸. Evidence shows that BACE1 but not BACE2 is the major β -secretase for producing A β peptides in neurons⁴⁹. Soluble APP β , AICD and different isoforms of A β , mainly A β 40 and A β 42, are generated⁵⁰. A β 40 is the most dominant form of A β in humans, while A β 42 is less abundant and more prone to aggregate as oligomers and fibrils^{50,51}. Therefore, the ratio of A β 40 to A β 42 is critical in AD. The production of A β is a normal physiological process, but the function of it remains elusive. A β 42 is a fundamental molecular blocks, building up into amyloid deposits in the brain under the time course of AD^{52,53}.





The two main pathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease (AD) are amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles. These features also activate microglia surrounding them. AD patients also have brain atrophy with enlarged ventricles and shrinkage of hippocampus (created with BioRender.com).

Another hallmark of AD is intracellular deposition of NFT in neurons, formed by hyperphosphorylated tau protein^{54,55}. Tau is a microtubule-associated protein and genetically located on chromosome 17^{56,57}. It is found almost exclusively in neurons and plays a critical role in the stabilization of microtubules in neuronal axons and is involved in axonal transport. During the development of AD, tau dissociates from microtubules, leading to the translocation of tau from the axon to other cellular compartments and causing an abundance of unbound tau in the cytosol⁵⁷. Subsequently, aggregates of tau protein form and further build up into NFT as seen

in AD^{58,59}. The appearance of NFT seems to more thoroughly reflect the severity of the disease and is more closely linked with cognitive impairment than amyloid plaque deposition in the brain^{56,60}.

These two hallmarks are not unique to AD. A β plaques are found on the walls of cerebral blood vessels in patients with cerebral amyloid angiopathy⁶¹. NFT are also seen in other neurological disorders, such as frontotemporal dementia and Down syndrome (trisomy 21)^{40,62}. Nevertheless, a stereotypical pathology pattern was established for AD using positron emission tomography (PET) and post-mortem tissue in order to better distinguish AD from other disorders^{63,64}. It has been revealed that hyperphosphorylated tau aggregates are first present in the locus coeruleus and then spread out to the entorhinal cortex, subsequently developing in hippocampus and eventually in neocortex. In contrast, the distribution of A β plaques in AD progresses in the opposite direction, starting in neocortex and then progressing to allocortical, diencephalic and basal ganglial structures. The reasons why these two pathological features have different tracks of dissemination are not known completely. Moreover, post-mortem analyses suggest that there are limitations in the use of these two hallmarks for the identification of the disease in the population^{65,66}. Other potential factors also contribute to the clinical presence of AD.

Genetic risk factors

It is estimated that around 70% of the risk of developing AD can be attributed to genetics^{67,68}. Several mutations in genes of APP and subunits of γ -secretase, including presenilin-1 (PSEN1) and presenilin-2 (PSEN2), have been found to be directly linked with early-onset AD^{69-71} . The hallmarks in familial forms of AD are shared by some cases of sporadic AD, so studying these autosomal mutations are important for understanding the pathogenesis of AD, even though they only account for 1-5% of total AD cases⁷². Over 32 different APP variants have been identified in AD patients²⁷. It has been found that these mutations are located in or nearby either the APP transmembrane domain or secretase cleavage sites. Most of the pathogenic APP variants affect the processing of APP by increasing AB production and the ratio of A β 42 to A β 40²⁷. Furthermore, missense PSEN1 mutations are the most common cause of early-onset AD cases⁷³. Dysfunction of PSEN1 leads to the earliest appearance of AD at 30 years old. To date, more than 170 mutations in the PSEN1 gene were discovered at chromosome 14 in 400 families²⁷. The mutations in PSEN1 disrupt the proper function of γ -secretase, resulting in an increased ratio of A β 42 to A β 40⁷⁴. In comparison, mutations in PSEN2 are an infrequent cause of early-onset AD⁷⁵. It has been reported that the onset of AD related to PSEN2 may be attributed to other genetic or environmental factors⁷⁵. Overall, these mutations favor the amyloidogenic pathway of APP and increase AB deposition in the brain.

95% of AD cases appear to be sporadic and have a late-onset age, ranging from 60 to 65 years old. Late-onset AD is believed to be heterogeneous and influenced by various genes and environmental factors. The strongest genetic risk factor studied

so far for late-onset AD is apolipoprotein E (APOE), specifically the $\varepsilon 4$ allele^{76,77}. APOE has another two alleles, $\varepsilon 2$ and $\varepsilon 3$. $\varepsilon 3$ is the most common allele, occurring in 65-70% of the population, whereas $\varepsilon 2$ has the lowest frequency, around 5-10% of the population⁷⁸. However, there is a large variation in the distribution of these three alleles within different ethnic populations⁷⁹. APOE is known to be involved in the metabolism of cholesterol and triglycerides. $\varepsilon 2$ and $\varepsilon 3$ encoded isoforms favourably bind to high-density lipoproteins, while the $\varepsilon 4$ isoform (apoE4) preferentially binds to very low-density lipoproteins⁸⁰. Carriers of one allele of $\varepsilon 4$ have about three-times higher risk of developing AD^{80,81}. This risk significantly increases to about 12-fold if $\varepsilon 4$ comprises both alleles^{80,81}. In contrast, the $\varepsilon 2$ polymorphism decreases the risk of developing AD⁸².

Moreover, gender has been found to have a modifying effect on the risk of developing AD. Women who are $\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$ heterozygotes have double the risk of developing AD compared to those who are $\varepsilon 3$ homozygotes. However, men who are $\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$ heterozygotes have a similar risk of developing AD as men who are $\varepsilon 3$ homozygotes, which is a significantly reduced risk compared to men who are $\varepsilon 4$ homozygotes^{82–85}. Nonetheless, APOE $\varepsilon 4$ only contributes about 27% to the heritability of AD⁸⁶.

Researchers have made a great effort to identify other genetic risk factors using high-throughput genotyping and next-generation sequencing. Several genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have successfully pinpointed additional genes linked to AD. For example, variants found in triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) genes raised the risk of AD by $2.9\%^{87,88}$. However, these variants appeared to be population-specific as no correlation was observed in Chinese, Japanese or Iranian cohorts⁸⁹. The mechanism behind why the defects in TREM2 contribute to a higher risk of AD needs to be elucidated. TREM2 is highly expressed on the cellular surface of microglia. Animal experiments have demonstrated that phagocytosis is impaired when expression of TREM2 is abolished⁹⁰, and that deficiency of TREM2 induces a higher A β burden⁹¹⁻⁹³. Taken together, these findings implicate microglia and neuroinflammation as playing an important role in the pathogenesis of AD⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶.

Modifiable risk factors

AD progresses during a long preclinical period. This preclinical stage may last decades prior to diagnosis of the disease. During this long period, many factors have been assessed to answer the question of whether the onset of symptoms is associated with early-life or midlife exposures or exposures just before the onset of the disease. As a result, various modifiable risk factors have been identified for AD (summarized in Table 1).

Several studies have indicated there may be a relationship between vascular disease and cognitive decline and dementia^{97,98}. Emerging evidence shows that vascular risk

factors play important roles in the transformation from mild cognitive impairment (MCI) to $AD^{99,100}$. Particularly, cerebrovascular disease (CVD) has been suggested to have a stronger link to AD than the effect of ageing¹⁰¹, as CVD and AD share many risk factors, such as hypertension¹⁰², atrial fibrillation¹⁰³, atherosclerosis¹⁰⁴, obesity¹⁰⁵, type 2 diabetes¹⁰⁶ and APOE ε 4 genotype^{101,107}.

Tabel 1. Risk factors for Alzheimer's disease

Besides ageing, various genetic and modifiable risk factors have been identified for Alzheimer's disease.

Different types of risk factors		
Genetic factors	Genetic mutations related to APP, PSEN1, and PSEN2 genes, Tau, APOE ε4 ^{101,107} , Myeloid-related genes (e.g., CR1 ¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ , TREM2 ¹¹¹ , MS4A ¹¹⁰ , CD33 ¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ ,CLU ¹¹²), PICALM ¹¹³ , other susceptibility genes	
Comorbidity	Cerebrovascular disease ¹⁰² , Type 2 diabetes ¹¹⁴ , Atherosclerosis ¹⁰⁴ , Obesity ¹¹⁵ , Midlife hypertension ¹⁰² , and Atrial fibrillation ¹⁰²	
Lifestyle factors	Physical exercise ¹¹⁶ , Low educational attainment ^{117–119} , Heavy alcohol consumption ¹²⁰ , Depression ^{121,122} , Smoking ¹²³ , and High-fat diet ¹²⁴	
Other factos	Traumatic brain injury ^{125,126} , Epilepsy ¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ , Stress ¹³⁰ , Inadequate sleep ^{131,132} , and Infections ¹³³	

Other factors related to lifestyle have also been suggested to play a role in AD. These factors include physical exercise, education level, alcohol consumption, depression, smoking and diet. The potential to prevent AD through these modifiable risk factors would be huge but has not yet been well elucidated. Clinical studies suggest that physical activity could be neuroprotective for AD patients as it is associated with larger brain volume in hippocampus and increased cognitive reserves and neuroplasticity^{134,135}. Another factor that could promote cognitive preservation is education level. One study by Stern et al. showed that people with high educational attainment and high professional success had low incidence and a lower risk of developing AD^{117} . Moreover, it is under debate whether depression is a consequence of AD or a risk factor for the disease. However, recent clinical studies support the idea that depression had a higher $A\beta$ load and quicker conversion to AD than non-depressed MCI patients¹³⁶.

Several other factors may contribute to impairment in the brain. One is heavy alcohol intake, which induces a decline in cognitive performance¹²⁰ as well as loss of cholinergic neurons that may initiate AD development or worsen disease manifestation ^{137,138}. In contrast, mild to moderate alcohol consumption (1-2 drinks per day) has been reported to lower the risk for AD¹³⁹. Another risk factor is smoking since it has negative effect on CVD, which mentioned before, is a risk factor for AD. Several animal studies have demonstrated that nicotine can exacerbate AD pathology, including tau phosphorylation, neuroinflammation and amyloid pathology^{140–142}. In humans, populations with habits of both smoking and heavy alcohol drinking have a higher rate of AD incidence than populations with neither of these habits¹²³. Last but not least, a high-fat diet may increase the risk of AD by

increasing the risk of obesity and diabetes, which may facilitate cognitive impairment¹²⁴. Compelling evidence suggests that it is beneficial to have a balanced diet (e.g., Mediterranean diet) comprised of fruits, vegetables, fish and meat that is high in good fats (e.g., omega-3 fatty acid) and low in sugar^{143,144}. Sufficient intake of docosahexaenoic acid, vitamins B6, B12, C and E, and folate are crucial since these contribute to the synthesis of phospholipids, an important compound in neuronal membranes¹⁴⁴. It has been estimated that addressing a combination of seven modifiable risk factors would decrease AD cases around 10-20% every decade relative to the estimated trend for AD cases by 2050¹⁴⁵.

Alzheimer's disease hypothesis and therapy

While there is no effective treatment for AD, several important hypotheses have been proposed to provide potential pharmaceutical targets. The first drug approved for the treatment of AD was tacrine in 1995, developed based on the neurotransmitter hypothesis¹⁴⁶. This hypothesis is based on findings of significantly reduced activity of choline acetyltransferase in several brain regions in AD patients ¹⁴⁷. Lower activity of this enzyme results in lower amount of acetylcholine ^{148,149}. Thus, the inhibition of acetylcholinesterase was introduced as an AD treatment to decrease the degradation of acetylcholine^{150–152}. Newer generations of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors are widely used now for treating AD, such as donepezil which has fewer side effects and higher specificity^{153,154}. Still, this treatment only ameliorates the symptoms for a short period of time rather than stops the progression of AD^{155,156}.

Among all of the drugs tested in clinical trials, therapeutics that address the amyloid hypothesis are the most frequently tested, accounting for 22.3%¹⁵⁷. People with Down syndrome develop dementia with a similar appearance to AD, including memory loss and A β plaques¹⁵⁸. From this, it has been claimed that the causative genetic factor for AD is located on chromosome 21⁴⁰. The amyloid cascade hypothesis was first proposed in 1992, supported by evidence from familial forms of AD, which are AD cases with an autosomal dominant mutation in APP, PSEN1 or PSEN2¹⁵⁹. This hypothesis states that the formation of A β plaques causes neuronal loss and dysfunction, leading to the formation of NFTs, activation of microglia and development of neurodegeneration¹⁵⁹. However, a great number of findings question this hypothesis as the main event in AD pathogenesis. One piece of evidence is that the same number of amyloid plaques can be observed in postmortem brain samples from people who died without cognitive impairment as from patients with sporadic AD^{160,161}. It is consistent with findings from PET scan studies that show that many people have significant amyloid plaque load without any symptoms of memory deficits 160,162,163 . Another finding shows that A β deposition is not associated with neuronal loss and cognitive decline^{164–166}. Although several anti-Aβ antibodies (solanezumab from Eli Lilly, gantenerumab and crenezumab from Roche/Genentech and aducanumab from Biogen Idec) have been developed to

reduce the A β burden, none of them have successfully made it through clinical trials^{167–170}. This suggests that it is better to consider A β as a pathological feature instead of as a key consequence of the disease.

Conversely, tau pathology correlates better with memory decline and severity of AD than A β does in PET and CSF analyses^{171–173}. Since tau phosphorylation causes destabilization of microtubules and promotes NFT formation, this would eventually trigger neuronal loss and synaptic damage^{165,174}. Neuropathological studies show that tau pathology can be found about 10 years before the formation of A β plaques¹⁷⁵. Hence, the tau hypothesis postulates that tau pathology increases the production of A β and is the central cause of neurodegeneration in sporadic AD. However, most of the drugs and treatments developed in response that have aimed at preventing tau aggregation and phosphorylation failed in clinical trials^{176–178}. There are still several treatments undergoing clinical trials, such as a tau aggregation inhibitor (TRx0237 from TauRx Therapeutics)¹⁷⁹ and a vaccine targeting hyperphosphorylated tau ACI-35 (AC immune/Janssen)¹⁸⁰ and AADvac1 (Axon Neuroscience SE)¹⁸¹.

AD is a multifaceted disease that is difficult to model simply. Another important factor in AD that has been established is the role of microglia, which will be introduced in the second part of the introduction. Moreover, various genetic and environmental factors in combination could drive the development of the disease. More studies are required to understand the fundamental rules of AD. Nevertheless, combinations of different treatments, perhaps, may be the best therapy for AD patients.

Innate immunity

The immune system

The immune system was developed to maintain homeostasis and protect the body from a wide range of invaders and stimuli, such as bacteria, viruses, parasites as well as cancer cells and traumatic shock. The immune response is well orchestrated and conducted mainly by two different components, innate immunity and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity, involving monocytes, macrophages, and natural killer (NK) cells, primitively provides immediate response to pathogens and functions as the first line of defense. However, the adaptive immune system reacts more slowly and is regulated more specifically by lymphocytes and antibody release. Moreover, the adaptive immune system also mounts a stronger immune response and retains a memory signature of the antigen from pathogens. When inflammation occurs in the periphery, the two components work cooperatively to solve the problem. However, there are substantial differences when it comes to the inflammatory response in the CNS.
Firstly, I will focus mainly on innate immunity in my thesis as the studies I present here have investigated the role of microglia in different aspects, including extracellular vesicles in Paper I and anti- and pro-inflammatory function in Paper II, III and IV. Secondly, I would like to introduce monocytes as a way to understand the function of systemic inflammation in the periphery on the progression of AD (Paper III and IV). Last but not least, the concept of innate immunity memory will be discussed to better explain the results from the studies (Paper III and IV).

Neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation is described as an inflammatory response in the brain or spinal cord. As it is one of the major pathological features that starts to appear in the brain during the progression of AD, inflammation in CNS will be addressed in this section. The central cellular components involved in CNS neuroinflammation are resident glia, including microglia and astrocytes, endothelial cells and peripheral immune cells¹⁸². These diverse cells can release cytokines, chemokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and secondary messengers (such as prostaglandins) in response to inflammation¹⁸³.

The brain was previously considered to be an immune-privileged place. However, emerging evidence shows, in fact, that the CNS takes advantages not only of resident immune cells, but also of the cross-talk with the systemic immune system^{184–187}. Due to the complexity of neuroinflammation, it is difficult to identify the causes and consequences of it. The consequences of an inflammatory response depend very much on the context, time and cause of the initial insult. On one hand, inflammation can be beneficial as it stimulates phagocytosis of dysfunctional cells and aggregated misfolded proteins (e.g., Aß and NFTs)¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹⁰. Meanwhile, the systemic immune system is also involved in the mitigation of CNS inflammation. For instance, T cells and monocytes are recruited to eliminate cytotoxicity in the $CNS^{191-193}$. On the other hand, overactivation of the immune system can trigger the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as nitric oxide (NO), tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a and superoxide, leading to cerebrovascular lesions and neuronal death or damage¹⁹⁴⁻¹⁹⁷. Neuroinflammation is associated with the pathology and disease progression of AD in various ways. Common inflammatory responses are observed in different neurodegenerative diseases (e.g., AD, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, multiple sclerosis (MS) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)), but each disease also has its particular inflammatory response that contributes to the pathology¹⁹⁸.

Microglia

Microglia, the resident immune cells in the CNS, are believed to be key players in neuroinflammation as well as maintenance of homeostasis. Microglia were first identified as the third element, together with oligodendrocytes in the CNS by Santiago Ramón y Cajal in 1913. It was not until 1919 when a Spanish scientist, Pío Del Río-Hortega, named this cell type in the brain parenchyma "microglia" ¹⁹⁹.

Around 10% of the cells in the brain are microglia, with variable density across different brain regions²⁰⁰. Recently, convincing findings have indicated that microglia are differentiated erythromyeloid progenitors (EMPs) that have migrated from the yolk sac in the embryonic stage^{201,202}. These precursors have also been seen giving rise to progenitors in bone marrow, which later become macrophages in the periphery. Therefore, the ontogeny of microglia is distinct from monocytes in the periphery (Figure 2). Under normal conditions, the pool of microglia in CNS is minimally comprised of bone marrow-derived monocytes, and the self-renewal of microglia has been demonstrated to have as low as an average turnover rate of 28% each year²⁰³. The transcription factor PU.1 and macrophage colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF1R) signaling are curial for myeloid-lineage manipulation and microglial survival^{204,205}. Several other environmental factors, such as CSF1, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) and interleukin (IL)-34, are involved in furthering the maturation of microglia^{201,206}.



Figure 2 Development of microglia and monocytes from periphry

Microglia are differentiated erythromyeloid progenitors (EMPs) that have migrated from the yolk sac in the embryonic stage. Several transcription factors are important for microglia migration and survival, including PU.1 and IRF-8 for migration, CSF1, TGF- β , and IL-34 for survival (created with BioRender.com).

With advances in live imaging tools, the historical view of microglia has changed from static bystanders with a minimal homeostatic occupation in the CNS to a more complex and active role. In fact, under normal physiological conditions, microglia are constantly surveying and monitoring brain activity by expanding and withdrawing their highly dynamic processes^{207,208}. The highly dynamic actions of microglia are essential components of normal brain function and tissue integrity. For instance, microglia are able to shape presynaptic and postsynaptic structures^{209–211}, phagocytose cell debris²¹², produce a wide range of soluble factors in response to different stimuli^{213,214} and travel towards injured areas for repair²¹⁵. In addition, increasing evidence has provided insight into microglial function in learning and memory formation^{216,217}. Moreover, as microglial precursors come to the brain at the same timepoint when neurons appear before the presence of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, microglia participate in many developmental events in the CNS. These roles include supporting and regulating neurogenesis at the postnatal stage^{218,219}, promoting neuronal death^{220,221}, pruning synapses through the complement system^{222–224} and developing neural circuits^{225–228}.

In order to fully carry out these crucial functions and more, numerous receptors are expressed on microglia. Bidirectional communication between microglia and neurons is delicately modulated by the CX3C chemokine ligand 1 (CX3CL1)-CX3C chemokine receptor 1 (CX3CR1) and Cluster of differentiation (CD) 200-CD200 receptor signaling pathways^{229,230}. These two receptors, CX3CR1 and CD200R, are critical to sustain the microglia population. Current animal experiments show that microglia are more active in anesthetized mice. It has been further illustrated that neuronal activity during wakefulness controls suppression of microglia surveillance through norepinephrine signaling^{231,232}.

As microglia are key members of the innate immune system in CNS, they have a wide range of receptors called pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) that can quickly recognize and bind soluble pathological molecules. These signals are either sterile stimuli (e.g., protein aggregates) or danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) from an internal tissue insult. Extensive studies have indicated that fibrillar A β in AD is one of the DAMPs that can activate microglia. However, dying neurons also release DAMPs, such as ATP²³³, high mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1) and lysophosphatidylcholine^{234,235}. Moreover, microglia can directly detect pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) from external invading pathogens via PRRs. Well-known examples of PRRs in infection and neurodegeneration are Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and inflammasomes.

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a molecule from gram-negative bacteria that binds to TLR4, leading to the recruitment of the adaptor protein MyD88 and the activation the downstream cascades²³⁶. The cascades then initiate nuclear translocation of transcription factors, including nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) and members of the interferon regulatory factor (IRFs) family, and induce proinflammatory cytokines²³⁶. LPS is also used as a standard method to induce infection or neuronal

degeneration in animals to mimic severe neuroinflammatory conditions that occur in neurological disorders²³⁷. Previous studies from our laboratory have demonstrated that galectin-3, a member of the β -galactosidase binding protein family, also acts as a ligand to TLR4 and negatively correlates with A β deposition in mice^{238,239}. Inflammasomes are another important sensor in innate immunity that regulate the activation of caspase-1 and production of IL-1 β and IL-18. Several studies from the Heneka group have also suggested there may be an association between the inflammasome and A β pathology^{240–242}.

New way to communicate: extracellular vesicles

While signaling typically occurs via autocrine, paracrine, and endocrine processes, extracellular vesicles (EVs) have recently been proposed to be a non-canonical pathway to transport signals between cells²⁴³. EVs were first reported as a way for cells to get rid themselves of unwanted components²⁴⁴. Besides particular secretory cells, which transport neurotransmitters and hormones, many types of cells are able to release EVs, ranging from bacteria to plants and humans^{245–247}. EVs are highly diverse in terms of size, content and function. Based on how they are generated, EVs are generally divided into two categories: exosomes and microvesicles. Exosomes are intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) generated by the fusion of multivesicular body (MVB) with the plasma membrane^{248,249}. The biogenesis and secretion of EVs are demonstrated briefly in Figure 3. Exosomes about 50-150 nm in diameter have primarily been found to be released by reticulocytes²⁴⁴, B cells²⁵⁰ and dendritic cells⁷⁰. Currently, the ability to release exosomes has been found in different types of cells²⁵¹, and the role of exosomes under normal and disease conditions increasingly draws attention in the cell-cell communication field.

Microvesicles were previously defined as platelet dust as they were discovered in the plasma and sera from healthy individuals²⁵². Subsequently, a process called ectocytosis was characterized in activated neutrophils that secreted vesicles composed of plasma membrane. Microvesicles are derived directly from the outward budding of the plasma membrane²⁵³. The size of microvesicles is normally from 100 nm to 1000 nm in diameter. However, tumor cells can secrete much larger vesicles (maximum to 10 μ m). Microvesicles have been extensively studied for their functions in blood coagulation^{254,255}. Recently, several studies have investigated the role of microvesicles in the cross-talk between different cells under pathological situations, such as cancer²⁵⁶ and neurogenerative diseases^{257,258}.





Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are divided into two categories: exosomes (50-150 nm in diameter) and microvesicles (100-1000 nm in diameter). Exosomes are intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) generated by the fusion of multivesicular body (MVB) with the plasma membrane. Microvesicles are derived directly from the outward budding of the plasma membrane. They appear to have similar compositions and overlapping sizes that make it difficult to know their origin after they have been isolated. The contents of EVs vary and can include proteins, RNA, DNA and lipids, which help determine the recipients of EVs. Alix, ALG-2 interacting protein X; HSP, heat shock protein; TSG101, tumor susceptibility gene 101 protein; transmembrane form of TNF; solTNF, soluble form of TNF; MHC, major histocompatibility complex (created with BioRender.com).

The formation of exosomes and microvesicles is similar as they share intracellular sorting machineries and even budding sites (Figure 3). Therefore, it is sometimes difficult to differentiate the two subpopulations of EVs. The mechanisms underlying exosome biogenesis have been well studied with the discovery of the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT)²⁵⁹. However, exosomes can also be generated in an ESCRT-independent manner^{260,261}. In contrast, the regulatory pathways involved in the biogenesis of microvesicles are still under investigation. Once EVs are released into the extracellular space, they can travel to their recipient and deliver their cargo, initiating changes within the recipient. There are several ways EVs can bind to target cells. One is through recognition by cellular receptors in order to dock at the plasma membrane. Others are fusion with the target cell or internalization by endocytosis. These processes are strictly modulated and complex and seem to be target- and origin-specific²⁶².

The contents of EVs vary and can include proteins, RNA, DNA and lipids, which can help determine the recipients of EVs. One study showed that a subpopulation of exosomes carrying APP bound specifically to neurons rather than glia²⁶³. As microglia are the key players in neuroinflammation, microglia-derived EVs have attracted growing interest. Microglia-derived EVs have also been found in

significantly high levels in plasma from patients with MCI and AD²⁶⁴. These EVs have been demonstrated to promote neurotoxicity by increasing soluble A β species²⁶⁴. Moreover, several microRNAs, such as let-7g-5p, miR126-3p, miR142-3p and miR146a-5p, have been found in EVs and their levels are associated with the severity of AD²⁶⁵. This goes hand-in-hand with other evidence showing a role of EVs in the regulation of inflammation and propagation of neurological diseases such as AD and PD²⁶⁶. Taken together, microglia-derived EVs seems to play a critical role in the promotion and spread of pathogenesis. However, the crucial role of EVs has been underestimated. In addition, several clinical trials using EVs to deliver drugs are ongoing ²⁶⁷. More knowledge on EVs may shed light on possible therapeutic approaches for early disease intervention and disease diagnosis.

The heterogeneity of microglia: beyond the M1 and M2 classification

Microglia transform when they become activated. The morphology of microglia shifts from a ramified shape to a more ameboid form. The phenotype changes as a result of signaling pathways. To better understand the different states of microglia, a classification of microglia (M1 and M2) was proposed according to peripheral macrophage studies²⁶⁸. M1 refers to the pro-inflammatory profile, and M2 is defined by anti-inflammatory activation²⁶⁹. The M1 phenotype induces neurotoxicity by releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1, TNF-α and IL-6) and ROS^{270,271}. Upregulation of major histocompatibility class (MHC) II, CD86 and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) can be seen in M1 microglia 272 . In contrast, the M2 profile is considered neuroprotective due to the production of neurotrophic factors, such as insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and anti-inflammatory cvtokines, such as IL-10^{271,273}. Other markers, such as arginase 1 and Ym1, are used to characterize the M2 microglia population $^{274-276}$. It also has been shown that these microglia are more capable of phagocytosising²⁶⁹. Due to the simplicity of the model, it is believed that the categories of M1 and M2 are insufficient for reflecting the plasticity and dynamics of microglia in CNS²⁷⁷.

An increasing body of studies analyzing transcriptomic and proteomic profiles have revealed conserved transcriptional signatures from microglia between different species as well as considerable heterogeneity in an area- and disease stage-specific manner^{278–280}. Bulk analysis of microglia in the CNS has indicated a higher expression of F4/80 in microglia from cerebellum²⁰⁰, and various CD68 expression levels have been reported in the brains of rodents and humans^{281–283}. Moreover, TNF-encoding TNF- α and CD32 were highly enriched in the hippocampus²⁸⁴, and microglia localized in white matter exhibited higher expression of ubiquitin specific peptidase 18 than cortical microglia²⁸⁵. Recent comprehensive single-cell sequencing has provided deeper insight into the transcriptional landscape of microglia during development and progression of diseases. For example, a distinct subpopulation of microglia was identified in murine embryonic brain that upregulated membrane-spanning 4-domains subfamily A (MS4A) family proteins, which had been known to be expressed by CNS-associated macrophages (CAMs)²⁸⁶. CAMs are resident in the interfaces between brain parenchyma and periphery, such as the perivascular space, meninges and choroid plexus^{287,288}. However, the function of this subset of microglia remains to be elucidated. Interestingly, a unique subset of microglia was characterized with elevated levels of C-Type Lectin Domain Containing 7A

(CLEC7A), secreted Phosphoprotein 1 (SPP1), LGALS3 (encoding galectin-3) and IGF-1 in early postnatal brain but then disappeared during adulthood^{280,289,290}. This subpopulation shares a large similarity with disease-associated microglia (DAM) and microglia neurodegenerative phenotype (MGnD) found in animal models of AD, ALS and MS^{291,292}.

Specific cluster of microglia in neurological disorders

Activation of microglia under pathology, the homeostatic microglia enriched with transmembrane protein (TMEM)119, purinergic receptor P2Y (P2RY12) and hexosaminidase subunit β (HEXB) are disturbed^{286,293,294}. DAM carry the signature of high expression levels of lipoprotein lipase (LPL), complement component 3 receptor 4 subunit (ITGAX (CD11c)), APOE, CD63, CD9 and CLEC7A combined with lower expression levels of homeostatic genes (Figure 4)^{291,292}. DAM have antiand pro-inflammatory phenotypes regulated by different genes (see Figure 4)²⁹⁵. Additionally, DAM have been histologically localized around AB plaques in AD patients²⁹¹. Furthermore, the APOE-TREM2 signaling cascade has been suggested to drive the presentation of DAM^{91,292,296}. In addition, DAM have also been shown to exist in different mouse models with demvelination. However, the features of DAM in different models are diverse^{280,286}. Some models may involve the recruitment of peripheral cells while others may not. This may be explained by microglial alteration of phenotype in a context-dependent manner. In a mouse model involving systemic infection with LPS, microglia show a unique profile with reduced expression of TREM2, transmembrane immune signaling adaptor (TYROBP), gene of cathepsin D (CTSD) and hypoxia-inducible factor 1

(HIF1)- α , which is the opposite in DAM²⁹⁷. These findings suggest that the phenotypic profiles of microglia are dependent on inflammatory environment. Taken together, microglia respond specifically to various environmental stimuli. To determine whether the various phenotypes of microglia are beneficial or detrimental to pathogenesis still requires clarification.



Figure 4 Modulation of disease-associated microglia (DAM) between phenotypes

DAM have anti- (green) and pro-inflammatory (orange) phenotypes regulated by different genes. The consequences of microglial activation are proposed as the balance of these two phenotypes. DAM, disease-associated microglia (created with BioRender.com).

Monocytes

Similar to microglia in CNS, the key player in innate immunity in the periphery is monocytes. Monocytes are derived from a common myeloid progenitor (CMP) and settle down in the bone marrow (BM), where CMPs also give rise to erythrocytes, platelets, dendritic cells and granulocytes²⁹⁸. From CMPs, monocytes emerge from a unipotent common monocyte progenitor (cMoP), which express Ly6C in mice and CD14 in humans (Figure 2) ^{298–300}. cMoPs have a high rate of proliferation and temporally express C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) within BM³⁰⁰. After 24 hours, CXCR4+ pre-monocytes further differentiate into CXCR4⁻ Ly6C^{Hi} monocytes, which then enter into the peripheral blood by C-C motif chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2) regulation (Figure 2)³⁰¹. However, the function of CCR2 in

emigration of monocytes is unknown in humans. Bone marrow is thought to be the *bona fide* reservoir for monocyte generation in adulthood. However, the spleen has also been found to be a great reservoir for monocytic precursors ²⁹⁸. Circulating monocytes, accounting for 5-10% of leukocytes in humans and about 4% in mice, can further differentiate into macrophage and dendritic cells³⁰². After travelling to tissue, monocytes differentiate into tissue-specific macrophages for replenishing the population in tissue-specific niches or in response to insults. Studies using antibodies specific for different surface receptors and antigens have elucidated a substantial heterogeneity of monocytes, which possibly reflects cellular responses specific to their microenvironments.

Under normal conditions, monocytes have little to no engraftment in the CNS due to intact blood-brain-barrier (BBB)^{201,303}. Under pathological conditions, such as AD and sepsis (overwhelming systemic infection), monocytes can be recruited into the CNS with other lymphocytes as the integrity of the BBB is disrupted and permeabilized (see Figure 5) $^{304-306}$. The participation of monocytes in AD cannot be neglected as there is clear evidence from patient studies and preclinical data from animal experiments. In AD patients, circulating monocytes were found to have shorter telomeres in an age-dependent manner³⁰⁷. Another analysis identified a negative correlation involving the ratio of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-3/CD14 in peripheral-blood monocytes isolated from MCI and AD patients. In an AD animal model, circulating monocytes were observed by in vivo imaging clearing up the A β in veins but not in arteries³⁰⁸. The role of monocytes in the clearance of AB in CNS is controversial as recent evidence showed that resident microglia are the only immune cells around plaques with no contribution from peripheral monocytes³⁰⁹. In contrast, a study reported that CCR2-deficient mice developed AD earlier due to a lack of monocyte infiltration into CNS¹⁹¹. Moreover, another research group demonstrated that monocyte-derived microglia have a higher capability to phagocytose A β than resident microglia in the CNS³¹⁰. Besides the role of phagocytosis to sustain homeostasis, monocytes also release different cytokines and inflammatory mediators to initiate inflammation and recruit other cells. These findings highlight the multifaceted role of monocytes, which are not simply precursors, but also give rise to macrophages in tissue and perform specific functions under different circumstances. Furthermore, monocytes are also considered a potential target for AD diagnosis and treatment.



Figure 5 Infiltration of peripheral monocyte into central nervous system under Alzherimer's disease Ly6C^{high} Monocytes from bone marrow give rise to Ly6C^{low} monocytes remaining inside the bone marrow. Under the pathology of Alzheimer's disease (AD), Ly6C^{high} monocytes enter the peripheral blood by regulation of CCR2. Ly6C^{high} CCR2⁺ monocytes in the veins can phagocytose soluble amyloid-β in the blood. Subsequently, Ly6C^{high} CCR2⁺ monocytes infiltrate the central nervous system (CNS) as the integrity of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is disrupted and permeabilized. The role of these infiltrating monocytes is still under debate (created with BioRender.com).

Innate immunity memory

Increasing evidence has indicated that immunological memory or trained immunity is no longer a trait exclusive to the adaptive immune system, but it is also exhibited by myeloid cells of the innate immune system, such as monocytes, macrophages, and nature killer cells^{311,312}. The concept of trained immunity in the innate immune system is defined as an enhanced immune response to protect the host from pathogens after vaccination or infection, which is modulated by metabolic, epigenetic and transcriptional alterations of specific innate cell populations rather than antibodies and lymphocytes. The first evidence of this was found in plants as a phenomenon denoted as systemic acquired resistance³¹³. Following this, more evidence suggested that trained immunity can occur in invertebrate animals as well^{314–316}. These findings lead to the question of whether a similar process can take

place in vertebrates. Consequently, researchers revealed that mice primed with microbial ligands of PRRs were spared from lethal inflammatory reactions from the second exposure of infection^{317,318}. The central regulatory element in innate immunity is epigenetic reprogramming³¹¹.

Microglia are the main component of innate immunity in the CNS. They are the first line of defense once pathological signs occur. Emerging evidence shows that microglia are able to be primed and attain innate memory, but the reported consequences are conflicting. Two groups demonstrated that a low dose of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) by intracerebral administration alleviated AD pathology ^{319,320}. However, other studies found overactivated microglia, elevated neuronal loss and impaired cognition in AD transgenic mice after systemic or intracerebral infection^{321,322}. Recently, consecutive challenges with LPS in the periphery have been found to mitigate the pathology ³²³. Taken together, the innate immunity in CNS can be modified by stimuli, provoking different consequences that strongly depend on the concentration of the stimulus, timepoint of intervention and duration after the intervention. Innate immune memory may be exploitable and has great potential in the design of a therapeutic intervention for AD.

To conclude, several variants in genes, such as complement C3b/C4b receptor 1 (CR1)¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰, TREM2¹¹¹, MS4A¹¹⁰, phospholipase C gamma 2 (PLCG2)³²⁴ and bridging integrator 1 (BIN1)¹¹⁰, expressed in myeloid cells can raise the risk of developing AD as revealed by recent GWAS studies. This highlights the essential role of microglia and monocytes during the progression of AD, and the dysfunction of myeloid cells can help determine the ultimate consequence of the disease. The response of the innate immune system in AD is complex and is hard to label as just detrimental or beneficial. Taken together, increasing knowledge of the innate immune system in AD provides a novel direction for further understanding and preventing the disease.

Rationale

When I started my PhD education in 2015, neuroinflammation was suggested as an important component underlying the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD). However, it was under debate whether the neuroinflammation is a causative factor in or a the consequence of the diseases.

The multifaceted roles of microglia under pathological conditions is implicated by several studies. However many other aspects have not been well studied. One of them is how microglia contribute to the pathology. Thus, we performed these four studies in this thesis to investigate how microglia communicate with other cells through extracellular vesicles and how microglia cross-talk with the periphery under AD pathology.

Moreover, microglia are commonly characterized into the 'M1' and 'M2' phenotypes used for peripheral macrophage identification. Ambiguous markers between monocytes and microglia impede understanding of the different roles of innate immunity in AD. Therefore, another aim of my thesis was to better characterize microglia and monocytes under different conditions.

The findings of this thesis could provide potential candidates for early diagnostics and pharmacological targets to prevent the progression of AD. As several antineuroinflammatory drugs have failed in the clinical trials, these studies will also help with finding a suitable time window for the intervention in AD.

Aims

The aims are listed below for each study:

To investigate the inflammatory response of microglia.

• Paper I:

To investigate the effects of inflammation on extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from microglia.

• Paper II:

To elucidate early alterations in the innate immune response of the microglia in the 5xFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease.

To investigate the potential approaches to modulate innate immunity.

• Paper III:

To clarify how acute inflammation in the periphery at the pre-plaque stage could lead to the long-term effects on innate immunity in the brains of 5xFAD mice.

• Paper IV:

To investigate the long-term effects of acute inflammation at the postnatal stage on amyloid- β pathology and the heterogeneity of microglia and bone marrow resident monocytes.

Methods

Here, I will to summarize the methodologies applied in my studies. I also want to discuss the considerations and importance of why we chose these particular methods. Detailed descriptions of the different methods are provided in the materials and methods part of each paper.

Cell culture and treatment

Cell culture (Paper I)

Cell lines are less time-consuming, labor-intensive and cheaper models compared to primary cultures. There are many microglia cell lines available, such as HAPI from rats, BV2 and N9 from mice and HMC3 from human. BV2 cells express similar surface markers as primary microglia, including ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 (IBA1) and CD11b³²⁵. Several studies have shown that several proinflammatory cytokines are released by BV2 cells with stimulation of LPS³²⁵. Increased phagocytosis was also demonstrated in BV2 microglia after treatment with A β (1-42) fibrils³²⁶. BV2 microglia have many similarities to primary microglia³²⁷. Furthermore, proinflammatory profiles have been well established in our laboratory using LPS stimulus. We have examined the inflammatory effects of LPS at different time points (3, 6,12 and 24 h). We found that the expression level of iNOS peaked at 12 h and declined by 24 h using western blot. Thus, we utilized BV2 cells for studying inflammatory activation. This was done by treating with 1 ug / ml LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, Colony 0127-B8) for 12 h and then changing to serumfree media for 12 h to collect EVs released due to inflammatory activation. It is important to note that the BV2 cell line was developed by introducing oncogenes into mouse microglia that allow them to proliferate at a higher rate and to have an exaggerated reaction when stimulated. Therefore, we limited the passage number to 20 for all experiments to avoid confounding results. Nevertheless, the findings from the cell line study should be carefully conducted and validated in vivo.

Extracellular vesicle isolation procedure (Paper I)

A traditional method, centrifugation, was used to isolate EVs. Conditioned media was collected from cell cultures and subjected to a series of low-speed centrifugation steps ($500 \times g$ for 10 min, $2000 \times g$ for 10 min, and $10,000 \times g$ for 30 min) at 4 °C to remove cells and cellular debris. The supernatant was then spun down with ultracentrifugation at $100,000 \times g$ for 70 min. Compared to using kits from companies, isolation by centrifugation takes a longer time but is a less irritable process. EVs isolated this way contain natively expressed proteins and are usable for further proteomic analysis. The biggest drawback of this method that I suffered from the most is the low yield and recovery of EVs. The recovery was calculated, ranging from 5% to 20% with large variations within the same batch. To harvest enough samples to run the following experiment, I had to culture BV2 cells in T175 flasks instead of T75 flasks.

Measurement of extracellular vesicle size by nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) (Paper I)

The size and total number of EVs were measured using a NanoSight LM10 (Malvern, UK) that could do Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA). This technology is based on Brownian motion together with light scattering properties, and the size distribution and concentration of EVs samples can be obtained. It is an excellent and efficient method. However, the limitation is that it is not sensitive enough to detect particles smaller than 100 nm and larger than 600 nm. Thus, there is a possibility that some subpopulations of vesicles may not be present or accurately measured.

Animal models

TNF knockout mice (Paper I)

Adult male C57/BL6 mice (between 7 and 8 weeks of age, n = 20) (Taconic Ltd. Ry, Denmark) and TNF knockout (TNF-KO) breeding couples (The Jackson Laboratory) were transferred to the Laboratory of Biomedicine, University of Southern Denmark. This animal experiment followed the relevant guidelines and regulations approved by the Danish Animal Ethical Committee (numbers 2011/561-1950 and 2013-15-2934-00924). This was a collaboration with a Danish group to further study the role of TNF in EVs trafficking *in vivo*. It was a great opportunity for us to validate our *in vitro* results in animals.

5xFAD mice (Paper II, III, and IV)

Transgenic 5xFAD mice on a C57/BL6-SJL background (The Jackson Laboratory) were used to study the pathology of AD. These mice carry human APP and PSEN1 with three mutations in the human APP transgene (the Swedish mutation, K670N/M671L; the Florida mutation, V716V; and the London mutation, V717I) and two mutations in the human PSEN1 transgene (M146L/L286V). These mutations are related to familial forms of AD. Animal housing, handling and experiments were approved by the Malmö/Lund animal ethics committee (M30-16, Dnr5.8.18-01107/2018).

This model is one of several human APP and PSEN1 double-mutant (APP+PSEN1) mouse models. The mice express intracellular A β 42 at 1.5 months old, display amyloid plaques by 2 months, and develop cognitive deficits earlier than other APP+PSEN1 models at around 4 months³²⁸. Neuronal loss and synaptic dysfunction can also be found by 4 months³²⁹. This is a rather more aggressive AD mouse model compared to the APP+PSEN1and 2xKI AD mouse models. We chose this model due to early activation of microgliosis as well as early cognitive impairment and late motor dysfunction, which can be detected at 9 months of age^{326,330}. This model allowed us to evaluate the effects of systemic infection not only on microglial activation, but also on A β deposition and cognition in the CNS at 6 months of age, which was done in **Paper III and IV**.

However, one big drawback to this model is the lack of Tau pathology, another hallmark of AD, suggesting limitations in our reflections of the complications of the disease and in our results which may be less clinically relevant. Another disadvantage is the overwhelming A β expression, which may produce some artifacts not linked to AD pathology in humans. Here, we have considered both sides of using this mouse model. Overall, the 5xFAD model is still a valuable model to study, specifically, the microglial response towards A β under systemic inflammation. Certainly, we need to further validate our findings in humans using AD patient brain sections and blood samples from septic patients.

Genotyping (Paper II, III, and IV)

5xFAD mice are heterozygous and carry the retinal degeneration mutation 1 (RD1) from the original breeding. We performed PCR to genotype the 5xFAD and WT mice. Mice with RD1 were excluded due to visual deficits, which could influence the results from cognition behavioral tests.

Animal surgery, treatment, and behavioral tests

Induction of experimental stroke, permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion (pMCAO) (Paper I)

The distal part of the left middle cerebral artery was permanently occluded. Mice were allowed to survive for one day (immunofluorescent staining and cytokine measurement) or five days (EV analysis) post-occlusion, whereafter they were sacrificed to collect blood and brains for further analysis. pMCAO is a commonly used model for stroke. Since we studied EVs secreted from BV2 cells upon LPS stimulation, this inflammatory mouse model was highly appreciated for confirming what we found *in vitro*. Rats and mice subjected to pMCAO are known to developed neuroinflammation in the brain^{331,332} and an altered inflammatory response in the periphery^{333,334}.

Intraperitoneal injection of LPS (Paper III and IV)

To mimic the physiological condition of mild sepsis, we decided to intraperitoneally inject LPS in mice of different ages. Before conducting the full experiment, we did a pilot study to titrate and determine the most effective concentration of LPS (1mg/kg, 5mg/kg, and 10mg/kg) that led to no mortality so that we could study the long-term effects of systemic infection in the CNS and periphery. Thus, when we ran the full experiment, mice were subject to i.p. injection at postnatal day 9 and at 6 weeks old of either lipopolysaccharide (1mg/kg, L4516-from *Escherichia coli* O127:B8, Sigma-Aldrich) or an equal amount of saline for control. All of the mice in this project were induced using the same batch of LPS.

The limitations of using LPS are that the inflammation triggered neglects the effects of gram-positive organisms and polymicrobes³³⁵ and that the response initiated by LPS is restricted to just one PAMP molecule, so this model resembles only a small subset of human sepsis patients³³⁶. Moreover, human sepsis has a lower expression level of inflammatory cytokines in plasma and reaches the peak more slowly than LPS-induced sepsis in animals^{337,338}. However, LPS replicates many aspects of the progression of sepsis and simplifies explanations of the underlying mechanism behind the effects seen. It has been utilized as a standard method in the field. Compared with other models, such as the cecal ligation and puncture model, LPS administration is much easier to control and perform on mice³³⁵.

Novel object recognition test (Paper III and IV)

It has been reported that the 5xFAD mouse model develops cognitive deficits at 4 months of age using the novel object recognition test^{339,340}. This mouse model also

shows motor dysfunction at 9 months old³⁴⁰. Thus, we performed several different behavioral tests in the pilot study to assess the effects of LPS on the progression of the pathology. First, mice were allowed to explore the empty arena for 5 minutes to measure possible effects from the treatment on locomotion. Following this, two identical objects were placed in the center of the arena for 15 minutes. Retention tests were then performed 1 h and 24 h after the training session to assess short-term memory and long-term memory, respectively. Mice tend to be more curious towards a novel object. However, 5xFAD mice exhibit impaired memory and do not have a preference for the objects. Moreover, we analyzed depressive-like behavior, spatial memory impairment, and motor deficits at 6 months of age, but we did not find any effect of LPS on 5xFAD mice in the forced swimming test, tail suspension test, nor in the Y-maze test. Therefore, the novel object recognition test was used to analyze the effect of LPS on behavior in these mice.

Isolation of monocytes and microglia

Cell enrichment using magnetic beads (Paper II, III and IV)

CD11b magnetic beads from Miltenyi Biotech were used for microglia isolation. The purity of the cell population was verified by flow cytometry. The enrichment was around 95% as identified by two markers, CD45 and CD11b. However, a large amount of debris was observed from these samples. A few reasons could be that myelin remained from the brain disassociation procedure or that dying microglia were present during the whole process. Therefore, further purification of the cell population was required for downstream analysis.

Monocytes were isolated using the same method after being flushed out from murine femurs and tibias. Negative selection was made to obtain a pure monocyte population. In general, the enrichment of monocytes was quite successful without as much debris as the microglia isolation. This method gave a fast, effective and reproducible means to enrich the cells for other analyses. However, further characterization was needed to identify particular cell types.

Flow cytometry (Paper II, III, and IV)

Flow cytometry is commonly exploited in hematopoietic research for the identification of cellular markers, relative valuation of intracellular and surface proteins and measurement of physical features. Nowadays, it is increasingly implemented in the neuroscience field. This is a powerful tool allowing us to purify specific cell subpopulations, characterize interesting cell subsets and assess the expression of proteins in a much faster and more effective way than western blot

and immunostaining. Furthermore, it opens up 6-8 or more channels for a diverse combination of antibodies. Limitations of this method are the difficulty of isolating cells from low-input samples (less than 10,000 cells) and the requirement for antibodies to target antigens. In addition, since the samples need to be in a single cell suspension, spatial information of the location of the cells in brain tissue is lost.

Transcriptomic and proteomic analysis

Single-cell sequencing (Paper IV)

Single-cell sequencing (scRNA-seq) is a recent, advanced next-generation technology to analyze the genome or transcriptome in individual cells to elucidate heterogeneity of cell populations. Unlike traditional sequencing methods measuring the average expression of genes for many cells, scRNA-seq provides the potential to find a rare subpopulation of cells that may be missed in a bulk analysis. This technique has grown in interest and has been implemented extensively in various research fields since it was first published in 2009 for the identification of cells from early developmental stages³⁴¹. Here, we obtain a high-throughput single-cell transcriptome library (3' ends of RNA) through a Chromium system from 10× Genomics. This method helped us to gain a better and deeper understanding of complex cell populations and identify cellular markers to distinguish microglia from infiltrating monocytes and perivascular macrophages, which have highly similar physiological functions, surface receptors, and genetic profiles to microglia. It also allowed us to map the genotypes of microglia and monocytes to their phenotypes, which has been one of the long-lasting challenges in innate immunity research. The drawbacks of this approach are the high cost for each run and the requirement for a well-established pipeline to analyze a huge amount of data from scRNA-seq. These limit the universal use in exploring heterogeneity under different conditions. Moreover, the individual signatures were lost by pooling the samples together from each condition to reduce the expense. Overall, this technology gave a substantial opportunity to our study to reveal alterations in myeloid cells upon different stimuli.

Immunohistochemistry (Paper II and III)

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) is a historical and traditional approach for protein expression in fixed tissue. Immunohistological analysis was done to quantify the A β load and number of microglia to estimate the neuroinflammatory status in **Paper II** and III. Two brain regions, the retrosplenial cortex (RSC) and dentate gyrus (DG) were analyzed. The RSC has been found to have the highest burden of β -amyloid plaques,³³⁹ and the DG is a memory-related brain region that is impaired by 6

months of age in 5xFAD-model mice. The biggest advantage of using IHC was the ability to localize specific cells that presented proteins of interest in the tissue. Especially for the studies on the brain, this information provides crucial clues for understanding the underlying molecular mechanisms and physiological role of cells in a specific brain region. However, IHC lacks a high sensitivity of detection due to the low specific-binding of antibodies and high background noise depending on how the tissue is prepared and the condition of the animals. For example, autofluorescence is usually higher in aged animal brains than young ones because of the variety of cell types and the accumulation of lipofuscin, a pigment that gathers in neurons with aging³⁴². Brain tissue also has numerous lipid bilayers, resulting in light scattering and auto-fluorescence. Thus, to mitigate these effects, we performed an antigen retrieval step to expose epitopes before the first blocking step and an additional blocking step before secondary staining. Another drawback of this method is the number of antibodies that can be used for a given sample as only 3 or 4 antibodies can be used, which is based on the laser channels available for a given microscope. Moreover, the whole procedure takes a relatively long time and requires careful perfusion and fixation of the brain samples.

Western blot analysis (Paper I and II)

Western blot is a well-established and extensively used method to relatively quantify the expression level of protein. It was applied to relatively quantify target proteins, including markers for EVs (Alix and Flotillin-1) and inflammatory proteins (iNOS, NLRP3, and Pro-caspase-1) in **Paper I** and different species of amyloid aggregates (A β 40 and A β 42) in **Paper II**. Actin was used as a housekeeping protein for cell lysates. However, whether actin is expressed consistently in EVs is unknown. To better normalize EV release, we normalized Alix and Flotillin-1 levels with the total protein amount detected in the cell lysates.

Multiplex cytokine enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Paper I, II, III, and IV)

The concentrations of different cytokines in EVs and media as well as serum and brain homogenate from mice were measured with different Mesoscale Discovery plates using a QuickPlex SQ120 Plate Reader (Mesoscale Discovery, Rockville, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The different cytokines are detailed in the papers. The Mesoscale Discovery system utilizes a multiplex ELISA to immediately analyze up to 10 different analytes, e.g. metabolites, and various A β isoforms. The sensitivity of detection of various molecules is relatively high. The lowest level of cytokine that can be accurately measured by the pro-inflammatory panel in **Paper I** is listed here: IFN- γ , 0.04 pg/mL; IL-1 β , 0.11 pg/mL; IL-2, 0.22 pg/mL; IL-4, 0.11 pg/mL; IL-5, 0.06 pg/mL; IL-6, 0.61 pg/mL; KC/GRO, 0.24

pg/mL; IL-10, 0.94 pg/mL; IL-12p70, 9.95 pg/mL and TNF- α , 0.13 pg/mL. However, a few samples that were out of the detection range were either removed due to low concentration or diluted later reanalysis. Due to the lack of housekeeping proteins in the assay for brain homogenates, we normalized the samples by loading the same amount of total protein in **Paper IV**.

Mass spectrometry (Paper I, II, and III)

Mass spectrometry (MS) is a comprehensive technique to identify and quantify different proteins. We utilized qualitative (**Paper I and II**) and quantitative analysis (**Paper III**) from the Proteomics Core Facility at Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg. As mentioned before in the EV Isolation Procedure section, the amount of EVs was not sufficient to run quantitative MS, so while **Paper II** aimed to compare different proteins expressed in microglia before and after amyloid plaque deposition, the qualitative method was selected to identify proteins in these samples instead.

Microscopy

Confocal microscopy (Paper II, III, and IV)

Confocal microscopy has several benefits over conventional epi-fluorescence microscopy, such as control over the depth of field and elimination of background noise. It also has fewer spillover effects between channels as the images are taken using the lasers one by one. The largest disadvantage that I have encountered so far is the long preparation time needed to set up all of the parameters that are suitable for the different conditions. In addition, the life expectancy of the specimen is shortened due to bleaching during the process.

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (Paper I)

TEM offers an excellent opportunity to visualize EVs ranging from 50nm to 1000nm in diameter, which are too small to see with conventional microscopy. The analysis was carried out at the Lund University Bioimaging Center using fresh samples. Since the protein content of the EVs had already been identified by western blot and MS, a general picture of the EVs derived from BV2 microglial cells was taken without any antibody labeling.

Data Analysis

Bioinformatic analysis

Gene Ontology (GO) enrichment analysis was carried out by different databases according to sample specificity. In short, Funrich software was used for **Paper I**, and the PANTHERTM online database was applied in **Paper II**. Quantitative MS data was analyzed using the Perseus platform in **Paper III**. An extensive computational pipeline and analysis were established by the National Bioinformatics Infrastructure Sweden in **Paper IV**.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed in GraphPad Prism (Version 8 or 9) as described in the original papers. Briefly, as the data followed a normal distribution, parametric tests were applied, including Student's t-test, one-way ANOVA, and two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test for multiple comparisons.

Results

Inflammatory response of microglia upon different stimuli (Paper I and Paper II)

Highlights

- LPS stimulation on BV2 microglia gave rise to larger extracellular vesicles (EVs) containing increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines in vitro.
- The proteomic profile of EVs shifted to ribosomal assembly and translation in the presence of LPS in vitro.
- Complete ablation of TNF expression alleviated the inflammation with reduced amount of EVs secretion in vivo and in vitro.
- In young 5xFAD mice (6 weeks old), inflammation can be detected in the microglia.

Modulation of innate immunity by systemic inflammation (Paper III and Paper IV)

Highlights

Following peripheral LPS challenge at 6 weeks of age in 5xFAD mice

- Suppression of microglial activation at 6-month-old 5xFAD mice.
- Less plaque load in hippocampus in 6-months-old 5xFAD mice.
- Monocytes responded differently than microglia.

Following peripheral LPS challenge at postnatal day 9 in WT and 5xFAD mice

- 6 months later, unique subpopulations of microglia were found in WT mice. These subpopulations diminished in 5xFAD mice by 6 months of age.
- One subpopulation of monocytes was significantly reduced in 6-month-old WT but not in 5xFAD mice.

Paper I

Inflammation leads to distinct populations of microglial extracellular vesicles.

Main findings

LPS stimulation had the following effects on microglia-derived extracellular vesicles (EVs) *in vitro*.

- The levels of TNF and IL-6 were increased in EVs
- Larger size of EVs were released, particularly in the range of 200-300nm, with a higher ratio of Flotillin-1 and CD63,
- Higher number of EVs was secreted.
- With the inhibition of TNF, the number of EVs produced by microglia in the presence of LPS was attenuated down to control level.
- Proteomic profile was altered with more proteins associated with RNA binding and translocation from gene ontology analysis.

Permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion (pMACO), a focal cerebral ischemia mouse model, triggered the following events in wild type (WT) and TNF-knockout (TNF-KO) mice *in vivo*.

- One day after pMCAO, the systemic inflammation occurred in the periphery with the listed consequences.
 - Upregulation of TNF, IL-5, and IL-12p70 in WT, but not TNF-KO.
 - Increased release of IL-1 β , IL-6, and KC/GRO (CXCL1) in WT and TNF-KO, but such increases were attenuated in TNF-KO.
 - Increased number of EVs in both genotypes.
- Five days after pMCAO, EVs counts reduced significantly in TNF-KO compared to WT.

Conclusion

Our data showed altered EV production in BV2 microglial cells and altered EV cytokine levels and protein composition in response to LPS challenge.

Impact

Our findings provide new insights into the potential roles of EVs that could be related to the pathogenesis in neuroinflammatory-affected diseases.



Figure 6 Experimental scheme and main findings of Paper I, "Inflammation leads to distinct populations of extracellular vesicles from microglia" (created with BioRender.com). The results are ordered according to the experimental scheme.

Paper II

Innate immune alterations are elicited in microglial cells before plaque deposition in the Alzheimer's disease mouse model 5xFAD.

Main findings

Inflammatory effects before (2 and 6 weeks old) and after A β deposition (10 weeks old) in 5xFAD mice.

- Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines were specifically changed at different ages of mice in the brain.
 - At ages of 6 and 10 weeks, a trend of reduced IL-12 appeared.
 - At 10 weeks of age, when $A\beta$ deposition had already begun, IL-1 β and IL-10 were significantly increased.
- Distinct alterations in protein expression in microglia was revealed by gene ontology analysis.
 - At 6 weeks of age, the top three signaling pathways in microglia annotated were JAK/STAT, PDGF, and p38 MAPK cascades.
 - At 10 weeks of age, the top pathways were synaptic vesicle trafficking, glutamate receptor signaling and adrenergic receptor signaling.
 - \circ 10-week-old mice had significant upregulation of several innate immunity-related signaling pathways, including IFN- γ , MAPK cascade, and interleukin pathways, compared to 6-week-old mice.

Quantification of microglial activation and A^β deposition in 5xFAD mice.

- At 6 weeks of age, prior to Aβ plaque deposition, higher levels of soluble Aβ42 were found in brain.
- At 6 weeks, galectin-3 positive microglia were observed in hippocampal CA1 in the pyramidal layer near APP-positive neurons.
- At 10 weeks of age, $A\beta$ plaques were first seen in subiculum.

Conclusion

Early inflammation occurs in microglia even before the accumulation of $A\beta$.

Impact

Targeting early microglial alteration may be crucial for pre-clinical AD trials.



Figure 7 Experimental scheme and main findings of Paper II, "Innate immune alterations are elicited in microglial cells before plaque deposition in the Alzheimer's disease mouse model 5xFAD"(created with BioRender.com).

Paper III

Long-term effects of acute systemic inflammation on myeloid cells persist into adulthood in the 5xFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease.

Main findings

Long-term effects of LPS induced systemic inflammation and A β pathology on myeloid cells.

- Microglia from CNS:
 - \circ Periphery LPS challenge was able to induce a similar effect as A β pathology, such as a lower expression of Cacybp, S100a9, and Fabp4.
- Monocytes from bone marrow:
 - WT-LPS mice demonstrated upregulation of apoptosis and PDGF cascades compared to WT
 - 5xFAD-LPS vs 5xFAD showed increased expression in the Wnt pathway and downregulation of PDGF signaling compared to 5xFAD only.
 - \circ A β pathology in CNS caused a larger expression of Alzheimer's disease-related proteins, including APP, CLU, and APOE.

Quantification of microglial activation and $A\beta$ deposition in 5xFAD mice 4.5 months after LPS administration.

- Significantly reduced number of microglia around plaques in dentate gyrus (DG).
- Significantly fewer galectin-3-positive microglia in retrosplenial cortex (RSC) and DG.
- Reduced plaque burden was found in DG but not in RSC.

Conclusion

Our findings emphasize the potential long-term effects of early systemic inflammation which may contribute to mitigate $A\beta$ load as a consequence.

Impact

It provides a potential approach to modulate innate immunity for beneficial effects.



Figure 8 Experimental scheme and main findings of Paper III, "Long-term effects of acute systemic inflammation in adulthood on myeloid cells in the 5xFAD mouse of Alzheimer's disease" (created with BioRender.com).

Paper IV

Postnatal LPS injection induces a unique phenotype in myeloid cells in the adulthood that is associated with amyloid-beta pathology.

Main findings

Long-term effects of LPS challenge at postnatal day 9 in WT and 5xFAD mice

- Single-cell sequencing revealed 19 different clusters for two cell types.
 - Homeostatic microglia were identified in cluster 1. Diseaseassociated microglia (DAM) were mapped at cluster 5. Perivascular macrophages were located at cluster 8.
 - Monocytes resided mostly in cluster 9 to 19.
- Unique subpopulations of microglia were found in WT, but were diminished in 5xFAD mice.
 - These unique subpopulations adopted a monocyte-like phenotype, with high expression of Lyz2, Tmsb10, Lgals1, and Lgals3.
- Several cluster-specific genes were identified: Fos in cluster 3, Lpl, Itgax and Ank in cluster 5, Mif in cluster 6, and Mrc1 and CD74 in cluster 8.

Cytokine and chemokines analysis on the long-term effects in the brain region of hippocampus and the periphery.

- In hippocampus: GM-CSF and TNF-α were significantly ameliorated due to the Aβ pathology. MIP-1α was increased in an Aβ dependent manner. MIP-1β (CCL4) was significantly reduced in 5xFAD-vehicle but increased with LPS stimulation in 5xFAD mice.
- In the periphery: MMP-9 and TNF- α were significantly increased in the serum in an A β dependent fashion.

Conclusion

We found long-lasting effects from early systemic inflammation, including activation of inflammation through alteration of transcriptomics profiles and modulation of different inflammatory mediators on myeloid cells.

Impact

An improved characterization of myeloid cells may shed the light on the pathogenesis and give alternatively approaches for early diagnosis, treatment, and eventually prevention of the disease.



WT-Veh
WT-LPS
5xFAD-Veh
5xFAD-LPS

Image: Strain of the str

Figure 9 Experimental scheme and main findings of Paper IV, "Postnatal LPS injection induces a unique phenotype of myeloid cells in the adulthood associated with amyloid-beta pathology" (created with BioRender.com).

Discussion

Inflammatory response of microglia upon different stimuli

As mentioned in the introduction, activation of peripheral innate immunity and neuroinflammation play crucial roles in neurodegenerative diseases. Microglia as a key element of innate immunity in the central nervous system (CNS). The activation of microglia is initiated by different intracellular mechanisms, resulting in the release of proinflammatory mediators, which promote the propagation of inflammation^{264,343,344}.

TNF- cytoprotective or cytotoxic upon LPS activation

In this thesis, we investigated a non-canonical pathway that could spread these mediators, which was through extracellular vesicles (EVs). Other groups have shown that EVs play a role in the regulation of cytokines and have an association with aggregation of pathogenic proteins (ref). We found that inflammation was closely connected to EV production and secretion in Paper I. By using tumour necrosis factor (TNF) inhibitor *in vitro* and TNF-knockout mice (*in vivo*) to reduce inflammation, we observed a reduction in the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and of the total number of EVs released. However, the EVs collected from plasma originated mainly from cells in the periphery and not directly from microglia in CNS. Nevertheless, these results suggest that TNF could be a universal signalling pathway that can decrease inflammation³⁴⁵.

In fact, there are two forms of TNF–soluble TNF (solTNF) and TNF (tmTNF)– which have contradictory functions ^{346,347}. solTNF is related to neurotoxicity and inflammation^{348–350}, while the transmembrane form is involved in functional recovery and neuroprotection^{346,351}. Hence, the specific form of TNF carried in microglial EVs or the expression of a particular form of TNF in the brain and serum will probably determine whether the outcome is neuroprotective or neurotoxic. One piece of evidence from Paper IV showed that TNF- α was reduced in hippocampus due to the overexpression of A β . However, it was increased in the serum from the same mice. One reasonable explanation could be that more tmTNF was released by tissue homogenization. In contrast, a higher level of solTNF was released in the
serum. In our studies, we measured total TNF in EVs and conditioned medium (Paper I), serum (Paper III and IV), and brain homogenate (Paper II, IV). More studies investigating the specific form of TNF could provide a fuller picture of inflammation in the CNS and periphery.

Early activation of microglia in the 5xFAD mouse model

We studied inflammatory alterations related to microglia in 5xFAD mice. Early activation of microglia was observed at 6 weeks of age, even before the appearance of plaques. APP-positive neurons and soluble A β 42 were also found at 6 weeks of age, possibly leading to the alterations in microglia. In Paper II, we found that the JAK-STAT, MAPK and Interleukins pathways were highly upregulated in microglia isolated from 6-week-old 5xFAD mice. As the pathology grows exponentially in this model, microglia likely became overactivated and played a detrimental role in the CNS (studied in Paper III and IV). This study pointed out an intervention time window for Paper III. Galectin-3 (Gal3) expression was previously demonstrated in the microglia surrounding AB plaques in 5xFAD mice²³⁹. Intensive studies from our group have revealed the critical role of Gal3 in microglial activation in neurodegenerative diseases^{238,239,352}. In line with earlier findings, Gal3-positive microglia were present around APP-positive neurons at 6 weeks of age and by the A β plaques in the subjculum by 10 weeks of age. Whether these microglia have detrimental or beneficial effects at the pre-plaque stage is not clear. Although a detrimental role of Gal3 was illustrated in the 5xFAD model at 6 months and 18 months of age²³⁹, different subpopulations of Gal3-positive microglia were not revealed there. Thus, we further investigated this in Paper III and IV.

Modulation of innate immunity by systemic inflammation

Here, I will focus on the different effects of peripheral LPS challenge and $A\beta$ pathology on microglia and monocytes (Paper III and IV). The potential to prime the innate immune system may provide an opportunity to halt the progression of AD. Moreover, we attempted to map the phenotypes of myeloid cells to functional profiles in Paper IV.

Trained innate immunity and immune tolerance

The concept of innate immunity memory was introduced earlier in this thesis, defined as the ability of microglia to be primed and retain the innate memory. Trained innate immunity results in a quick response with an enhanced immune

reaction when a previously known pathogen or stimulus reappears^{311,312}. Conversely, innate tolerance is a compensatory regulation to limit the extent of hyperactivation and tissue damage in repetitive or chronic infection^{311,316,353}. Studies conflict on the consequences of innate tolerance ^{312,319,320}. Innate immunity in CNS can be modified to a certain extent, and this strongly depends on the concentration of the stimulus, the timepoint of the intervention and the duration after the intervention. Many studies have addressed the acute effects of inflammation in CNS^{241,321,322}. The long-term alterations in microglia under Aβ pathology, however, are not as clear . Thus, we looked at the long-term effects of systemic inflammation in 5xFAD mice at different time points.

In Paper III, we primed the microglia in adult mice with a single dose of LPS given before plaque deposition. We stimulated the mice with peripheral LPS injection, resulting in fewer AB plaques in the dentate gyrus (DG) at 6 months old of age compared to age-matched 5xFAD mice. These findings suggest a beneficial effect on microglia of LPS priming, and we found that the hippocampus may be more sensitive to this than the retrosplenial cortex (RSC). It is possible that the overloading amount of AB in RSC was beyond the clearance capability of microglia. Interestingly, expression of Gal-3 in microglia seemed to be suppressed in DG and RSC along with reduction of MHC I. Proteomic analysis showed an indication of upregulation of EIF4EBP1 and downregulation of Rel in microglia from LPSprimed 5xFAD mice compared to 5xFAD. EIF4EBP1 is a downstream protein in the mTOR cascade related to cell proliferation, survival, and autophagy^{354,355}. Dephosphorylation of EIF4EBP1 initiates a cap-dependent pathway for protein translation. Increased levels of EIF4EBP1 are related to activation of mTOR upon LPS stimulation. Still, the consequences of this phenomenon are not clear and could possibly include increasing autophagy to clear up A β or promote cell proliferation and survival³⁵⁶. More studies are required, and more on this topic will be mentioned in Future Perspectives. In addition, Rel is one of the NF-kB subunits associated with epigenetic modification in innate immunity and can persist for a long period of time³⁵⁷. Studies have reported that primed microglia have a higher phagocytic capacity and can increase the amount of repressive histone modifications, H3K9me2, in the promoters for the IL-1 β and TNF- α genes^{358–360}. Such alterations in the expression of these genes are consistent with our hypothesis and current findings. Therefore, we would like to further study the role of Gal-3 in the NF-kB signaling pathway, which has not been well elucidated before.

In Paper IV, we chose to prime microglia in postnatal mice as the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and brain are not yet fully developed then. Intriguingly, we saw more Gal3-positive microglia in 5xFAD and 5xFAD-LPS mice after the early intervention compared to the later intervention in adult 6-week-old mice. This suggests that postnatal mice are more vulnerable to triggers that activate microglia than adult mice when inflammation occurs in the periphery. Since this is an ongoing project, more

histological labelling is needed to verify the consequences, such as labelling Claudin-5 for integrity of BBB, CD68 for phagocytosis, and CCL4 for inflammatory response.

No effect on behavioural deficits in 5xFAD subject to LPS

Administration of a peripheral LPS challenge, either in adulthood or at the postnatal stage, did not induce cognitive impairment in WT nor worsen the cognition in 5xFAD mice. This may be due to that a single dose of LPS $(1\mu g/kg)$ may be insufficient to impair memory-related brain regions. Another reason may be that the timepoint when we looked for behavioral deficits may have been too late. Neither STM nor LTM tests showed memory alterations due to LPS treatment. However, our work is limited by the low number of mice in each group (at least 6 animals per group) since large variations existed within the groups. More mice are needed per group for the statistical tests.

The heterogeneity of microglia and monocytes

An immune response and their related pathways are frequently elicited in AD and other neurodegenerative diseases. With an increasing number of researchers using single cell RNA-seq as a means to study this question, the heterogeneity of microglia and monocytes has been uncovered and can be defined by diverse markers with potential roles in different signaling cascades^{291,361–363}. In Paper IV, we compared the immune response of monocytes to that of microglia in mice that experienced acute systemic inflammation as well as developed AD pathology as a chronic inflammation in the brain. Our results suggest these two conditions triggered different immune responses in microglia and monocytes. Several previously identified phenotypes were also confirmed in this study, such as homeostatic microglia (Cluster 1) and DAM (Cluster 5). DAM have been observed in the vicinity of plaques and can phagocytose β -amyloid in CNS²⁹¹. These findings highlight the protective role of DAM in AD. Interestingly, this cluster appears primarily in 5xFAD mice with some DAM in WT as well, but very few appeared in the WT-LPS group. This implies that DAM may be more responsive to events requiring phagocytosis, such as plaques, and may not respond effectively to LPS stimulation. Further comparisons of monocytes are needed to investigate the different responses in the periphery.

Detrimental role of microglia

We found a novel subtype of microglia with a monocyte-like transcriptomic profile and investigated their reaction to different inflammatory stimuli. This distinct subtype exists in both WT mice after early-life peripheral LPS stimulation and 5xFAD mice without early-life inflammation. In other words, this subtype only appeared under conditions when only one stimulus challenged the immune system. Further investigation into this subtype revealed potential markers, including Lyz2, S100a6, Lgals3 (Gal-3), and Lgals1 (Gal-1), as labels that could be used for immunostaining or qPCR to further validate and examine the functionality of this subpopulation in the brain. Lyz2 is primarily involved in the clearance of bacteria, and S100a6 may lead to apoptosis through activation of the RAGE signaling pathway³⁶⁴. In line with previous studies from our group, this subtype of microglia may have detrimental effects in CNS under A β pathology²³⁹. It is highly likely that these microglia come from the periphery as they localized closely with BM-Mo in the transcriptomic mapping. However, this speculation needs evidence from further animal studies.

General conclusions

Overall, the studies in this thesis imply the following:

- LPS activation leads to unique populations of EVs from microglia.
- LPS stimulates microglia to release larger extracellular vesicles (EVs) containing increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines.
- Complete ablation of TNF expression alleviates inflammation with reduced EV secretion *in vivo* and *in vitro*.
- In 5xFAD mice, microglial inflammation starts as early as at 6 weeks of age, prior to Aβ plaque appearance.
- Systemic inflammation in adulthood induces long-term alterations in innate immunity, such as repression of activated microglia and promotion of apoptosis in monocytes from bone marrow.
- Peripheral LPS challenge at the pre-plaque stage triggers a long-lasting effect on microglia, leading to a reduction of A β burden in the hippocampi of 5xFAD mice.
- Early systemic inflammation and Aβ pathology induce distinct subpopulations of microglia that upregulate Lyz2 and Lgals3 (encodes galectin-3).

Future Perspectives

The importance of inflammation in the development of neurological disorders has been intensively investigated and elucidated in recent years. Questions on the molecular mechanisms behind these diseases are still awaiting an answer. In this thesis, I focused mainly on the role of innate immunity, microglia in the brain and monocytes located in the bone marrow, all under the pathology of Alzheimer's disease (AD). The early activation of microglia and the potential modulation of these cells by systemic inflammation are demonstrated in the papers included in this thesis. However, several fundamental questions remain to be solved, such as when and how neuroinflammation occurs before the manifestation of clinical symptoms, what factors and pathways are involved in the initiation of detrimental microglial activation, and how innate immunity contributes to the pathology. With emerging advanced technologies, there are great opportunities to answer these questions.

Challenges of studying microglia

I have studied the effects of different stimuli on microglia *in vitro* and *in vivo*: a murine microglial cell line and 5xFAD mice were used to address specific questions. Here, I would like to discuss the challenges of studying microglia. As microglia are highly dynamic cells in the brain and respond immediately to the environment, one of the complications is that cultured microglial cell lines do not reflect the physiological complexity in the human brain. Efforts have been made to establish human iPSC-derived microglial lines and three-dimensional cellular culture systems, but the full recapitulation of microglia *in vivo* is still lacking.

Another challenge is how to maintain microglial phenotypes after the isolation and purification processes. One of the approaches could be *in vivo* live imaging using specific reporter mice. However, this tool also has limitations as evidence shows that microglia in anaesthetised mice are more active than those from awake mice^{365,366}. Moreover, any type of manipulation on the brain, such as cranial window surgery or perfusion, can injure the brain and activate microglia. Therefore, these problems should always be taken into consideration when designing an experiment to study microglia under physiological conditions.

The last challenge that I realized in my studies is the large overlap in markers between microglia and myeloid cells in the periphery. This made it difficult to distinguish microglia from infiltrating myeloid cells during inflammation as our goal was to elucidate the roles of microglia and monocytes in the progression of AD. The use of a reporter mouse with inducible fluorescent labelling linked to genes exclusively expressed either in microglia or monocytes may have been a better choice, such as tamoxifen-inducible CX3CR1^{CreER} mice crossed with R26^{Reporter} for microglia and CCR2^{CreER}×Rosa26 mice for monocytes³⁰⁹ since CX3CR1 is generally expressed in peripheral monocytes, dendritic cells, and NK cells as well. Other reporter mice have been developed to have more precise microglia labelling, such as TMEM119^{TdTomato} and Hexb^{TdTomato367} mice.

Shared responses between systemic inflammation and Alzheimer's disease

We observed a long-lasting effect of systemic inflammation on microglia and bone marrow-resident monocytes. The signaling pathways triggered under systemic inflammation and AD shared commonalities to some extent. In **Paper III**, systemic inflammation reduced plaque deposition in the hippocampus but not in retrosplenial cortex. It is possible that hippocampus is more vulnerable towards inflammation. If so, microglia would respond differently in these two brain regions. Thus, it would be interesting to validate the findings obtained from proteomic analysis by histology. For example, MHC I was downregulated in microglia from LPSadministered WT and 5xFAD mice. Localizing MHC I positive microglia in the brain may provide evidence of region-specific innate responses. I propose the following experiments to elucidate how LPS primes the immune system under AD pathology through two signalling cascades: One is to investigate how LPS and A β affect the translocation of Rel in the NF-kb pathway, leading to manipulation of gal-3 expression. The other one is to study the mTOR pathway due to significantly high expression of EIF4EBP1 in LPS-injected 5xFAD mice. Inhibitors of Rel (IT-603 and IT-901) and EIF4EBP1 (Rapamycin) would be tested in a human microglial cell line to have higher clinical relevance.

Validation of the single-cell sequencing data

Single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) allows us to explore gene expression at the single-cell level, which has accelerated the revolution in transcriptomics. The heterogeneity of microglia and BM-Mo under pathological conditions was revealed in **Paper IV**.

One drawback of this technology is that it does not directly indicate the expression level of proteins, which are the functional molecules in signalling pathways. Thus, specific clusters or genes found in scRNA-seq must be validated *in vivo* by histological staining or western blot. As we saw region-specific effects from LPS injection in adulthood in Paper III, it would be interesting to study the spatial characteristics of various subpopulations, which is another drawback of scRNA-seq. Thus, I would suggest performing immunohistochemistry on brain sections as a remedy. I would also propose to apply qPCR to identify interesting gene expression from brain tissues from two regions: hippocampus and prefrontal cortex.

Furthermore, the cellular markers of myeloid cells in mice and humans are not consistent. Therefore, it is necessary to validate the findings in AD or septic patients. Given the fact that spatial transcriptomics and single-cell proteomics are available, they can give a deeper insight into the cellular changes in a particular area, such as in the vicinity of A β plaques³⁶⁸. With studies incorporating these technologies and more, increasing knowledge may one day elucidate the pathogenesis of AD and other neurological disorders.

Modulation of innate immunity

In this thesis, A β pathology is the central pathological feature for the activation of microglia and chronic inflammation in AD. In sporadic forms of AD, there are various genetic risk factors and associated comorbidities affecting the manifestation of the disease. More translational models are necessary to better reflect the various pathological aspects of AD in humans. Of note, the overexaggerated pathological damage in the 5xFAD model can cause over-activation of microglia and mask the period with beneficial microglial functions in the human brain. Therefore, to better mimic the preclinical situation, less aggressive AD mouse models are required to study neuroinflammation, such as the APP knock-in mice developed by the Saido group^{369,370} and a new APP knock-in mice established this year by the Sanchez $group^{371}$. Given the evidence that cognitively normal people have AB deposition in the brain, the ability to maintain homeostasis during aging is individually specific 372 . Thus, it is crucial to investigate potential factors related to the capability of microglia in the brain since microglia carry out the inflammation initiated by pathological damage, such as in response to misfolded proteins (AB and Tau), cellular death, and neuronal impairment³⁷³. Moreover, more support for the immune system in CNS is available from the periphery as infiltrating immune cells also contribute to homeostatic maintenance. The long-lasting effects on myeloid cells from a single dose of LPS seemed to reduce A^β load in my studies. However, more studies are needed to show how the peripheral immune system contributes to pathology. Nevertheless, modulation of the peripheral immune system may be an alternative approach for pharmaceuticals and therapeutics for neurological diseases.

Acknowledgement

I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone who has contributed to the studies in my PhD education. First of all, I want to thank my supervisor, **Prof.** Tomas Deierborg. I am very grateful to you for accepting me as a PhD student in your group, Experimental Neuroinflammation Laboratory, and thanks so much for introducing me to the field of microglia. You are always so willing to support and encourage me to pursue my ideas. The freedom that you have given me in my work has helped me to grow into a more confident and sophisticated researcher. I am also impressed with your optimistic attitude towards difficulties and problems, especially with our negative data. You are more than just a supervisor; you are truly an inspiration and friend to me. Second, I also wish to sincerely thank my cosupervisor, Dr. Christopher J.R. Dunning, who supervised me during the first study (Paper I) but then left for new adventures in industry. I am grateful for everything you taught me and for the constructive comments on the work. I also want to extend my gratitude to another co-supervisor, Prof. Jia-yi Li, who is knowledgeable about the field of neuroscience and has given inspirational ideas and comments during my studies.

I want to acknowledge the support received from my colleagues and the staff working at the infrastructures in **MultiPark**.

Antonio, my officemate and friend, thanks for your guidance when I started in the group as well as for the nice discussions we had in our little office on Paper I and Paper II, which made me feel very welcome in our little group at that time. You are a great role model in the lab. I learned a lot from you and had so much fun with you in Spain, Germany, and the USA, and I am looking forward to continuing to work with you in near future.

Martina, thank you for introducing me to the animal facility and the hands-on work of behavioral tests as well as the constructive comments for this thesis. I am so impressed with how you combine work with physical activity. I am grateful for sharing time with you and the mom-talk.

Agnes, thanks for your contribution to Paper II and suggestions for the experimental setup in other studies as well as for the time we spent together both in and outside the lab. We also were able to talk about kids which made me feel relieved as a new mother.

Sara, who was a 'mother' to our animal mice, thank you for all of your fundamental input to Paper III and IV. Even though you started later in our lab, you knew the animal facility so well and took care of everyone in the lab. I am truly grateful for all of the help you have provided in my work and the time we spent in the animal facility during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Megg, thanks so much for your advice about immunostaining in Paper III and Paper IV. You also opened my eyes to available sources to improve the work as well as to deeper insight about academic questions.

I want to mention previous members in our group: **Carlo**, thanks for your bioinformatic inputs and offering statistic perspectives for Paper III. I also want to thank other members in the group, **Rosalia**, **Oscar**, **Lluis** and previous members **Marina** and **Emelie**. I am grateful for sharing time with you and having your helpful comments in the group

I also would like to thank my former student, **Gustaf**, who worked hard and always spread joy in the lab. **Bazhena (Jennifer)**, a master student from Spain, thanks for all of your great effort in Paper III and Paper IV. I value your scientific mind and curiosity regarding scientific questions. I wish you the best of luck with your future PhD education in Spain, and I am looking forward to collaborating with you in future.

Thanks to **Prof. Kate Lykke Lambertsten** and **Assoc. Prof. Bettina Hjelm Clausen** for your contributions to Paper I on the stroke model and cytokine measurements as well as for offering the opportunity to collaborate on your extracellular vesicle project.

I want to thank **Bodil**, our technician, for your assistance and support in the animal facility. **Anna Hammarberg**, a research engineer for the FACS platform at MultiPark, thanks a lot for your patience, dedicated skills and guidance for sorting the cells for Paper II, III, and IV.

I would also like to give a special thanks to people previously and currently working in other groups who I discussed with and learned a lot from: Alexander, Caroline, Edoardo and Wen in the Jia-yi group in A10; Prof. Gunnar Gouras and his group members: Katarina, Isak, Tomas, Sabine, Laura and Emma; Dr. Oxana Klementieva and her members: Nadja and Radhika; Assoc. Prof. Maria Swanberg and her members: Itzia, Kajsa and Filip; Dr. Christian Hansen; Dr. Ulrikka Voss and Prof. Eva Ekblad.

And I also want to warmly thank **the people in B11** for the nice atmosphere on the floor, interesting discussions during lunch, the fika we had together and many other activities, such as movie nights, game nights, and – my favorite – treasure hunts. Last year and this year were difficult for enjoying social activities due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and I hope it will end soon.

I would like to thank my family for being so supportive of me. My mother, **Hongqin Cai**, for your encouragement and confidence of my independency. My father, **Tan-gen Yang**, for your patience when listening to what I have encountered and your belief in my abilities. My grandparents, for your endless love and encouragement that cheer me up. My husband, **Xin-wei Xu**, for your understanding and huge support to my work. My little one, **Wei-yi Xu**, for your lovely company and laughter in the family.

To my dear old and new friends, you are invaluable and important for me! Even though we don't meet so often, you are always there and keep me safe. To Li Lin, for giving advice and supporting me all the way along my studies from high school to now. To Hua-yi (Sandra) Gao, thanks for being a great travel buddy in the trip to Japan as well as skiing trips in Sweden. I had so many superb memories with you in this small town. To Xiao-wen Cheng, Yu-nan Zhou and Guang-qi Qin, for your great company and help both in research and life. To my mother group, Gaowa, Yiheng Du and Xin-yi, Tina, Rui-yu Lin, Wei-ying Li and other friends who also shared wonderful moments with me during my PhD: Fang-fang Yang, Jian-feng Zhou, Yuan Ou-yang, Qi-min Zhou, Hao-ran Yu and Yun-ji Zheng. Without you, I would not have enjoyed the time that I spent in Lund as much.

在此我要特别感谢我的父母、外公、外婆、奶奶,远在天堂的爷爷,你们给 予我的爱让我受用终生,是你们给我的鼓励、支持和关心让我走到了今天。 在外求学虽有许多艰辛,但在我看来都是人生成长的必修课程。在读博期间, 我有了家庭和亲爱的女儿,感谢我的爸爸妈妈还有婆婆,不远千里来到瑞典 帮助我们一起渡过艰难的时光,谢谢你们的无私奉献。在此还要感谢所有给 过我关心和帮助的老师、同学和亲人们!感谢你们的关爱和陪伴。希望新冠 疫情可以早日结束,我们可以回国与你们团聚。

References

- 1. International, A. D. World Alzheimer Report 2019: Attitudes to dementia. *London: Alzheimer's Disease International* (2019).
- Feigin, V. L. *et al.* The global burden of neurological disorders: translating evidence into policy. *Lancet Neurology* 19, 255–265 (2019).
- Giroud, M., Jacquin, A. & Béjot, Y. The worldwide landscape of stroke in the 21st century. *Lancet* 383, 195–197 (2014).
- Feigin, V. L. *et al.* Update on the Global Burden of Ischemic and Hemorrhagic Stroke in 1990-2013: The GBD 2013 Study. *Neuroepidemiology* 45, 161–176 (2015).
- 5. Donkor, E. S. Stroke in the 21st Century: A Snapshot of the Burden, Epidemiology, and Quality of Life. *Stroke Res Treat* **2018**, 3238165 (2018).
- Barker-Collo, S. *et al.* Sex Differences in Stroke Incidence, Prevalence, Mortality and Disability-Adjusted Life Years: Results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Neuroepidemiology* 45, 203–214 (2015).
- O'Donnell, M. J. *et al.* Global and regional effects of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with acute stroke in 32 countries (INTERSTROKE): a case-control study. *Lancet* 388, 761–775 (2016).
- 8. Meschia, J. F. & Brott, T. Ischaemic stroke. Eur J Neurol 25, 35-40 (2018).
- Mena, H., Cadavid, D. & Rushing, E. J. Human cerebral infarct: a proposed histopathologic classification based on 137 cases. *Acta Neuropathol* 108, 524–530 (2004).
- 10. Chalela, J. A. *et al.* Magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography in emergency assessment of patients with suspected acute stroke: a prospective comparison. *Lancet* **369**, 293–298 (2007).
- 11. Moskowitz, M. A., Lo, E. H. & Iadecola, C. The Science of Stroke: Mechanisms in Search of Treatments. *Neuron* 68, 161 (2010).
- Lerea, L. S. & McNamara, J. O. Ionotropic glutamate receptor subtypes activate c-fos transcription by distinct calcium-requiring intracellular signaling pathways. *Neuron* 10, 31–41 (1993).
- 13. Dirnagl, U. *et al.* Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. *Trends Neurosci* **22**, 391–397 (1999).
- 14. Iadecola, C. & Anrather, J. The immunology of stroke: from mechanisms to translation. *Nat Med* **17**, 796–808 (2011).
- Carden, D. L. & Granger, D. N. Pathophysiology of ischaemia–reperfusion injury. J Pathology 190, 255–266 (2000).
- Lakhan, S. E., Kirchgessner, A. & Hofer, M. Inflammatory mechanisms in ischemic stroke: therapeutic approaches. *J Transl Med* 7, 97 (2009).

- Urra, X., Cervera, Á., Villamor, N., Planas, A. M. & Chamorro, Á. Harms and benefits of lymphocyte subpopulations in patients with acute stroke. *Neuroscience* 158, 1174– 1183 (2009).
- M, P. *et al.* World Alzheimer Report 2015: The global impact of dementia: An analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends. *London: Alzheimer's Disease International* (2015).
- 19. Alzheimer, A. über eigenartige Krankheitsfälle des späteren Alters. Zeitschrift Für Die Gesamte Neurologie Und Psychiatrie 4, 356 (1911).
- Fleming, R., Zeisel, J. & (Hons), K. B. B. A. World Alzheimer Report 2020: Design, Dignity, Dementia: Dementia-related design and the built environment Volume 1. London: Alzheimer's Disease International (2020).
- 21. Association, A. 2016 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's Dementia* **12**, 459–509 (2016).
- 22. Winblad, B. *et al.* Defeating Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a priority for European science and society. *Lancet Neurology* **15**, 455–532 (2016).
- Erkkinen, M. G., Kim, M.-O. & Geschwind, M. D. Clinical Neurology and Epidemiology of the Major Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Csh Perspect Biol* 10, a033118 (2018).
- 24. Lobo, A. *et al.* Prevalence of dementia and major subtypes in Europe: A collaborative study of population-based cohorts. Neurologic Diseases in the Elderly Research Group. *Neurology* **54**, S4-9 (2000).
- 25. Kukull, W. A. *et al.* Dementia and Alzheimer Disease Incidence, A prospective Cohort Study. *Arch Neurol* **59**, 1737–1746 (2002).
- 26. Jia, J. *et al.* The prevalence of dementia in urban and rural areas of China. *Alzheimer's Dementia* **10**, 1–9 (2014).
- 27. Bekris, L. M., Yu, C.-E., Bird, T. D. & Tsuang, D. W. Genetics of Alzheimer Disease. *J Geriatr Psych Neur* 23, 213–227 (2010).
- Viña, J. & Lloret, A. Why Women Have More Alzheimer's Disease Than Men: Gender and Mitochondrial Toxicity of Amyloid-β Peptide. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 20, S527–S533 (2010).
- 29. Villa, A., Torre, S. D. & Maggi, A. Sexual differentiation of microglia. *Front Neuroendocrin* **52**, 156–164 (2018).
- 30. Guneykaya, D. *et al.* Transcriptional and Translational Differences of Microglia from Male and Female Brains. *Cell Reports* **24**, 2773-2783.e6 (2018).
- 31. Smith, R. *et al.* The accumulation rate of tau aggregates is higher in females and younger amyloid-positive subjects. *Brain* **143**, 3805–3815 (2020).
- Campion, D. *et al.* Early-Onset Autosomal Dominant Alzheimer Disease: Prevalence, Genetic Heterogeneity, and Mutation Spectrum. *Am J Hum Genetics* 65, 664–670 (1999).
- Waring, S. C. & Rosenberg, R. N. Genome-Wide Association Studies in Alzheimer Disease. Arch Neurol-chicago 65, 329–334 (2008).
- Zetterberg, H. & Mattsson, N. Understanding the cause of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Rev Neurother* 14, 621–630 (2014).
- 35. Braak, H. & Braak, E. Frequency of Stages of Alzheimer-Related Lesions in Different Age Categories. *Neurobiol Aging* **18**, 351–357 (1997).

- Guttmacher, A. E., Collins, F. S., Nussbaum, R. L. & Ellis, C. E. Alzheimer's Disease and Parkinson's Disease. *New Engl J Medicine* 348, 1356–1364 (2003).
- Goedert, M. & Spillantini, M. G. A Century of Alzheimer9s Disease. Science 314, 777–781 (2006).
- Glenner, G. G., Wong, C. W., Quaranta, V. & Eanes, E. D. The amyloid deposits in Alzheimer's disease: their nature and pathogenesis. *Appl Pathology* 2, 357–69 (1984).
- 39. Iwatsubo, T. *et al.* Visualization of A beta 42(43) and A beta 40 in senile plaques with end-specific A beta monoclonals: evidence that an initially deposited species is A beta 42(43). *Neuron* **13**, 45–53 (1994).
- 40. Giaccone, G. *et al.* Down patients: Extracellular preamyloid deposits precede neuritic degeneration and senile plaques. *Neurosci Lett* **97**, 232–238 (1989).
- 41. Lemere, C. A. *et al.* Sequence of deposition of heterogeneous amyloid beta-peptides and APO E in Down syndrome: implications for initial events in amyloid plaque formation. *Neurobiol Dis* **3**, 16–32 (1996).
- 42. Kang, J. *et al.* The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. *Nature* **325**, 733–736 (1987).
- Turner, P. R., O'Connor, K., Tate, W. P. & Abraham, W. C. Roles of amyloid precursor protein and its fragments in regulating neural activity, plasticity and memory. *Prog Neurobiol* **70**, 1–32 (2003).
- 44. Priller, C. *et al.* Synapse Formation and Function Is Modulated by the Amyloid Precursor Protein. *J Neurosci* **26**, 7212–7221 (2006).
- 45. Devi, L., Prabhu, B. M., Galati, D. F., Avadhani, N. G. & Anandatheerthavarada, H. K. Accumulation of Amyloid Precursor Protein in the Mitochondrial Import Channels of Human Alzheimer's Disease Brain Is Associated with Mitochondrial Dysfunction. J Neurosci 26, 9057–9068 (2006).
- 46. Anandatheerthavarada, H. K., Biswas, G., Robin, M.-A. & Avadhani, N. G. Mitochondrial targeting and a novel transmembrane arrest of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein impairs mitochondrial function in neuronal cells. *J Cell Biology* 161, 41–54 (2003).
- Walter, J., Kaether, C., Steiner, H. & Haass, C. The cell biology of Alzheimer's disease: uncovering the secrets of secretases. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 11, 585–590 (2001).
- 48. Sastre, M. *et al.* Presenilin-dependent gamma-secretase processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein at a site corresponding to the S3 cleavage of Notch. *Embo Rep* **2**, 835–41 (2001).
- 49. Cai, H. *et al.* BACE1 is the major β-secretase for generation of Aβ peptides by neurons. *Nat Neurosci* **4**, 233–234 (2001).
- 50. Scheuner, D. *et al.* Secreted amyloid beta-protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Med* **2**, 864–70 (1996).
- 51. Golde, T. E., Eckman, C. B. & Younkin, S. G. Biochemical detection of Aβ isoforms: implications for pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta Bba* - *Mol Basis Dis* **1502**, 172–187 (2000).
- 52. Bentahir, M. *et al.* Presenilin clinical mutations can affect γ-secretase activity by different mechanisms. *J Neurochem* **96**, 732–742 (2006).

- 53. Tanzi, R. E. The Genetics of Alzheimer Disease. Csh Perspect Med 2, a006296 (2012).
- Kosik, K. S., Bakalis, S. F., Selkoe, D. J., Pierce, M. W. & Duffy, L. K. High molecular weight microtubule-associated proteins: Purification by electro-elution and amino acid compositions. *J Neurosci Res* 15, 543–551 (1986).
- 55. Wood, J. G., Mirra, S. S., Pollock, N. J. & Binder, L. I. Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubule-associated protein tau (tau). *Proc National Acad Sci* **83**, 4040–4043 (1986).
- 56. Braak, H. & Braak, E. Demonstration of Amyloid Deposits and Neurofibrillary Changes in Whole Brain Sections. *Brain Pathol* **1**, 213–216 (1991).
- Buée, L., Bussière, T., Buée-Scherrer, V., Delacourte, A. & Hof, P. R. Tau protein isoforms, phosphorylation and role in neurodegenerative disorders. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* 33, 95–130 (2000).
- 58. Ballatore, C., Lee, V. M.-Y. & Trojanowski, J. Q. Tau-mediated neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **8**, 663–672 (2007).
- Kolarova, M., García-Sierra, F., Bartos, A., Ricny, J. & Ripova, D. Structure and Pathology of Tau Protein in Alzheimer Disease. *Int J Alzheimer's Dis* 2012, 731526 (2012).
- 60. Thal, D. R., Capetillo-Zarate, E., Tredici, K. D. & Braak, H. The Development of Amyloid beta Protein Deposits in the Aged Brain. *Sci Aging Knowl Environ* **2006**, re1 (2006).
- Alonzo, N. C., Hyman, B. T., Rebeck, G. W. & Greenberg, S. M. Progression of Cerebral Amyloid Angiopathy: Accumulation of Amyloid-β40 in Affected Vessels. J Neuropathology Exp Neurology 57, 353–359 (1998).
- 62. Mann, D. M. A. *et al.* Immunocytochemical profile of neurofibrillary tangles in Down's syndrome patients of different ages. *J Neurol Sci* **92**, 247–260 (1989).
- 63. Thal, D. R. & Braak, H. [Post-mortem diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease]. *Der Pathologe* **26**, 201–13 (2005).
- 64. Lowe, V. J. *et al.* Neuroimaging correlates with neuropathologic schemes in neurodegenerative disease. *Alzheimer's Dementia* **15**, 927–939 (2019).
- 65. Matthews, F. E. *et al.* Epidemiological Pathology of Dementia: Attributable-Risks at Death in the Medical Research Council Cognitive Function and Ageing Study. *Plos Med* **6**, e1000180 (2009).
- 66. SantaCruz, K. S. *et al.* Alzheimer Disease Pathology in Subjects Without Dementia in 2 Studies of Aging: The Nun Study and the Adult Changes in Thought Study. *J Neuropathology Exp Neurology* **70**, 832–840 (2011).
- 67. Ballard, C. et al. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 377, 1019-1031 (2011).
- 68. Gatz, M. *et al.* Role of Genes and Environments for Explaining Alzheimer Disease. *Arch Gen Psychiat* **63**, 168–174 (2006).
- 69. Janssen, J. C. *et al.* Early onset familial Alzheimer's disease: Mutation frequency in 31 families. *Neurology* **60**, 235–239 (2003).
- 70. Ryan, N. S. *et al.* Clinical phenotype and genetic associations in autosomal dominant familial Alzheimer's disease: a case series. *Lancet Neurology* **15**, 1326–1335 (2016).
- 71. Raux, G. *et al.* Molecular diagnosis of autosomal dominant early onset Alzheimer's disease: an update. *J Med Genet* **42**, 793 (2005).
- 72. Goldman, J. S. & Hou, C. E. Early-Onset Alzheimer Disease. *Alz Dis Assoc Dis* 18, 65–67 (2004).

- 73. Theuns, J. *et al.* Genetic variability in the regulatory region of presenilin 1 associated with risk for Alzheimer's disease and variable expression. *Hum Mol Genet* **9**, 325–331 (2000).
- Citron, M. *et al.* Mutant presenilins of Alzheimer's disease increase production of 42-residue amyloid beta-protein in both transfected cells and transgenic mice. *Nat Med* 3, 67–72 (1997).
- 75. Sherrington, R. *et al.* Alzheimer's Disease Associated with Mutations in Presenilin 2 is Rare and Variably Penetrant. *Hum Mol Genet* **5**, 985–988 (1996).
- 76. Corder, E. *et al.* Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. *Science* **261**, 921–923 (1993).
- 77. Tang, M. X. *et al.* Relative risk of Alzheimer disease and age-at-onset distributions, based on APOE genotypes among elderly African Americans, Caucasians, and Hispanics in New York City. *Am J Hum Genet* 58, 574–84 (1996).
- 78. Silva, M. V. F. *et al.* Alzheimer's disease: Risk factors and potentially protective measures. *J Biomed Sci* **26**, 1--11 (2019).
- 79. CORBO, R. M. & SCACCHI, R. Apolipoprotein E (APOE) allele distribution in the world. Is APOE*4 a 'thrifty' allele? *Ann Hum Genet* **63**, 301–310 (1999).
- Mahley, R. W., Weisgraber, K. H. & Huang, Y. Apolipoprotein E4: A causative factor and therapeutic target in neuropathology, including Alzheimer's disease. *Proc National Acad Sci* 103, 5644–5651 (2006).
- Karch, C. M. & Goate, A. M. Alzheimer's Disease Risk Genes and Mechanisms of Disease Pathogenesis. *Biol Psychiat* 77, 43–51 (2015).
- 82. Poirier, J. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* **342**, 697–699 (1993).
- Farrer, L. A. *et al.* Effects of Age, Sex, and Ethnicity on the Association Between Apolipoprotein E Genotype and Alzheimer Disease: A Meta-analysis. *Jama* 278, 1349–1356 (1997).
- 84. Mayeux, R. *et al.* The apolipoprotein epsilon 4 allele in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol* **34**, 752–4 (1993).
- 85. Genetic heterogeneity & environmental interaction in the association between Alzheimer's disease and apolipoprotein-E R Mayeux, G Maestre, R Ottman, Y Stern, B Gurland, M Chun, M-X Tang, M Shelanski, B Tycko. Gertrude H. Sergievsky Center, Centers for Alzheimer's Disease Research in the City of New York and for Geriatrics & Gerontology; and the Departments of Neurology, Psychiatry and Pathology, Columbia University, New York, New York 10032 USA. *Neurobiol Aging* 15, S73 (1994).
- 86. Ridge, P. G. et al. ASSESSMENT OF THE GENETIC VARIANCE OF LATE-ONSET ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE. Alzheimer's Dementia 12, P849–P850 (2016).
- Singaraja, R. TREM2: a new risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *Clin Genet* 83, 525–526 (2013).
- Guerreiro, R. *et al.* TREM2 Variants in Alzheimer's Disease. *New Engl J Medicine* 368, 117–127 (2013).
- Carmona, S. *et al.* The role of TREM2 in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Lancet Neurology* 17, 721–730 (2018).
- 90. Linnartz-Gerlach, B. *et al.* TREM2 triggers microglial density and age-related neuronal loss. *Glia* 67, 539–550 (2019).

- 91. Xiang, X. *et al.* TREM2 deficiency reduces the efficacy of immunotherapeutic amyloid clearance. *Embo Mol Med* **8**, 992–1004 (2016).
- Yuan, P. *et al.* TREM2 Haplodeficiency in Mice and Humans Impairs the Microglia Barrier Function Leading to Decreased Amyloid Compaction and Severe Axonal Dystrophy. *Neuron* **90**, 724–739 (2016).
- 93. Wang, Y. *et al.* TREM2-mediated early microglial response limits diffusion and toxicity of amyloid plaquesTREM2-mediated microglial response in AD. *J Exp Medicine* **213**, 667–675 (2016).
- 94. Naj, A. C. *et al.* Common variants at MS4A4/MS4A6E, CD2AP, CD33 and EPHA1 are associated with late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* **43**, 436–441 (2011).
- 95. Steinberg, S. *et al.* Loss-of-function variants in ABCA7 confer risk of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* **47**, 445–447 (2015).
- 96. Sassi, C. *et al.* ABCA7 p.G215S as potential protective factor for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* **46**, 235.e1-235.e9 (2016).
- 97. Knopman, D. S. *et al.* Midlife vascular risk factors and midlife cognitive status in relation to prevalence of mild cognitive impairment and dementia in later life: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. *Alzheimer's Dementia* **14**, 1406–1415 (2018).
- 98. Gottesman, R. F. *et al.* Association Between Midlife Vascular Risk Factors and Estimated Brain Amyloid Deposition. *Jama* **317**, 1443–1450 (2017).
- 99. Luchsinger, J. A. *et al.* Aggregation of vascular risk factors and risk of incident Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* **65**, 545–551 (2005).
- 100. Li, J. *et al.* Vascular risk factors promote conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* **76**, 1485–91 (2011).
- 101. Love, S. & Miners, J. S. Cerebrovascular disease in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol* **131**, 645–658 (2016).
- 102. Miners, J. S., Palmer, J. C. & Love, S. Pathophysiology of Hypoperfusion of the Precuneus in Early Alzheimer's Disease: Hypoperfusion of Precuneus in Alzheimer's Disease. *Brain Pathol* 26, 533–541 (2015).
- 103. Dublin, S. *et al.* Atrial Fibrillation and Risk of Dementia: A Prospective Cohort Study: ATRIAL FIBRILLATION AND DEMENTIA. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 59, 1369– 1375 (2011).
- 104. Hofman, A. *et al.* Atherosclerosis, apolipoprotein E, and prevalence of dementia and Alzheimer's disease in the Rotterdam Study. *Lancet* **349**, 151–154 (1997).
- 105. Tolppanen, A.-M. *et al.* Midlife and Late-Life Body Mass Index and Late-Life Dementia: Results from a Prospective Population-Based Cohort. *J Alzheimer's Dis* 38, 201–209 (2014).
- 106. Bellou, V. *et al.* Systematic evaluation of the associations between environmental risk factors and dementia: An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Alzheimer's Dementia* 13, 406–418 (2017).
- 107. McCarron, M. O., Delong, D. & Alberts, M. J. APOE genotype as a risk factor for ischemic cerebrovascular disease: A meta-analysis. *Neurology* 53, 1308–1308 (1999).
- 108. Villegas-Llerena, C., Phillips, A., Reitboeck, P. G., Hardy, J. & Pocock, J. M. Microglial genes regulating neuroinflammation in the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 36, 74–81 (2016).

- 109. Neuner, S. M., TCW, J. & Goate, A. M. Genetic architecture of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 143, 104976 (2020).
- 110. Novikova, G. *et al.* Integration of Alzheimer's disease genetics and myeloid genomics identifies disease risk regulatory elements and genes. *Nat Commun* **12**, 1610 (2021).
- 111. Jonsson, T. *et al.* Variant of TREM2 Associated with the Risk of Alzheimer's Disease. *New Engl J Med* **368**, 107–116 (2013).
- 112. Roussotte, F. F. *et al.* Combined Effects of Alzheimer Risk Variants in the CLU and ApoE Genes on Ventricular Expansion Patterns in the Elderly. *J Neurosci* **34**, 6537–6545 (2014).
- 113. Jun, G. *et al.* Meta-analysis Confirms CR1, CLU, and PICALM as Alzheimer Disease Risk Loci and Reveals Interactions With APOE Genotypes. *Arch Neurol-chicago* 67, 1473–1484 (2010).
- 114. Lu, F.-P., Lin, K.-P. & Kuo, H.-K. Diabetes and the Risk of Multi-System Aging Phenotypes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Plos One* **4**, e4144 (2009).
- 115. Beydoun, M. A., Beydoun, H. A. & Wang, Y. Obesity and central obesity as risk factors for incident dementia and its subtypes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev* 9, 204–218 (2008).
- 116. Hamer, M. & Chida, Y. Physical activity and risk of neurodegenerative disease: a systematic review of prospective evidence. *Psychol Med* **39**, 3–11 (2009).
- 117. Stern, Y. *et al.* Influence of Education and Occupation on the Incidence of Alzheimer's Disease. *Jama* **271**, 1004–1010 (1994).
- 118. Helmer, C. *et al.* Occupation during life and risk of dementia in French elderly community residents. *J Neurology Neurosurg Psychiatry* **71**, 303 (2001).
- 119. Stern, Y. Influence of education and occupation on the incidence of Alzheimer's disease. *Jama J Am Medical Assoc* **271**, 1004–1010 (1994).
- Weissenborn, R. & Duka, T. Acute alcohol effects on cognitive function in social drinkers: their relationship to drinking habits. *Psychopharmacology* 165, 306–312 (2003).
- 121. Steenland, K. *et al.* Late-Life Depression as a Risk Factor for Mild Cognitive Impairment or Alzheimer's Disease in 30 US Alzheimer's Disease Centers. *J Alzheimer's Dis* **31**, 265–275 (2012).
- 122. Barnes, D. E. *et al.* Midlife vs Late-Life Depressive Symptoms and Risk of Dementia: Differential Effects for Alzheimer Disease and Vascular Dementia. *Arch Gen Psychiat* 69, 493–498 (2012).
- Wu, M. *et al.* Smoking and alcohol drinking increased the risk of esophageal cancer among Chinese men but not women in a high-risk population. *Cancer Cause Control* 22, 649–657 (2011).
- 124. Edwards, G. A., Gamez, N., Escobedo, G., Calderon, O. & Moreno-Gonzalez, I. Modifiable risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci* 11, 1--18 (2019).
- 125. Johnson, V. E., Stewart, W. & Smith, D. H. Widespread τ and amyloid-β pathology many years after a single traumatic brain injury in humans. *Brain Pathology Zurich Switz* 22, 142–9 (2011).
- 126. Nordström, A. & Nordström, P. Traumatic brain injury and the risk of dementia diagnosis: A nationwide cohort study. *Plos Med* 15, e1002496 (2018).

- 127. Vossel, K. A. *et al.* Seizures and Epileptiform Activity in the Early Stages of Alzheimer Disease. *Jama Neurol* **70**, 1158–1166 (2013).
- 128. Vossel, K. A. *et al.* Incidence and impact of subclinical epileptiform activity in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol* **80**, 858–870 (2016).
- 129. Cretin, B. *et al.* Epileptic Prodromal Alzheimer's Disease, a Retrospective Study of 13 New Cases: Expanding the Spectrum of Alzheimer's Disease to an Epileptic Variant? *J Alzheimer's Dis* **52**, 1125–1133 (2016).
- 130. Ennis, G. E. *et al.* Long-term cortisol measures predict Alzheimer disease risk. *Neurology* **88**, 371–378 (2017).
- 131. Almondes, K. M. de, Costa, M. V., Malloy-Diniz, L. F. & Diniz, B. S. Insomnia and risk of dementia in older adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Psychiatr Res* 77, 109–115 (2016).
- 132. Shi, L. *et al.* Sleep disturbances increase the risk of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev* **40**, 4–16 (2018).
- 133. Sochocka, M., Zwolińska, K. & Leszek, J. The Infectious Etiology of Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr Neuropharmacol* **15**, (2017).
- 134. Monroe, S. M., Slavich, G. M., Torres, L. D. & Gotlib, I. H. Major Life Events and Major Chronic Difficulties Are Differentially Associated With History of Major Depressive Episodes. *J Abnorm Psychol* **116**, 116–124 (2007).
- 135. Hebert, L. E., Weuve, J., Scherr, P. A. & Evans, D. A. Alzheimer disease in the United States (2010–2050) estimated using the 2010 census. *Neurology* 80, 1778– 1783 (2013).
- 136. Diniz, B. S., Butters, M. A., Albert, S. M., Dew, M. A. & Reynolds, C. F. Late-life depression and risk of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of community-based cohort studies. *Brit J Psychiat* 202, 329–335 (2013).
- 137. Fernandez, G. M. & Savage, L. M. Adolescent binge ethanol exposure alters specific forebrain cholinergic cell populations and leads to selective functional deficits in the prefrontal cortex. *Neuroscience* 361, 129–143 (2017).
- 138. Vetreno, R. P. & Crews, F. T. Adolescent binge ethanol-induced loss of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons and neuroimmune activation are prevented by exercise and indomethacin. *Plos One* **13**, e0204500 (2018).
- 139. Heymann, D. *et al.* The Association Between Alcohol Use and the Progression of Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res* **13**, 1356–1362 (2016).
- 140. Oddo, S. *et al.* Chronic nicotine administration exacerbates tau pathology in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. *P Natl Acad Sci Usa* **102**, 3046–3051 (2005).
- 141. Deng, J. *et al.* Nicotine exacerbates tau phosphorylation and cognitive impairment induced by amyloid-beta 25–35 in rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* **637**, 83–88 (2010).
- 142. Moreno-Gonzalez, I., Estrada, L. D., Sanchez-Mejias, E. & Soto, C. Smoking exacerbates amyloid pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Commun* **4**, 1495 (2013).
- 143. Scarmeas, N. *et al.* Mediterranean Diet and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Arch Neurolchicago* **66**, 216–225 (2009).

- 144. Wilde, M. C., Vellas, B., Girault, E., Yavuz, A. C. & Sijben, J. W. Lower brain and blood nutrient status in Alzheimer's disease: Results from meta-analyses. *Alzheimer's Dementia Transl Res Clin Interventions* **3**, 416–431 (2017).
- 145. Norton, S., Matthews, F. E., Barnes, D. E., Yaffe, K. & Brayne, C. Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population-based data. *Lancet Neurology* 13, 788–794 (2014).
- 146. Davis, K. L. & Powchik, P. Tacrine. Lancet Lond Engl 345, 625-30 (1995).
- 147. Davies, P. & Maloney, A. J. F. SELECTIVE LOSS OF CENTRAL CHOLINERGIC NEURONS IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE. *Lancet* **308**, 1403 (1976).
- 148. Fotiou, D., Kaltsatou, A., Tsiptsios, D. & Nakou, M. Evaluation of the cholinergic hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease with neuropsychological methods. *Aging Clin Exp Res* 27, 727–733 (2015).
- 149. Ferreira-Vieira, T. H., Guimaraes, I. M., Silva, F. R. & Ribeiro, F. M. Alzheimer's disease: Targeting the Cholinergic System. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 14, 101–15 (2016).
- 150. Håkansson, L. Mechanism of action of cholinesterase inhibitors in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand* **88**, 7–9 (2009).
- 151. O'Regan, J., Lanctôt, K. L., Mazereeuw, G. & Herrmann, N. Cholinesterase inhibitor discontinuation in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Clin Psychiatry* 76, e1424-31 (2015).
- 152. Deardorff, W. J., Feen, E. & Grossberg, G. T. The Use of Cholinesterase Inhibitors Across All Stages of Alzheimer's Disease. *Drug Aging* **32**, 537–547 (2015).
- 153. Bullock, R. *et al.* Rivastigmine and donepezil treatment in moderate to moderatelysevere Alzheimer's disease over a 2-year period. *Curr Med Res Opin* **21**, 1317–1327 (2005).
- 154. Wilcock, G. *et al.* A Long-Term Comparison of Galantamine and Donepezil in the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Drug Aging* **20**, 777–789 (2003).
- 155. Schneider, L. S. A critical review of cholinesterase inhibitors as a treatment modality in Alzheimer's disease. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* **2**, 111–28 (2000).
- 156. Knight, R., Khondoker, M., Magill, N., Stewart, R. & Landau, S. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Effectiveness of Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors and Memantine in Treating the Cognitive Symptoms of Dementia. *Dement Geriatr Cogn* 45, 131–151 (2018).
- 157. Liu, P.-P., Xie, Y., Meng, X.-Y. & Kang, J.-S. History and progress of hypotheses and clinical trials for Alzheimer's disease. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* 4, 29 (2019).
- 158. Glenner, G. G. & Wong, C. W. Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome: Sharing of a unique cerebrovascular amyloid fibril protein. *Biochem Bioph Res Co* **122**, 1131–1135 (1984).
- 159. Hardy, J. & Higgins, G. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Science* **256**, 184–185 (1992).
- 160. Katzman, R. *et al.* Clinical, pathological, and neurochemical changes in dementia: A subgroup with preserved mental status and numerous neocortical plaques. *Ann Neurol* 23, 138–144 (1988).
- Iacono, D. *et al.* Neuronal Hypertrophy in Asymptomatic Alzheimer Disease. J Neuropathology Exp Neurology 67, 578–589 (2008).

- 162. Aizenstein, H. J. *et al.* Frequent Amyloid Deposition Without Significant Cognitive Impairment Among the Elderly. *Arch Neurol-chicago* **65**, 1509–1517 (2008).
- 163. Villemagne, V. L. *et al.* Longitudinal assessment of Aβ and cognition in aging and Alzheimer disease. *Ann Neurol* **69**, 181–192 (2011).
- 164. Price, J. L., Davis, P. B., Morris, J. C. & White, D. L. The distribution of tangles, plaques and related immunohistochemical markers in healthy aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 12, 295–312 (1991).
- 165. Braak, H. & Braak, E. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. *Acta Neuropathol* **82**, 239–259 (1991).
- 166. Schönheit, B., Zarski, R. & Ohm, T. G. Spatial and temporal relationships between plaques and tangles in Alzheimer-pathology. *Neurobiol Aging* **25**, 697–711 (2004).
- 167. Sevigny, J. *et al.* The antibody aducanumab reduces Aβ plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* **537**, 50–56 (2016).
- 168. Ostrowitzki, S. *et al.* A phase III randomized trial of gantenerumab in prodromal Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Res Ther* **9**, 95 (2017).
- 169. Honig, L. S. *et al.* Trial of Solanezumab for Mild Dementia Due to Alzheimer's Disease. *New Engl J Medicine* **378**, 321–330 (2018).
- 170. Yang, T. *et al.* Target engagement in an alzheimer trial: Crenezumab lowers amyloid β oligomers in cerebrospinal fluid. *Ann Neurol* **86**, 215–224 (2019).
- 171. Racine, A. M. *et al.* Cerebrospinal fluid ratios with Aβ42 predict preclinical brain βamyloid accumulation. *Alzheimer's Dementia Diagnosis Assess Dis Monit* 2, 27–38 (2016).
- 172. Brier, M. R. *et al.* Tau and Aβ imaging, CSF measures, and cognition in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Transl Med* **8**, 338ra66-338ra66 (2016).
- 173. Bejanin, A. *et al.* Tau pathology and neurodegeneration contribute to cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain J Neurology* **140**, 3286–3300 (2017).
- 174. Di, J. *et al.* Abnormal tau induces cognitive impairment through two different mechanisms: synaptic dysfunction and neuronal loss. *Sci Rep-uk* **6**, 20833 (2016).
- 175. Braak, H. & Tredici, K. D. Neuroanatomy and Pathology of Sporadic Alzheimer's Disease. *Adv Anat Embryology Cell Biology* 3–14 (2014) doi:10.1007/978-3-319-12679-1_2.
- 176. Gauthier, S. *et al.* Efficacy and safety of tau-aggregation inhibitor therapy in patients with mild or moderate Alzheimer's disease: a randomised, controlled, double-blind, parallel-arm, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* **388**, 2873–2884 (2016).
- 177. Novak, P. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of the tau vaccine AADvac1 in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 1 trial. *Lancet Neurology* **16**, 123–134 (2016).
- 178. Li, C. & Götz, J. Tau-based therapies in neurodegeneration: opportunities and challenges. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 16, 863–883 (2017).
- 179. Wilcock, G. K. *et al.* Potential of Low Dose Leuco-Methylthioninium Bis(Hydromethanesulphonate) (LMTM) Monotherapy for Treatment of Mild Alzheimer's Disease: Cohort Analysis as Modified Primary Outcome in a Phase III Clinical Trial. *J Alzheimer's Dis Jad* 61, 435–457 (2018).
- 180. Pihlgren, M. et al. EFFICACY OF ACI-35, A LIPOSOMAL ANTI-PHOSPHO TAU VACCINE IN TWO DIFFERENT MOUSE MODELS OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE. Alzheimer's Dementia 12, P260–P261 (2016).

- 181. Novak, P. *et al.* FUNDAMANT: an interventional 72-week phase 1 follow-up study of AADvac1, an active immunotherapy against tau protein pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Res Ther* **10**, 108 (2018).
- 182. DiSabato, D. J., Quan, N. & Godbout, J. P. Neuroinflammation: the devil is in the details. *J Neurochem* 139, 136–153 (2016).
- 183. Tohidpour, A. *et al.* Neuroinflammation and infection: Molecular mechanisms associated with dysfunction of neurovascular unit. *Front Cell Infect Mi* 7, (2017).
- 184. Togo, T. *et al.* Occurrence of T cells in the brain of Alzheimer's disease and other neurological diseases. *J Neuroimmunol* **124**, 83–92 (2002).
- 185. Hanisch, U.-K. & Kettenmann, H. Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. *Nat Neurosci* **10**, 1387–1394 (2007).
- Schwartz, M. & Shechter, R. Systemic inflammatory cells fight off neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Neurol* 6, 405–410 (2010).
- 187. Louveau, A., Harris, T. H. & Kipnis, J. Revisiting the Mechanisms of CNS Immune Privilege. *Trends Immunol* **36**, 569–577 (2015).
- 188. Petersen, M. A. & Dailey, M. E. Diverse microglial motility behaviors during clearance of dead cells in hippocampal slices. *Glia* **46**, 195–206 (2004).
- 189. Chen, W. *et al.* Increased tauopathy drives microglia-mediated clearance of betaamyloid. *Acta Neuropathologica Commun* **4**, 63 (2016).
- 190. Jin, X. & Yamashita, T. Microglia in central nervous system repair after injury. *J* Biochem 159, 491–496 (2016).
- 191. Khoury, J. E. *et al.* Ccr2 deficiency impairs microglial accumulation and accelerates progression of Alzheimer-like disease. *Nat Med* **13**, 432–438 (2007).
- 192. Butovsky, O., Kunis, G., Koronyo-Hamaoui, M. & Schwartz, M. Selective ablation of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells increases amyloid plaques in a mouse Alzheimer's disease model. *Eur J Neurosci* 26, 413–416 (2007).
- 193. Ellwardt, E., Walsh, J. T., Kipnis, J. & Zipp, F. Understanding the Role of T Cells in CNS Homeostasis. *Trends Immunol* **37**, 154–165 (2016).
- 194. Mogi, M. *et al.* Tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α) increases both in the brain and in the cerebrospinal fluid from parkinsonian patients. *Neurosci Lett* 165, 208–210 (1994).
- 195. Qin, L. *et al.* Microglia enhance β-amyloid peptide-induced toxicity in cortical and mesencephalic neurons by producing reactive oxygen species. *J Neurochem* 83, 973– 983 (2002).
- 196. Weydt, P., Yuen, E. C., Ransom, B. R. & Möller, T. Increased cytotoxic potential of microglia from ALS-transgenic mice: Cytotoxicity of Microglia From ALS-Transgenic Mice. *Glia* 48, 179–182 (2004).
- 197. Jellinger, K. A. Prevalence of cerebrovascular lesions in Parkinson's disease. A postmortem study. *Acta Neuropathol* **105**, 415–419 (2003).
- 198. Labzin, L. I., Heneka, M. T. & Latz, E. Innate Immunity and Neurodegeneration. *Annu Rev Med* (2018) doi:10.1146/annurev-med-050715-104343.
- 199. Sierra, A. *et al.* The "Big-Bang" for modern glial biology: Translation and comments on Pío del Río-Hortega 1919 series of papers on microglia: 1919 Río-Hortega Papers on Microglia. *Glia* **64**, 1801–1840 (2016).

- 200. Lawson, L. J., Perry, V. H., Dri, P. & Gordon, S. Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience* **39**, 151–170 (1990).
- 201. Ginhoux, F. *et al.* Fate Mapping Analysis Reveals That Adult Microglia Derive from Primitive Macrophages. *Science* **330**, 841–845 (2010).
- 202. Perdiguero, E. G. *et al.* Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. *Nature* **518**, 547–551 (2015).
- 203. Réu, P. *et al.* The Lifespan and Turnover of Microglia in the Human Brain. *Cell Reports* **20**, 779–784 (2017).
- 204. Schulz, C. *et al.* A Lineage of Myeloid Cells Independent of Myb and Hematopoietic Stem Cells. *Science* **336**, 86–90 (2012).
- 205. Kierdorf, K. *et al.* Microglia emerge from erythromyeloid precursors via Pu.1- and Irf8-dependent pathways. *Nat Neurosci* **16**, 273–280 (2013).
- 206. Muffat, J. *et al.* Efficient derivation of microglia-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Med* **22**, 1358–1367 (2016).
- 207. Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F. & Helmchen, F. Resting Microglial Cells Are Highly Dynamic Surveillants of Brain Parenchyma in Vivo. *Science* **308**, 1314–1318 (2005).
- 208. Wake, H., Moorhouse, A. J., Jinno, S., Kohsaka, S. & Nabekura, J. Resting Microglia Directly Monitor the Functional State of Synapses In Vivo and Determine the Fate of Ischemic Terminals. *J Neurosci* 29, 3974–3980 (2009).
- 209. Um, J. W. Roles of Glial Cells in Sculpting Inhibitory Synapses and Neural Circuits. *Front Mol Neurosci* **10**, 381 (2017).
- 210. Basilico, B. *et al.* Microglia shape presynaptic properties at developing glutamatergic synapses. *Glia* **67**, 53–67 (2019).
- 211. Andoh, M. & Koyama, R. Microglia regulate synaptic development and plasticity. *Dev Neurobiol* (2021) doi:10.1002/dneu.22814.
- 212. Herzog, C. *et al.* Rapid clearance of cellular debris by microglia limits secondary neuronal cell death after brain injury in vivo. *Development* **146**, dev174698 (2019).
- 213. Block, M. L., Zecca, L. & Hong, J.-S. Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **8**, 57–69 (2007).
- 214. Welser-Alves, J. V. & Milner, R. Microglia are the major source of TNF- α and TGF- β 1 in postnatal glial cultures; regulation by cytokines, lipopolysaccharide, and vitronectin. *Neurochem Int* **63**, 47–53 (2013).
- 215. Miller, E. B., Zhang, P., Ching, K., Pugh, E. N. & Burns, M. E. In vivo imaging reveals transient microglia recruitment and functional recovery of photoreceptor signaling after injury. *Proc National Acad Sci* **116**, 16603–16612 (2019).
- 216. Parkhurst, C. N. *et al.* Microglia Promote Learning-Dependent Synapse Formation through Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor. *Cell* **155**, 1596–1609 (2013).
- 217. Wang, C. *et al.* Microglia mediate forgetting via complement-dependent synaptic elimination. *Science* **367**, 688–694 (2020).
- 218. Cunningham, C. L., Martínez-Cerdeño, V. & Noctor, S. C. Microglia Regulate the Number of Neural Precursor Cells in the Developing Cerebral Cortex. *J Neurosci* 33, 4216–4233 (2013).
- 219. Ueno, M. *et al.* Layer V cortical neurons require microglial support for survival during postnatal development. *Nat Neurosci* **16**, 543–551 (2013).

- 220. Marín-Teva, J. L. *et al.* Microglia Promote the Death of Developing Purkinje Cells. *Neuron* **41**, 535–547 (2004).
- 221. Wakselman, S. *et al.* Developmental Neuronal Death in Hippocampus Requires the Microglial CD11b Integrin and DAP12 Immunoreceptor. *J Neurosci* 28, 8138–8143 (2008).
- 222. Stevens, B. *et al.* The Classical Complement Cascade Mediates CNS Synapse Elimination. *Cell* **131**, 1164–1178 (2007).
- 223. Schafer, D. P. *et al.* Microglia Sculpt Postnatal Neural Circuits in an Activity and Complement-Dependent Manner. *Neuron* 74, 691–705 (2012).
- 224. Stephan, A. H., Barres, B. A. & Stevens, B. The Complement System: An Unexpected Role in Synaptic Pruning During Development and Disease. *Neuroscience* **35**, 369–389 (2012).
- 225. Paolicelli, R. C. *et al.* Synaptic Pruning by Microglia Is Necessary for Normal Brain Development. *Science* **333**, 1456–1458 (2011).
- 226. Hoshiko, M., Arnoux, I., Avignone, E., Yamamoto, N. & Audinat, E. Deficiency of the Microglial Receptor CX3CR1 Impairs Postnatal Functional Development of Thalamocortical Synapses in the Barrel Cortex. *J Neurosci* **32**, 15106–15111 (2012).
- 227. Pont-Lezica, L. *et al.* Microglia shape corpus callosum axon tract fasciculation: functional impact of prenatal inflammation. *Eur J Neurosci* **39**, 1551–1557 (2014).
- 228. Squarzoni, P. *et al.* Microglia Modulate Wiring of the Embryonic Forebrain. *Cell Reports* **8**, 1271–1279 (2014).
- 229. Sheridan, G. K. & Murphy, K. J. Neuron–glia crosstalk in health and disease: fractalkine and CX3CR1 take centre stage. *Open Biol* **3**, 130181 (2013).
- Szepesi, Z., Manouchehrian, O., Bachiller, S. & Deierborg, T. Bidirectional Microglia–Neuron Communication in Health and Disease. *Front Cell Neurosci* 12, 323 (2018).
- 231. Liu, Y. U. *et al.* Neuronal network activity controls microglial process surveillance in awake mice via norepinephrine signaling. *Nat Neurosci* 22, 1771–1781 (2019).
- 232. Stowell, R. D. *et al.* Noradrenergic signaling in the wakeful state inhibits microglial surveillance and synaptic plasticity in the mouse visual cortex. *Nat Neurosci* **22**, 1782–1792 (2019).
- 233. Davalos, D. *et al.* ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. *Nat Neurosci* **8**, 752–758 (2005).
- Takizawa, T. *et al.* High-mobility group box 1 is an important mediator of microglial activation induced by cortical spreading depression. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metabolism* 37, 890–901 (2016).
- 235. Scholz, H. & Eder, C. Lysophosphatidylcholine activates caspase-1 in microglia via a novel pathway involving two inflammasomes. *J Neuroimmunol* **310**, 107–110 (2017).
- Nardo, D. D. Toll-like receptors: Activation, signalling and transcriptional modulation. *Cytokine* 74, 181–189 (2015).
- 237. Lykhmus, O. *et al.* Molecular Mechanisms Regulating LPS-Induced Inflammation in the Brain. *Front Mol Neurosci* 9, 19 (2016).
- 238. Burguillos, M. A. *et al.* Microglia-Secreted Galectin-3 Acts as a Toll-like Receptor 4 Ligand and Contributes to Microglial Activation. *Cell Reports* **10**, (2015).

- Boza-Serrano, A. *et al.* Galectin-3, a novel endogenous TREM2 ligand, detrimentally regulates inflammatory response in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol* 138, 251– 273 (2019).
- 240. Venegas, C. *et al.* Microglia-derived ASC specks cross-seed amyloid-β in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* **552**, 355–361 (2017).
- 241. Tejera, D. *et al.* Systemic inflammation impairs microglial Aβ clearance through NLRP3 inflammasome. *Embo J* **38**, e101064 (2019).
- 242. Friker, L. L. *et al.* β-Amyloid Clustering around ASC Fibrils Boosts Its Toxicity in Microglia. *Cell Reports* **30**, 3743-3754.e6 (2020).
- 243. Turola, E., Furlan, R., Bianco, F., Matteoli, M. & Verderio, C. Microglial microvesicle secretion and intercellular signaling. *Front Physiol* (2012) doi:10.3389/fphys.2012.00149.
- 244. Johnstone, R. M., Adam, M., Hammond, J. R., Orr, L. & Turbide, C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). *J Biol Chem* **262**, 9412–9420 (1987).
- 245. Deatherage, B. L. & Cookson, B. T. Membrane Vesicle Release in Bacteria, Eukaryotes, and Archaea: a Conserved yet Underappreciated Aspect of Microbial Life. *Infect Immun* 80, 1948–1957 (2012).
- 246. Schorey, J. S., Cheng, Y., Singh, P. P. & Smith, V. L. Exosomes and other extracellular vesicles in host-pathogen interactions. *Embo Rep* 16, 24–43 (2015).
- 247. Robinson, D. G., Ding, Y. & Jiang, L. Unconventional protein secretion in plants: a critical assessment. *Protoplasma* **253**, 31–43 (2016).
- 248. Harding, C., Heuser, J. & Stahl, P. Endocytosis and intracellular processing of transferrin and colloidal gold-transferrin in rat reticulocytes: demonstration of a pathway for receptor shedding. *Eur J Cell Biol* **35**, 256–63 (1984).
- 249. Pan, B. T., Teng, K., Wu, C., Adam, M. & Johnstone, R. M. Electron microscopic evidence for externalization of the transferrin receptor in vesicular form in sheep reticulocytes. *J Cell Biology* **101**, 942–948 (1985).
- 250. Raposo, G. *et al.* B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. *J Exp Medicine* **183**, 1161–1172 (1996).
- 251. Colombo, M., Raposo, G. & Théry, C. Biogenesis, Secretion, and Intercellular Interactions of Exosomes and Other Extracellular Vesicles. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Bi* 30, 1–35 (2014).
- 252. Wolf, P. The Nature and Significance of Platelet Products in Human Plasma. *Brit J Haematol* **13**, 269–288 (1967).
- Tricarico, C., Clancy, J. & D'Souza-Schorey, C. Biology and biogenesis of shed microvesicles. *Small Gtpases* 8, 220–232 (2016).
- 254. Sims, P. J., Faioni, E. M., Wiedmer, T. & Shattil, S. J. Complement proteins C5b-9 cause release of membrane vesicles from the platelet surface that are enriched in the membrane receptor for coagulation factor Va and express prothrombinase activity. *J Biol Chem* 263, 18205–18212 (1988).
- 255. Satta, N. *et al.* Monocyte vesiculation is a possible mechanism for dissemination of membrane-associated procoagulant activities and adhesion molecules after stimulation by lipopolysaccharide. *J Immunol Baltim Md 1950* **153**, 3245–55 (1994).
- 256. Al-Nedawi, K. *et al.* Intercellular transfer of the oncogenic receptor EGFRvIII by microvesicles derived from tumour cells. *Nat Cell Biol* **10**, 619–624 (2008).

- 257. Kumar, A. *et al.* Microglial-derived microparticles mediate neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury. *J Neuroinflamm* (2017) doi:10.1186/s12974-017-0819-4.
- 258. Quek, C. & Hill, A. F. The role of extracellular vesicles in neurodegenerative diseases. *Biochem Bioph Res Co* (2017) doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.09.090.
- 259. Hurley, J. H. ESCRT complexes and the biogenesis of multivesicular bodies. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **20**, 4–11 (2008).
- 260. Stuffers, S., Wegner, C. S., Stenmark, H. & Brech, A. Multivesicular Endosome Biogenesis in the Absence of ESCRTs. *Traffic* **10**, 925–937 (2009).
- 261. van Niel, G. *et al.* The Tetraspanin CD63 Regulates ESCRT-Independent and -Dependent Endosomal Sorting during Melanogenesis. *Dev Cell* **21**, 708–721 (2011).
- 262. Niel, G. van, D'Angelo, G. & Raposo, G. Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Bio* 19, 213–228 (2018).
- Laulagnier, K. *et al.* Amyloid precursor protein products concentrate in a subset of exosomes specifically endocytosed by neurons. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **75**, 757–773 (2018).
- 264. Joshi, P. *et al.* Microglia convert aggregated amyloid-β into neurotoxic forms through the shedding of microvesicles. *Cell Death Differ* **21**, 582–593 (2014).
- 265. Aharon, A. *et al.* Extracellular Vesicles of Alzheimer's Disease Patients as a Biomarker for Disease Progression. *Mol Neurobiol* **57**, 4156–4169 (2020).
- 266. Coleman, B. M. & Hill, A. F. Extracellular vesicles Their role in the packaging and spread of misfolded proteins associated with neurodegenerative diseases. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 40, 89–96 (2015).
- 267. Lener, T. *et al.* Applying extracellular vesicles based therapeutics in clinical trials an ISEV position paper. *J Extracell Vesicles* **4**, 30087 (2015).
- Gordon, S. & Martinez, F. O. Alternative Activation of Macrophages: Mechanism and Functions. *Immunity* 32, 593–604 (2010).
- Orihuela, R., McPherson, C. A. & Harry, G. J. Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states. *Brit J Pharmacol* 173, 649–665 (2016).
- 270. Cherry, J. D., Olschowka, J. A. & O'Banion, M. K. Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: the good, the bad, and the inflamed. *J Neuroinflamm* **11**, 98 (2014).
- 271. Franco, R. & Fernández-Suárez, D. Alternatively activated microglia and macrophages in the central nervous system. *Prog Neurobiol* 131, 65–86 (2015).
- 272. Taylor, P. R. *et al.* MACROPHAGE RECEPTORS AND IMMUNE RECOGNITION. *Annu Rev Immunol* **23**, 901–944 (2005).
- 273. Tang, Y. & Le, W. Differential Roles of M1 and M2 Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Mol Neurobiol* **53**, 1181–1194 (2016).
- 274. Munder, M. *et al.* Th1/Th2-regulated expression of arginase isoforms in murine macrophages and dendritic cells. *J Immunol Baltim Md 1950* **163**, 3771–7 (1999).
- 275. Chang, N.-C. A. *et al.* A Macrophage Protein, Ym1, Transiently Expressed during Inflammation Is a Novel Mammalian Lectin*. *J Biol Chem* 276, 17497–17506 (2001).
- 276. Hung, S., Chang, A. C., Kato, I. & Chang, N. A. Transient expression of Ym1, a heparin-binding lectin, during developmental hematopoiesis and inflammation. J Leukocyte Biol 72, 72–82 (2002).
- 277. Ransohoff, R. M. A polarizing question: do M1 and M2 microglia exist? *Nat Neurosci* **19**, 987–991 (2016).

- 278. Grabert, K. *et al.* Microglial brain region-dependent diversity and selective regional sensitivities to aging. *Nat Neurosci* **19**, 504–516 (2016).
- Butovsky, O. & Weiner, H. L. Microglial signatures and their role in health and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 19, 622–635 (2018).
- 280. Hammond, T. R. *et al.* Single-Cell RNA Sequencing of Microglia throughout the Mouse Lifespan and in the Injured Brain Reveals Complex Cell-State Changes. *Immunity* **50**, 253-271.e6 (2019).
- 281. Doorn, K. J. *et al.* Brain region-specific gene expression profiles in freshly isolated rat microglia. *Front Cell Neurosci* **9**, 84 (2015).
- 282. Mildner, A., Huang, H., Radke, J., Stenzel, W. & Priller, J. P2Y12 receptor is expressed on human microglia under physiological conditions throughout development and is sensitive to neuroinflammatory diseases. *Glia* **65**, 375–387 (2017).
- 283. Ayata, P. *et al.* Epigenetic regulation of brain region-specific microglia clearance activity. *Nat Neurosci* **21**, 1049–1060 (2018).
- 284. Ren, L., Lubrich, B., Biber, K. & Gebicke-Haerter, P. J. Differential expression of inflammatory mediators in rat microglia cultured from different brain regions. *Mol Brain Res* 65, 198–205 (1999).
- 285. Goldmann, T. *et al.* USP18 lack in microglia causes destructive interferonopathy of the mouse brain. *Embo J* **34**, 1612–1629 (2015).
- 286. Jordão, M. J. C. *et al.* Single-cell profiling identifies myeloid cell subsets with distinct fates during neuroinflammation. *Science* **363**, eaat7554 (2019).
- 287. Prinz, M. & Priller, J. Microglia and brain macrophages in the molecular age: from origin to neuropsychiatric disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **15**, 300–312 (2014).
- 288. Hove, H. V. *et al.* A single-cell atlas of mouse brain macrophages reveals unique transcriptional identities shaped by ontogeny and tissue environment. *Nat Neurosci* 22, 1021–1035 (2019).
- Hagemeyer, N. *et al.* Microglia contribute to normal myelinogenesis and to oligodendrocyte progenitor maintenance during adulthood. *Acta Neuropathol* 134, 441–458 (2017).
- 290. Li, Q. *et al.* Developmental Heterogeneity of Microglia and Brain Myeloid Cells Revealed by Deep Single-Cell RNA Sequencing. *Neuron* **101**, 207-223.e10 (2019).
- 291. Keren-Shaul, H. *et al.* A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell* **169**, 1276-1290.e17 (2017).
- 292. Krasemann, S. *et al.* The TREM2-APOE Pathway Drives the Transcriptional Phenotype of Dysfunctional Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Immunity* (2017) doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.008.
- 293. Zeisel, A. *et al.* Cell types in the mouse cortex and hippocampus revealed by singlecell RNA-seq. *Science* **347**, 1138–1142 (2015).
- 294. Goldmann, T. *et al.* Origin, fate and dynamics of macrophages at central nervous system interfaces. *Nat Immunol* **17**, 797–805 (2016).
- 295. Rangaraju, S. *et al.* Identification and therapeutic modulation of a pro-inflammatory subset of disease-associated-microglia in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurodegener* **13**, 24 (2018).

- 296. Jay, T. R. *et al.* TREM2 deficiency eliminates TREM2+ inflammatory macrophages and ameliorates pathology in Alzheimer's disease mouse modelsTREM2 expression and function in AD. *J Exp Medicine* **212**, 287–295 (2015).
- 297. Sousa, C. *et al.* Single-cell transcriptomics reveals distinct inflammation-induced microglia signatures. *Embo Rep* **19**, (2018).
- 298. Hettinger, J. *et al.* Origin of monocytes and macrophages in a committed progenitor. *Nat Immunol* **14**, 821–830 (2013).
- 299. Kawamura, S. *et al.* Identification of a Human Clonogenic Progenitor with Strict Monocyte Differentiation Potential: A Counterpart of Mouse cMoPs. *Immunity* **46**, 835-848.e4 (2017).
- 300. Chong, S. Z. *et al.* CXCR4 identifies transitional bone marrow premonocytes that replenish the mature monocyte pool for peripheral responses. *J Exp Medicine* **213**, 2293–2314 (2016).
- 301. Serbina, N. V. & Pamer, E. G. Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2. *Nat Immunol* 7, 311–317 (2006).
- 302. Guilliams, M., Mildner, A. & Yona, S. Developmental and Functional Heterogeneity of Monocytes. *Immunity* **49**, 595–613 (2018).
- 303. Ajami, B., Bennett, J. L., Krieger, C., Tetzlaff, W. & Rossi, F. M. V. Local selfrenewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life. *Nat Neurosci* 10, 1538–1543 (2007).
- 304. Itagaki, S., McGeer, P. L. & Akiyama, H. Presence of T-cytotoxic suppressor and leucocyte common antigen positive cells in Alzheimer's disease brain tissue. *Neurosci Lett* 91, 259–264 (1988).
- 305. Zrzavy, T. *et al.* Pro-inflammatory activation of microglia in the brain of patients with sepsis. *Neuropath Appl Neuro* **45**, 278–290 (2019).
- 306. Liu, J. *et al.* T cells promote the regeneration of neural precursor cells in the hippocampus of Alzheimer's disease mice. *Neural Regen Res* **9**, 1541–1547 (2014).
- 307. Hochstrasser, T., Marksteiner, J. & Humpel, C. Telomere length is age-dependent and reduced in monocytes of Alzheimer patients. *Exp Gerontol* **47**, 160–163 (2012).
- 308. Michaud, J.-P., Bellavance, M.-A., Préfontaine, P. & Rivest, S. Real-Time In Vivo Imaging Reveals the Ability of Monocytes to Clear Vascular Amyloid Beta. *Cell Reports* 5, 646–653 (2013).
- 309. Reed-Geaghan, E. G., Croxford, A. L., Becher, B. & Landreth, G. E. Plaqueassociated myeloid cells derive from resident microglia in an Alzheimer's disease model. *J Exp Medicine* **217**, (2020).
- 310. Simard, A. R., Soulet, D., Gowing, G., Julien, J.-P. & Rivest, S. Bone Marrow-Derived Microglia Play a Critical Role in Restricting Senile Plaque Formation in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuron* 49, 489–502 (2006).
- 311. Netea, M. G., Latz, E., Mills, K. H. G. & O'Neill, L. A. J. Innate immune memory: a paradigm shift in understanding host defense. *Nat Immunol* 16, 675–679 (2015).
- 312. Netea, M. G. *et al.* Trained immunity: A program of innate immune memory in health and disease. *Science* **352**, aaf1098 (2016).
- Kachroo, A. & Robin, G. P. Systemic signaling during plant defense. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 16, 527–533 (2013).

- 314. Rodrigues, J., Brayner, F. A., Alves, L. C., Dixit, R. & Barillas-Mury, C. Hemocyte Differentiation Mediates Innate Immune Memory in Anopheles gambiae Mosquitoes. *Science* 329, 1353–1355 (2010).
- 315. Sadd, B. M. & Schmid-Hempel, P. Insect Immunity Shows Specificity in Protection upon Secondary Pathogen Exposure. *Curr Biol* **16**, 1206–1210 (2006).
- 316. Kurtz, J. & Franz, K. Evidence for memory in invertebrate immunity. *Nature* **425**, 37–38 (2003).
- 317. Luzio, N. R. D. & Williams, D. L. Protective effect of glucan against systemic Staphylococcus aureus septicemia in normal and leukemic mice. *Infect Immun* 20, 804–10 (1978).
- 318. Marakalala, M. J. *et al.* Dectin-1 plays a redundant role in the immunomodulatory activities of β-glucan-rich ligands in vivo. *Microbes Infect* **15**, 511–515 (2013).
- 319. DiCarlo, G., Wilcock, D., Henderson, D., Gordon, M. & Morgan, D. Intrahippocampal LPS injections reduce Aβ load in APP+PS1 transgenic mice. *Neurobiol Aging* 22, 1007–1012 (2001).
- 320. Herber, D. L. *et al.* Time-dependent reduction in Aβ levels after intracranial LPS administration in APP transgenic mice. *Exp Neurol* **190**, 245–253 (2004).
- 321. Zhou, J. *et al.* Imbalance of Microglial TLR4/TREM2 in LPS-Treated APP/PS1 Transgenic Mice: A Potential Link Between Alzheimer's Disease and Systemic Inflammation. *Neurochem Res* **44**, 1138–1151 (2019).
- 322. Frost, P. S. *et al.* Neonatal infection leads to increased susceptibility to Aβ oligomerinduced brain inflammation, synapse loss and cognitive impairment in mice. *Cell Death Dis* **10**, 323 (2019).
- 323. Wendeln, A.-C. *et al.* Innate immune memory in the brain shapes neurological disease hallmarks. *Nature* **556**, 332–338 (2018).
- 324. Sims, R. *et al.* Rare coding variants in PLCG2, ABI3, and TREM2 implicate microglial-mediated innate immunity in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Genet* **49**, 1373–1384 (2017).
- 325. Blasi, E., Barluzzi, R., Bocchini, V., Mazzolla, R. & Bistoni, F. Immortalization of murine microglial cells by a v-raf / v-myc carrying retrovirus. *J Neuroimmunol* 27, 229–237 (1990).
- 326. Kopec, K. K. & Carroll, R. T. Alzheimer's β-Amyloid Peptide 1–42 Induces a Phagocytic Response in Murine Microglia. *J Neurochem* **71**, 2123–2131 (1998).
- 327. Stansley, B., Post, J. & Hensley, K. A comparative review of cell culture systems for the study of microglial biology in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroinflamm* 9, 115 (2012).
- 328. Esquerda-Canals, G., Montoliu-Gaya, L., Güell-Bosch, J. & Villegas, S. Mouse Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimer's Dis* **Preprint**, 1–14 (2017).
- 329. Oakley, H. *et al.* Intraneuronal β-Amyloid Aggregates, Neurodegeneration, and Neuron Loss in Transgenic Mice with Five Familial Alzheimer's Disease Mutations: Potential Factors in Amyloid Plaque Formation. *J Neurosci* **26**, 10129–10140 (2006).
- Hall, A. M. & Roberson, E. D. Mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res Bull* 88, 3–12 (2012).
- 331. Vendrame, M. *et al.* Anti-inflammatory Effects of Human Cord Blood Cells in a Rat Model of Stroke. *Stem Cells Dev* 14, 595–604 (2005).

- 332. Inácio, A. R., Ruscher, K., Leng, L., Bucala, R. & Deierborg, T. Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor Promotes Cell Death and Aggravates Neurologic Deficits after Experimental Stroke. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metabolism* **31**, 1093–1106 (2010).
- 333. Inácio, A. R. *et al.* Endogenous IFN-β signaling exerts anti-inflammatory actions in experimentally induced focal cerebral ischemia. *J Neuroinflamm* 12, 12974 (2015).
- 334. Clausen, B. H. *et al.* Cell therapy centered on IL-1Ra is neuroprotective in experimental stroke. *Acta Neuropathol* **131**, 775–791 (2016).
- Korneev, K. V. Mouse Models of Sepsis and Septic Shock. *Mol Biol* 53, 704–717 (2019).
- 336. Fink, M. P. Animal models of sepsis. Virulence 5, 143–153 (2013).
- 337. Rittirsch, D., Hoesel, L. M. & Ward, P. A. The disconnect between animal models of sepsis and human sepsis. *J Leukocyte Biol* **81**, 137–143 (2007).
- 338. Chen, P., Stanojcic, M. & Jeschke, M. G. Differences Between Murine and Human Sepsis. *Surg Clin N Am* **94**, 1135–1149 (2014).
- 339. Kim, D.-H., Kim, H.-A., Han, Y. S., Jeon, W. K. & Han, J.-S. Recognition memory impairments and amyloid-beta deposition of the retrosplenial cortex at the early stage of 5XFAD mice. *Physiol Behav* **222**, 112891 (2020).
- 340. Eimer, W. A. & Vassar, R. Neuron loss in the 5XFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease correlates with intraneuronal Aβ42 accumulation and Caspase-3 activation. *Mol Neurodegener* 8, 2 (2013).
- 341. Tang, F. *et al.* mRNA-Seq whole-transcriptome analysis of a single cell. *Nat Methods* **6**, 377–382 (2009).
- 342. TERMAN, A. & BRUNK, U. T. Lipofuscin: Mechanisms of formation and increase with age. *Apmis* 106, 265–276 (1998).
- 343. Fevrier, B. *et al.* Cells release prions in association with exosomes. *P Natl Acad Sci Usa* **101**, 9683–9688 (2004).
- 344. Abdulrahman, B. A., Abdelaziz, D. H. & Schatzl, H. M. Autophagy regulates exosomal release of prions in neuronal cells. *J Biol Chem* **293**, 8956–8968 (2018).
- 345. Zelová, H. & Hošek, J. TNF-α signalling and inflammation: interactions between old acquaintances. *Inflamm Res* 62, 641–651 (2013).
- 346. Lambertsen, K. L. *et al.* Microglia Protect Neurons against Ischemia by Synthesis of Tumor Necrosis Factor. *J Neurosci* 29, 1319–1330 (2009).
- 347. Madsen, P. M. *et al.* Genetic ablation of soluble tumor necrosis factor with preservation of membrane tumor necrosis factor is associated with neuroprotection after focal cerebral ischemia. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metabolism* **36**, 1553–1569 (2015).
- 348. Tamatani, M. *et al.* Tumor Necrosis Factor Induces Bcl-2 and Bcl-x Expression through NFκB Activation in Primary Hippocampal Neurons*. *J Biol Chem* 274, 8531–8538 (1999).
- 349. Nijboer, C. H., Heijnen, C. J., Groenendaal, F., Bel, F. van & Kavelaars, A. Alternate Pathways Preserve Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Production After Nuclear Factor-κB Inhibition in Neonatal Cerebral Hypoxia–Ischemia. *Stroke* 40, 3362–3368 (2009).
- 350. Dawson, D. A., Martin, D. & Hallenbeck, J. M. Inhibition of tumor necrosis factoralpha reduces focal cerebral ischemic injury in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. *Neurosci Lett* **218**, 41–44 (1996).

- 351. Dolga, A. M. *et al.* TNF-α-mediates neuroprotection against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity via NF-κB-dependent up-regulation of KCa2.2 channels. *J Neurochem* 107, 1158–1167 (2008).
- 352. Boza-Serrano, A. *et al.* The role of Galectin-3 in α-synuclein-induced microglial activation. *Acta Neuropathologica Commun* **2**, 156 (2014).
- 353. Wendeln, A.-C. *et al.* Innate immune memory in the brain shapes neurological disease hallmarks. *Nature* **556**, 332–338 (2018).
- 354. Alain, T. *et al.* eIF4E/4E-BP Ratio Predicts the Efficacy of mTOR Targeted Therapies. *Cancer Res* **72**, 6468–6476 (2012).
- 355. Dancey, J. mTOR signaling and drug development in cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 7, 209–219 (2010).
- 356. Ballou, L. M. & Lin, R. Z. Rapamycin and mTOR kinase inhibitors. *J Chem Biology* 1, 27–36 (2008).
- 357. Kondilis-Mangum, H. D. & Wade, P. A. Epigenetics and the adaptive immune response. *Mol Aspects Med* **34**, 813–825 (2013).
- 358. Gazzar, M. E. *et al.* G9a and HP1 couple histone and DNA methylation to TNFalpha transcription silencing during endotoxin tolerance. *J Biological Chem* **283**, 32198–208 (2008).
- 359. Gazzar, M. E. *et al.* Chromatin-Specific Remodeling by HMGB1 and Linker Histone H1 Silences Proinflammatory Genes during Endotoxin Tolerance ▼. *Mol Cell Biol* 29, 1959–1971 (2009).
- 360. Schaafsma, W. *et al.* Long-lasting pro-inflammatory suppression of microglia by LPS-preconditioning is mediated by RelB-dependent epigenetic silencing. *Brain Behav Immun* **48**, 205–221 (2015).
- 361. Reyes, M. *et al.* An immune-cell signature of bacterial sepsis. *Nat Med* **26**, 333–340 (2020).
- 362. Grubman, A. *et al.* A single-cell atlas of entorhinal cortex from individuals with Alzheimer's disease reveals cell-type-specific gene expression regulation. *Nat Neurosci* 22, 2087–2097 (2019).
- 363. Friedman, B. A. *et al.* Diverse Brain Myeloid Expression Profiles Reveal Distinct Microglial Activation States and Aspects of Alzheimer's Disease Not Evident in Mouse Models. *Cell Reports* 22, 832--847 (2018).
- 364. Xia, C., Braunstein, Z., Toomey, A. C., Zhong, J. & Rao, X. S100 Proteins As an Important Regulator of Macrophage Inflammation. *Front Immunol* 8, 1908 (2018).
- 365. Bray, N. Awake microglia are less alert. Nat Rev Neurosci 21, 2–3 (2020).
- 366. Liu, Y. *et al.* Neuronal network activity controls microglial process surveillance in awake mice via norepinephrine signaling. *Biorxiv* 557686 (2019) doi:10.1101/557686.
- 367. Eme-Scolan, E. & Dando, S. J. Tools and Approaches for Studying Microglia In vivo. *Front Immunol* **11**, 583647 (2020).
- 368. Chen, W.-T. *et al.* Spatial Transcriptomics and In Situ Sequencing to Study Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell* **182**, 976-991.e19 (2020).
- 369. Saito, T. *et al.* Single App knock-in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Neurosci* **17**, 661–663 (2014).
- 370. Nagata, K. *et al.* Generation of App knock-in mice reveals deletion mutations protective against Alzheimer's disease-like pathology. *Nat Commun* **9**, 1800 (2018).

- 371. Xia, D. *et al.* Fibrillar Aβ causes profound microglial metabolic perturbations in a novel APP knock-in mouse model. *Biorxiv* 2021.01.19.426731 (2021) doi:10.1101/2021.01.19.426731.
- 372. Chételat, G. *et al.* Amyloid imaging in cognitively normal individuals, at-risk populations and preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroimage Clin* **2**, 356–365 (2013).
- 373. Edwards, F. A. A Unifying Hypothesis for Alzheimer's Disease: From Plaques to Neurodegeneration. *Trends Neurosci* **42**, 310–322 (2019).
Paper I

RESEARCH

Journal of Neuroinflammation

Open Access

Inflammation leads to distinct populations of extracellular vesicles from microglia



Yiyi Yang^{1*}, Antonio Boza-Serrano¹, Christopher J. R. Dunning², Bettina Hjelm Clausen^{3,4}, Kate Lykke Lambertsen^{3,4,5} and Tomas Deierborg^{1*}

Abstract

Background: Activated microglia play an essential role in inflammatory responses elicited in the central nervous system (CNS). Microglia-derived extracellular vesicles (EVs) are suggested to be involved in propagation of inflammatory signals and in the modulation of cell-to-cell communication. However, there is a lack of knowledge on the regulation of EVs and how this in turn facilitates the communication between cells in the brain. Here, we characterized microglial EVs under inflammatory conditions and investigated the effects of inflammation on the EV size, quantity, and protein content.

Methods: We have utilized western blot, nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA), and mass spectrometry to characterize EVs and examine the alterations of secreted EVs from a microglial cell line (BV2) following lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) inhibitor (etanercept) treatments, or either alone. The inflammatory responses were measured with multiplex cytokine ELISA and western blot. We also subjected TNF knockout mice to experimental stroke (permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion) and validated the effect of TNF inhibition on EV release.

Results: Our analysis of EVs originating from activated BV2 microglia revealed a significant increase in the intravesicular levels of TNF and interleukin (IL)-6. We also observed that the number of EVs released was reduced both in vitro and in vivo when inflammation was inhibited via the TNF pathway. Finally, via mass spectrometry, we identified 49 unique proteins in EVs released from LPS-activated microglia compared to control EVs (58 proteins in EVs released from LPS-activated microglia and 37 from control EVs). According to Gene Ontology (GO) analysis, we found a large increase of proteins related to translation and transcription in EVs from LPS. Importantly, we showed a distinct profile of proteins found in EVs released from LPS treated cells compared to control.

Conclusions: We demonstrate altered EV production in BV2 microglial cells and altered cytokine levels and protein composition carried by EVs in response to LPS challenge. Our findings provide new insights into the potential roles of EVs that could be related to the pathogenesis in neuroinflammatory diseases.

Keywords: Microglia, Extracellular vesicles (EVs), Neuroinflammation, TNF

Background

Microglia are considered the main innate-immune cells of the central nervous system (CNS). They continuously survey their microenvironment and have the ability to interact with neurons to regulate their activity [1]. In the healthy brain, microglia continuously survey their surroundings with highly dynamic processes [2] and become activated in response to injury, infection or neurodegenerative processes



Microglia are highly dynamic cells with the ability to transform their morphology from ramified to amoeboid and alter their phenotypes corresponding to diverse conditions. Traditionally, macrophages and microglial cells are classified into two different phenotypes, M1 and M2. M1-microglia are proinflammatory, secreting inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and nitric oxide (NO), which is believed to result in neuronal dysfunction and



© The Author(s). 2018 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/public/domain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

^{*} Correspondence: yiyi.yang@med.lu.se; tomas.deierborg@med.lu.se

¹Department of Experimental Medical Science, Experimental Neuroinflammation Laboratory, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

accelerate the progression of neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD). In contrast, M2-microglia are believed to have neuroprotective functions, including increased production of interleukin (IL)-4 and neurotrophic factors, along with an increase in phagocytosis which in turn leads to clearance of cell debris and tissue damage [3, 5]. However, there is a wide spectrum of microglial activation between the two defined phenotypes [6], and microglia might even have specific neuronal functions beyond typical pro-/anti-inflammatory responses [7]. A better understanding of the interactions between microglia and other cells in the brain is therefore needed in order to design therapies to ameliorate the detrimental effects of microglial reactions in brain diseases.

The main interaction between cells occur through cellular signaling pathways including autocrine, paracrine, and endocrine processes [8] and extracellular vesicles (EVs) can be important to transport signals between cells. In fact, increasing evidence has shown EVs are considered one of the main participants in cell-to-cell communication along with having a proposed role in the spread of pathology in neurodegenerative disease [9, 10]. These vesicles are able to carry pathogen-associated and damage-associated molecular patterns that act as signals to regulate and propagate the inflammatory response [11–13]. Hence, investigation of EV trafficking under inflammatory conditions may broaden our understanding of the roles of microglia in neurodegenerative diseases, as well as their potential in therapeutic manipulation.

The secretion of EVs is a highly conserved process [14]. However, a number of studies using proteomic analysis of EVs released by various cell types, including microglia, have revealed a diverse range of markers and alteration of protein composition [15, 16]. The lack of knowledge on EV's regulation in vitro and in vivo halts a clear understanding of EV functions in cell-to-cell communication. It is likely that different subsets of EVs have different functional properties, and trafficking of EVs is most likely modulated by specific signaling pathways.

Although consensus within the field is being reached, the classification of EVs is not easy. While different subsets of EVs are being described with increasing rate, for simplicity, we will focus on two different classes of EVs of different sizes and origins. EVs shed directly from the plasma membrane are characterized as microvesicles or ectosomes ranging from 100 to 1000 nm. Exosomes are generated within the endosomal pathway and terminate at the multivesicular endosomal body (MVB), whereby they are released upon the MVB fusing with the plasma membrane. Generally, the size of exosomes is smaller than microvesicles and below 100 nm.

A recent study has shown that the size distribution and protein composition of EVs in macrophages can be changed after bacterial infection [17]. Thus, there is a critical need for both identification of specific markers and particular signaling pathways controlling EV trafficking. The mechanism of action of EVs in microglial communication is poorly understood. In this study, we hypothesized that activation of microglia can secrete a distinct population of EV through modulation of specific signaling pathways. We investigated the dynamics of EVs from activated microglial (BV2) cells subjected to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation. We used differential ultracentrifugation to isolate EVs, including microvesicles and exosomes. EVs were then characterized in terms of size and concentration by nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA), while the origin of EVs was indicated by western blotting using antibodies against CD63, flotillin-1, and Alix. Importantly, we also analyzed the levels of inflammatory cytokines in EVs. Secretion of EVs was altered by suppression of inflammation in microglia via inhibition of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) signaling in vivo and in vitro. Subsequently, qualitative proteomic analysis was performed to reveal a different protein composition of EVs in response to LPS challenge. Taken together, our findings provide new insights into the role of EVs in regulating microglial cell communication.

Methods

Cell culture

BV2, an immortalized murine microglial cell line, was cultured in growing medium containing Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) (Gibco[™]GlutaMAX[™], Thermo Fisher Scientific) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in 5% CO2 in air at 37 °C in a humidified incubator. Cells were re-cultured every 2 days starting at a concentration of 2×10^5 cells/ml in T75 flask (Sarstedt). For a large scale of EV collection, microglia were plated in T175 flask (Sarstedt). For inflammatory activation, cells were challenged with 1 µg/ml LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, Clony 0127-B8) for 12 h and then grown for 12 h in serum-free media prior to collection of EVs. For TNF inhibition experiment, microglia were plated in growing medium either with 1 µg/ml LPS, 200 ng/ml etanercept, or both for 12 h. EVs were collected from serum-free media 12 h after treatment.

Animals

Adult male C57BL/6 mice (between 7 and 8 weeks of age, n = 20) were purchased from Taconic Ltd. (Ry, Denmark) and transferred to the Laboratory of Biomedicine, University of Southern Denmark, where they were allowed to acclimatize for 7 days prior to surgery. TNF knockout (TNF-KO) breeding couples were originally purchased from The Jackson Laboratory and transferred to the Laboratory of Biomedicine where they were

established as a colony. Animals were housed under diurnal lighting conditions and given free access to food and water [18]. All animal experiments were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations approved by the Danish Animal Ethical Committee (numbers 2011/561-1950 and 2013-15-2934-00924).

Induction of experimental stroke, permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion (pMCAO)

The distal part of the left middle cerebral artery was permanently occluded under Hypnorm and Dormicum anesthesia (fentanyl citrate (0.315 mg/ml; Jansen-Cilag) and fluanisone (10 mg/ml; Jansen-Cilag, Birkerød, Denmark), and midazolam (5 mg/ml; Hoffmann- La Roche, Hvidovre, Denmark)), respectively. After surgery, mice were injected subcutaneously with 1 ml of 0.9% saline and allowed to recover in a 25 °C controlled environment. Mice surviving for 5 days were returned to the conventional animal facility after 24 h. For post-surgical analgesia, mice were treated with 0.001 mg/20 g buprenorphine hydrochloride (Temgesic, Schering-Plough, Ballerup, Denmark) three times at 8-h intervals, starting immediately prior to surgery. Mice were allowed to survive for 1 day (immunofluorescent staining and cytokine measurement) or 5 days (EV analysis) whereafter they were killed using either an overdose of pentobarbital (200 mg/ml) containing lidocaine (20 mg/ml) (Glostrup Apotek, Glostrup, Denmark) and perfused through the left ventricle using 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) or killed by cervical dislocation. The blood and brains were collected for further analysis.

Extracellular vesicle isolation procedure and transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

For isolation of EVs, cells were cultivated in growing medium DMEM and then deprivation of serum for a period of 12 h. The media was then collected and subjected to a series of low-speed centrifugation steps (500×g for 10 min, 2000×g for 10 min, and 10,000×g for 30 min) at 4 °C in order to remove cells and cellular debris. The supernatant was then collected in centrifuge tubes (Beckman Coulter) and spun at 100,000×g for 70 min before the resultant EV pellet was washed in a large volume of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before repeating the $100,000 \times g$ spin. The pellets containing EVs were resuspended in 20 µl of PBS and stored at 4 °C or long term at - 20 °C. For electron microscopic analysis, samples of EVs were fixed with an equal volume of 2% PFA and loaded onto Formvar/carbon-coated electron microscopic grids. EVs were observed under TEM at 80 kV. TEM was carried out at Lund University Bioimaging Center.

Measurement of extracellular vesicles size by nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)

The size and total number of EVs were measured by using NanoSight LM10 (Malvern, UK) with the technology of Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA). In liquid suspension, particles undergo Brownian motion together with light scattering properties, the size distribution and concentration of EVs samples can be obtained [17]. Samples were diluted with distilled water to obtain optimal concentration for detection $(10^6-10^9 \text{ particles/ml})$ and injected with a continuous syringe system for 30 s × 5 times at speed 50 µl/min. Data acquisition was undertaken at ambient temperature and measured 5 times by NTA. Data were analyzed with NTA 2.2 software (Malvern, UK) with minimum expected particle size 10 nm.

Western blot analysis

Cell pellets and EVs were lysed in RIPA buffer (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with proteinase inhibitors (Thermo Scientific) and PhosphoStop (Roche Diagnostics GmbH). The concentration of cell lysates was determined using bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA) (Thermo Scientific), while concentrations obtained using NanoSight were utilized to ensure even loading of EVs. Samples were loaded onto 4-20% Mini-Protean TGX Precast Gels (Bio-Rad) and then transferred to Nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad) using Trans-Blot Turbo System (Bio-Rad). Membranes were incubated with following primary antibodies: Alix (Cell Signaling; 1:1000), flotillin-1 (Cell Signaling; 1:1000), CD63 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 1:1000), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 1:3000), NLRP3 (Adipogen; 1:1000) and pro-caspase1 (Adipogen; 1:1000). All secondary antibodies were horse-radish protein (HRP) conjugated (Vector; 1:5000 or 1:10000). Protein bands were detected using Clarity Western ECL Substrate (Bio-Rad) or Pierce™ ECL Western Blotting Substrate (ThermoFisher), and imaged on Bio-Rad ChemiDoc XRS+. Protein levels were normalized to beta-actin (Sigma-Aldrich; 1:15,000). Image lab™ software (Bio-Rad) was used to analyze the results.

Multiplex cytokine enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

The concentrations of different cytokines in EVs and in isolated media as well as serum from mice were measured with the MSD Mouse Proinflammatory V-Plex Plus Kit (Interferony (IFN γ), IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70, TNF, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 1 (KC/GRO), Mesoscale) using a QuickPlex SQ120 Plate Reader (Mesoscale Discovery, Rockville, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The data was analyzed with MSD Discovery Workbench software. The levels of cytokines in EVs and media were normalized to each samples total protein content in cell lysates. In

total, 6 independent EV samples were analyzed; however, those samples that were under the lowest detection limit were removed from the statistical analysis.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunofluorescent double labeling for TNF and CD11b was performed on 16-µm thick, cryostat-cut tissue sections from C57BL/6 mice with 1-day survival after pMCAO as previously described in detail [18, 19].

Extracellular vesicle fluorescent labeling

Following isolation, EVs were labeled with PKH67 Green Fluorescent Cell Linker Midi Kit for General Cell Membrane Labeling (Sigma-Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, EVs were resuspended in 1 ml PBS before 1 ml of Diluent C supplemented 4 µl PKH67 dye. Samples were incubated at room temperature for 4 min prior to the addition of 2 ml of 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (VWR International) to bind excess dye. Samples were then supplemented with 5 ml PBS and placed in 300 kDa Vivaspin filters (Sartorius Stedim Biotech GmbH, Goettingen, Germany), prior to centrifugation for 5 min at $4000 \times g$ to remove excess dye. This process was repeated a further two times, followed by a further two washes in a clean filter with DMEM (Thermo Fisher Scientific) in place of PBS. The same procedure minus EVs was carried out as control.

TNF inhibition on dynamics of extracellular vesicle trafficking

PKH67-labeled EVs (2×10^{10} particles/ml) were incubated with BV2 cells as indicated previously. After 12 h incubation, cells were washed three times with PBS and one time with 1 M NaCl prior to fixation with 4% PFA for 20 min on ice. Cells were then imaged by fluorescence microscope (Olympus IX71) at \times 20 magnification and images processed using Cellsens Standard version 1.6 software (Olympus). Vesicle uptake was analyzed by measuring fluorescent intensity using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health).

Mass spectrometry

Mass spectrometry was carried out on an Orbitrap Fusion Tribrid MS system (Thermo Scientific) equipped with a Proxeon Easy-nLC 1000 (Thermo Fisher). Injected peptides were trapped on an Acclaim PepMap C18 column (3-µm particle size, 75-µm inner diameter × 20 mm length). After trapping, gradient elution of peptides was performed on an Acclaim PepMap C18 column (100 Å 3 µm, 150 mm, 75 µm). The outlet of the analytical column was coupled directly to the mass spectrometer using a Proxeon nanospray source. The mobile phases for liquid chromatography (LC) separation were 0.1% (ν/ν) formic acid in LC-mass spectrometry grade water (solvent A) and 0.1% (ν/ν) formic acid in acetonitrile (solvent B). Peptides were first loaded with a constant pressure mode with a flow rate of solvent A onto the trapping column. Subsequently, peptides were eluted via the analytical column at a constant flow of 300 nl/min. During the elution step, the percentage of solvent B increased from 5 to 22% in the first 20 min, then increased to 32% in 5 min and finally to 98% in a further 2 min and was keeping it for 8 min. The peptides were introduced into the mass spectrometer via a Stainless steel emitter 40 mm (Thermo Fisher) and a spray voltage of 1.9 kV was applied. The capillary temperature was set at 275 °C.

Data acquisition was carried out using a top N-based data-dependent method with cycle time of 3 s. The master scan was performed in the Orbitrap in the range of 350–1500 mass to charge ratio (m/z) at a resolution of 60,000 full width at half-maximum (FWHM). The filling time was set at maximum of 50 ms with limitation of 4×10^5 ions. In a second stage of tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) ion trap collision-induced dissociation was acquired using parallel mode, filling time maximum 300 ms with limitation of 2×10^3 ions, a precursor ion isolation width of 1.6 m/z and resolution of 15,000 FWHM. Normalized collision energy was set to 35%. Only multiply charged (2^+ to 5^+) precursor ions were selected for MS/MS. The dynamic exclusion list was set to 30 s and relative mass window of 5 ppm.

Bioinformatic analysis

Gene Ontology (GO) classifications and enrichments were performed using FunRich [20]. The identified proteins were compared with web tool Exocarta database and also with the Top100 exosomal proteins from the database [21].

Data analysis

MS/MS data were searched with PEAKS (7.5). UniProt *Mus musculus* (house mouse, including 16,792 sequences) was used with non-tryptic specificity allowing up to 3 missed cleavages. A 15 ppm precursor tolerance and a 0.1 Da fragment tolerance were used. Oxidation (M) and deamidation (NQ) were treated as dynamic modification and carbamidomethylation (C) as a fixed modification. Maximum post-translational modification per peptide was 2. Search results were filtered by using 1% false discovery rate and 2 unique peptides.

The rest was evaluated using either unpaired t test or one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. All statistical analysis was done using the GraphPad Prism 7.0 software for Macintosh (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). Data are presented as means \pm SD. A confidence interval of 95% was set as significant. The exact P values are given in the figure legends. Figures were organized using Adobe Illustrator.

Results

Proinflammatory responses from LPS-stimulated BV2 microglial cells

First, we examined the activation of BV2 cells after 12 h culture in the presence of 1 µg/ml LPS followed by deprivation of serum for 12 h to elicit a strong inflammatory reaction. The inflammatory enzyme iNOS is expressed by activated microglia [22] and as expected, the level of iNOS was significantly increased in cells upon LPS stimulation (Fig. 1a). Moreover, the protein levels of other important inflammatory mediators, NLRP3 (Nod-like receptor protein 3) and pro-caspase1 (involved in the maturation, production, and release of IL-1 β and IL-18 [23]) were found to be elevated considerably (Fig. 1b, c). According to our previous studies, the viability of BV2 cells is not affected by LPS activation [22, 24]. These results suggest that an activated pro-inflammatory status of microglia remained over the 12 h EV collection period following LPS treatment.

Changes in EV size distribution in response to LPS activation

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was performed to visualize microglial-derived EVs (Fig. 1d). Images from control condition and LPS treatment revealed heterogeneous populations of EVs from microglia in the range between 100 and 1000 nm in diameter. LPS treatment seemed to induce microglial release of larger EVs, around 200–300 nm in diameter.

То further characterize EVs released under pro-inflammatory condition by LPS treatment, we compared size distribution of EVs derived from non-activated and LPS-activated microglia using Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA). The range of EVs detected with NTA was from 50 to 700 nm. Different size subpopulations of EVs were observed in EVs released from activated and non-activated microglial cells (Fig. 1f). According to the diameter of EVs, we can classify them into two subpopulations: one ranging from 50 to 100 nm can be considered as exosomes and another subpopulation with size exceeding 100 nm can be regarded as microvesicles (MVs). As can be seen in Fig. 1f, the population of MVs ranging from 300 to 400 nm has a higher frequency in the LPS-activated EVs. We found EVs released from LPS-activated cells to be significantly larger (178 \pm 5.66 nm) compared to the size of EVs from control cultures $(159 \pm 4.95 \text{ nm})$ (Fig. 1f; p < 0.001). D90 measurement shows the upper limit of 90% measured particles, and in control condition, the D90 value for EVs was 205 \pm 3.61 nm, whereas the value was 254 ± 11.06 nm in LPS-activated samples (Fig. 1f; p < 0.001). These results

revealed that LPS-stimulated microglia release larger EV populations compared to control (Fig. 1g). EV samples were blotted for different EV markers including a marker for plasma membrane (flotillin-1) and an endosomal marker (Alix) as well as the EV marker CD63 for MVB (Fig. 1e) to elucidate the subcellular origin of the EVs [25]. We observed that in EVs released from microglia after LPS activation had a higher ratio of flotillin-1 and CD63 when compared to those from non-activated cells when loading equal amounts of EVs in each lane, suggesting altered EV biogenesis and release after an inflammatory stimulus.

Increased production of TNF and IL-6 in EVs upon LPS activation

Next, we studied the cytokine release from LPS-activated BV2 microglia to evaluate the free concentration of released cytokines and the cytokine concentration in EVs. Culture medium from activated and non-activated microglia was collected, and EVs were isolated from equal amounts of medium. EVs, along with the EV-depleted media, were then subjected to analysis by multiplex ELISA. Out of ten inflammatory cytokines analyzed, the levels of two pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF and IL-6, were found to be significantly increased in EVs from activated microglia (Fig. 2a, b). TNF and IL-6 are two representative pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by microglia related to neurodegenerative diseases [3]. Notably, there was also a significant upregulation in the concentration of these two cytokines in medium (Additional file 1). However, other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-5 and IL-1 β were found to be increased only in the medium, but not in EVs (Additional files 1 and 2). Importantly, the level of TNF was much higher increased, 22-fold, compared to 5-fold in IL-6. Thus, we further investigated the effect of TNF in regulation of EV release in the following study.

Reduction of EVs by inhibition of inflammation via TNF pathway

In view of the specific increase of TNF in the EVs after LPS-stimulation, we set out to further characterize the role of TNF in the microglial release of EV. To investigate the mechanistic basis for EV regulation on LPS signaling in microglia cells, we quantified the number of EVs released from microglia after TNF inhibition with etanercept upon LPS activation. Notably, activated microglia secreted a 30-fold increase in the number of EVs under LPS stimulation (Fig. 3a). In contrast, the effect of LPS on EV release was completely attenuated down to control levels using etanercept (200 ng/ml), a TNF inhibitor that blocks both soluble and transmembrane forms of TNF (Fig. 3a). In the presence of the



TNF inhibitor, the amount of EVs released from cells was also reduced compared with control condition (Fig. 3a). Next, we wanted to understand whether the reduction of EV is caused by decreased EV uptake through inhibition of TNF. Thus, we assessed the capability of EV uptake under different conditions as indicated above. We found no significant difference between the conditions on internalization of PHK76-labeled EVs, indicating the reduction of EVs was due to TNF treatment on EV release not by affecting EV uptake/turnover (Additional file 3).

Next, we evaluated the degree of inflammatory status in microglia in relation to the amount of EVs secreted. To that aim, the level of iNOS was analyzed by western blot on cells previously treated in different conditions. We found two-fold reduction in iNOS levels following



TNF inhibition. Interestingly, the reduction of EVs released upon TNF inhibition was reduced 16-fold, suggesting that TNF signaling is particularly important when it comes to reducing the number of EV released in proinflammatory activation of microglia (Fig. 3a). Together, these results implicate that the secretion of EVs is dramatically impeded by TNF inhibition in LPS-activated microglia, which is only partly associated to an overall reduction in the inflammatory status.

Evaluation of systemic inflammation in mice after focal cerebral ischemia

As the level of TNF has shown to be upregulated in EVs under LPS activation in vitro, we next studied whether the secretion of EVs in vivo was affected by complete ablation of TNF signaling in a strong neuroinflammatory situation. To this purpose, we chose an experimental stroke model, permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion (pMCAO), as an in vivo inflammatory model. Experimental stroke in rat and mouse is known to induce neuroinflammation in the brain [26, 27] as well as alter the inflammatory response in the periphery [28, 29]. Our earlier study has revealed significant increase of TNF receptors, toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and IL-1B at mRNA levels in wild type (WT) and TNF-KO mice 1 day after pMCAO, indicating inflammation occurred in the brain [18]. We also wanted to assess systemic inflammatory response in mice after pMCAO. Therefore, we measured levels of different cytokines in serum using Multiplex ELISA from WT and TNF-KO mice without manipulation and 1 day after pMCAO. TNF expression levels

were statistically elevated in WT at day 1 and unchanged in TNF-KO mice (Additional file 4). IL-5 and IL-12p70 were also found statistically elevated in WT mice 1 day after manipulation, but not in TNF-KO (Fig. 4a, c). While in the case of IL-1β, IL-6, and KC/GRO, expression levels were considerably increased 1 day after pMCAO in both types of mice compared with unmanipulated mice (Fig. 4b, d, f). Notably, such increases induced by pMCAO were significantly attenuated by deficiency of TNF in mice. Levels of IL-10 were remarkably lower in TNF-KO mice compared with WT mice after pMCAO, but not before (Fig. 4e). Levels of IL2, IL-4, and IFNy were remained at baseline levels at day 1 in both types of mice subjected to pMCAO (Additional file 4). In conclusion, we found clear evidence of significant upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines at day 1 after pMCAO in both types of mice. However, in TNF-KO mice, such inflammation induced by pMCAO was remarkably attenuated at day 1 after stroke.

Decreased EVs in TNF knockout mice after focal cerebral ischemia

Given the impact of pMCAO on systemic inflammation in WT and TNF-KO mice, we examined microglia activation in the brain. We observed that TNF co-localized with the microglial marker, CD11b, in the peri-infarct area 1 day after pMCAO (Fig. 3d), which shows that focal cerebral ischemia could induce an initial phase of microglia activation involving TNF signaling and tissue injury, as we have shown before [30]. Moreover, the volume of infarct was also assessed in WT mice and TNF-KO mice 5 days after pMCAO in the previous study, which has shown that the injury was significantly larger in TNF-KO mice than WT mice [18]. Previously, we have shown that the infarct volume correlates with the number of EVs in plasma after this stroke model [31]. Thus, we analyzed the number of EVs in the plasma of TNF-KO mice after pMCAO. The production of EVs increased from both genotypes 5 days after pMCAO indicating inflammation occurred, which in line with our previous findings in vitro (Fig. 3a, c). Importantly, we found here that a complete ablation of TNF successfully reduced the counts of EVs in the plasma of TNF-KO mice 5 days after induction of permanent focal cerebral ischemia (Fig. 3c), but not at day 1 (Additional file 5). These results are consistent with our in vitro data and indicate the number of EVs is related to an inflammatory event and that TNF signaling is important in the mechanism regulating EV release.

Identification of microglial EVs proteins

To further elucidate cellular communication by EVs under inflammation, we set out to identify proteins in association to EVs released by BV2 cells. To this aim,



proteomic analysis was performed using mass spectrometry on EV samples from LPS-activated and control microglia. Biological independent duplicates of EVs were pooled together and analyzed. In total, 86 proteins were identified with two peptides confirmed and high confidence, as -10lgP is set for 20 as threshold, using PEAKS analysis program (Tables 1 and 2) [32]. In total, 37 proteins from control and 58 proteins from LPS-stimulated microglia were successfully mapped with UniProt database. Among them, we found 9 proteins in common (Table 3) and 49 specific proteins present in LPS condition. The analysis showed enzymes, chaperones, ribosomal structure proteins, and membrane receptors previously reported in other immune cells in our samples (Fig. 5 d, e). Of these, the majority of the identified proteins were associated with RNA binding, and more than half of them had Gene Ontology annotations related to membrane and extracellular exosome (Fig. 5c, d). The identified proteins were also compared with the ExoCarta database, which has exosomal proteins identified from previous publications [21]. In our samples, only one protein has not been reported in ExoCarta database (Fig. 5a). Compared with top 100-ranked proteins presented in the database, we identified 17 of them in our study (Fig. 5a). Notably, 89.5% proteins from this study have not been reported before and first identified in microglia (Table 4), suggesting that these cells are releasing specific EVs.

Functional profiles of the quantified microglia EVs proteins Next, we wanted to know the functions of the quantified proteins differentially secreted in EVs under LPS activation. The 86 quantified proteins in the microglial-derived



EVs were analyzed using FunRich software [21] to validate our data referred to the Vesiclepedia Exosome Database [33]. The analysis was based on their cellular compartments to which they belong, their molecular function and the biological process in which they are involved. In the analysis, some of the proteins were annotated in more than one cellular component, molecular function, and biological process.

Firstly, enrichment in pathways from membrane and extracellular exosome was observed for GO analysis on cellular component (Fig. 5d). There were large increases in proteins from LPS-stimulated EVs from ribosome, focal adhesion, extracellular matrix, and membrane (Fig. 5d). In contrast, a reduction of proteins associated with extracellular exosome was found in LPS-stimulated EVs, which is also confirmed by western blot with increased ratio of flotillin-1 and CD63 indicating more MVs released. In the categories of molecular function, the majority of the proteins were annotated to RNA binding, 38.9% in control and 72.4% in LPS (Fig. 5c). Importantly, the proteins contributed to ribosome function raised from 2.8 to 56.9% after LPS challenge (Fig. 5c). The profile of proteins in molecular function was dramatically altered after inflammatory stimulation. It is likely that microglia released a distinct population of EVs related to transduction and translation after activation of LPS. Intriguingly, the profile of EVs was peculiarly different after activation according to classification of biological process (Fig. 5e). EVs were found involved in regulation of neuron projection development at "rest" status (control), however, with activation the proteins identified in EVs shifted to ribosomal assembly and translation. The role of microglia was changed

Protein ID	Gene name	Protein name	Score
P08226	APOE	Apolipoprotein E	506
P21956	MFGE8	Lactadherin	136
P21460	CST3	Cystatin-C	123
Q9WU78	PDCD6IP	Programmed cell death 6-interacting protein	121
P11152	LPL	Lipoprotein lipase	107
Q8VDN2	ATP1A1	Sodium/potassium-transporting ATPase subunit alpha-1	105
P62737	ACTA2	Actin, aortic smooth muscle	84
Q61753	PHGDH	D-3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase	80
P07901	HSP90AA1	Heat shock protein HSP 90-alpha	80
P10605	CTSB	Cathepsin B	75
P01942	HBA	Hemoglobin subunit alpha	73
P63017	HSPA8	Heat shock protein 8	71
Q62419	SH3GL1	Endophilin-A2	70
Q8R366	IGSF8	Immunoglobulin superfamily member 8	69
Q68FD5	CLTC	Clathrin heavy chain 1	67
P10923	SPP1	Osteopontin	64
Q61207	PSAP	Prosaposin	64
P06869	PLAU	Urokinase-type plasminogen activator	62
Q8CGP5	HIST1H2AF	Histone H2A type 1-F	61
P52480	PKM	Pyruvate kinase	59
P17182	ENO1	Alpha-enolase	56
P04104	KRT1	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 1	50
P68369	TUBA1A	Tubulin alpha-1A chain	47
P01887	B2M	Beta-2-microglobulin	45
P09405	NCL	Nucleolin	44
P09055	ITGB1	Integrin beta-1	42
P01901	H2-K1	H-2 class I histocompatibility antigen, K-B alpha chain	41
P01899	H2-D1	H-2 class I histocompatibility antigen, D-B alpha chain	36
P29341	PABPC1	Polyadenylate-binding protein 1	41
P06797	CTSL	Cathepsin L1	38
P10852	SLC3A2	4F2 cell-surface antigen heavy chain	37
P08905	LYZ2	Lysozyme C-2	34
P10126	EEF1A1	Elongation factor 1-alpha 1	28
Q61937	NPM1	Nucleophosmin	27
Q9DBJ1	PGAM1	Phosphoglycerate mutase 1	25
P28798	GRN	Granulins	24
P14206	RPSA	40S ribosomal protein SA	24

Table 1 List of proteins identified in control	EV	samples
--	----	---------

Proteins retrieved in control extracellular vesicle samples from mass spectrometry. Protein ID and gene name are according to Uniprot Knowledgebase. Score values were obtained using MASCOT. The Score shows how well the observed protein matches to the stated protein in the database. Only protein identifications supported by at least two high confident peptides (confidence > 95%) were considered

from "rest" state to "activated" state by not only production of cytokine and chemokine, but also with altered secretion of EVs, which could be directly linked to detrimental inflammatory responses related to neurodegenerative diseases. In larger proportion, 49 proteins were exclusively present in EVs samples from LPS activation, including some cytoskeleton proteins and ribosomal proteins. Importantly, three of them were associated with inflammatory and neuropathological pathways: tubulin beta 4B

Protein ID	Gene name	Protein name	Score
P68372	TUBB4B	Tubulin beta-4B chain	258
P62242	RPS8	40S ribosomal protein S8	201
P47963	RPL13	60S ribosomal protein L13	181
Q9CZX8	RPS19	40S ribosomal protein S19	178
P15864	HIST1H1C	Histone H1.2	172
Q8VEK3	HNRNPU	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein U	148
Q9CR57	RPL14	60S ribosomal protein L14	146
P63276	RPS17	40S ribosomal protein S17	138
P11152	LPL	Lipoprotein lipase	130
P16858	GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	128
P68369	TUBA1A	Tubulin alpha-1A chain	123
P62082	RPS7	40S ribosomal protein S7	106
Q9D8E6	RPL4	60S ribosomal protein L4	101
P35979	RPL12	60S ribosomal protein L12	101
P14131	RPS16	40S ribosomal protein S16	100
P70696	HIST1H2BA	Histone H2B type 1-A	100
P12970	RPL7A	60S ribosomal protein L7a	98
P60710	ACTB	Actin, cytoplasmic 1	94
Q9CXW4	RPL11	60S ribosomal protein L11	85
Q9CZM2	RPL15	60S ribosomal protein L15	84
P02301	H3F3C	Histone H3.3C	83
P47911	RPL6	60S ribosomal protein L6	83
P43276	HIST1H1B	Histone H1.5	83
Q8CGP5	HIST1H2AF	Histone H2A type 1-F	82
P14115	RPL27A	60S ribosomal protein L27a	74
P27659	RPL3	60S ribosomal protein L3	72
O55142	RPL35A	60S ribosomal protein L35a	70
P25206	MCM3	DNA replication licensing factor MCM3	68
P62702	RPS4X	40S ribosomal protein S4, X isoform	63
P10126	EEF1A1	Elongation factor 1-alpha 1	63
Q8BP67	RPL24	60S ribosomal protein L24	62
P14206	RPSA	40S ribosomal protein SA	62
P11499	HSP90AB1	Heat shock protein HSP 90-beta	60
P08226	APOE	Apolipoprotein E	60
P35980	RPL18	60S ribosomal protein L18	59
P63017	HSPA8	Heat shock protein 8	59
P80318	CCT3	T-complex protein 1 subunit gamma	58
P62918	RPL8	60S ribosomal protein L8	57
O08585	CLTA	Clathrin light chain A	55
Q9Z1Q9	VARS	Valine-tRNA ligase	54
P01942	HBA	Hemoglobin subunit alpha	51
P97351	RPS3A	40S ribosomal protein S3a	50
P62806	HIST1H4A	Histone H4	48
P62270	RPS18	40S ribosomal protein S18	44

 Table 2 List of proteins identified in LPS EV samples

Score 43 41
43 41
41
41
41
40
39
39
37
36
31
28
28
23
23

Table 2 List of proteins identified in LPS EV samples (Continued)

Proteins retrieved in LPS extracellular vesicles samples from mass spectrometry. Protein ID and gene name are according to Uniprot Knowledgebase. Score values were obtained using MASCOT. The score shows how well the observed protein matches to the stated protein in the database. Only protein identifications supported by at least two high confident peptides (confidence > 95%) were considered

(TUBB4B), heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein U (HNRNPU) and serum amyloid A 3 (SAA3). Nine proteins were shared in samples from control and LPS conditions (Fig. 5b). Proteins related to immune system process and stimuli response were detected in both samples: lipoprotein lipase (LPL), apolipoprotein E (APOE), and heat shock protein 8 (HSPA8). Notably, APOE was particular with high score in the EVs before and after LPS activation. Variants of APOE (APOE4) is known as the strongest risk factor for late onset Alzheimer's disease [34] and has also been suggested to have a proinflammatory effect on microglia [35].

Discussion

Compelling evidence has suggested that the activation of innate immunity and neuroinflammation play crucial

 Table 3 The common proteins shared in CTRL and LPS EV samples

Sumples		
Protein ID	Gene name	Protein name
P08226	APOE	Apolipoprotein E
P11152	LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
P01942	HBA	Hemoglobin subunit alpha
P63017	HSPA8	Heat shock protein 8
Q68FD5	CLTC	Clathrin heavy chain 1
Q8CGP5	HIST1H2AF	Histone H2A type 1-F
P68369	TUBA1A	Tubulin alpha-1A chain
P10126	EEF1A1	Elongation factor 1-alpha 1
P14206	RPSA	40S ribosomal protein SA

Proteins retrieved in extracellular vesicle samples from mass spectrometry. Protein ID and gene name are according to Uniprot Knowledgebase roles in neurodegenerative diseases [36–38]. Microglia are an essential component in innate immunity in the CNS. Activation of microglia is followed by the initiation of intracellular machinery that leads to production of cytotoxic and proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which promote progression of inflammation and affect neighboring cells through different mechanisms. The secretion of proinflammatory signals can be conducted in classic secretion manner or non-canonical manner via vesicles. Previous studies have shown the important role of EVs in regulation of cytokine production on recipient cells and propagation of pathogenic proteins [11, 39].

The functions of microglia in the brain are diverse depending on stimulus and different brain regions. In response to different inflammatory/homeostatic conditions, they can be either beneficial or detrimental. Increasing evidence has suggested that there is a spectrum of activation in microglia based on the profile of secreted molecules [3]. However, the importance of EV released by microglia has not been well characterized. Thus, in the present study, we directly evaluated effects of LPS-stimulation on EVs derived from BV2 microglia, in terms of physical and biological properties. Our results demonstrate that (i) upon LPS-activation, the size distribution of EVs released from microglia increases in size, indicating larger vesicles are released under inflammatory conditions; (ii) IL-6 and in particular TNF are increasingly secreted in microglia-derived EVs after LPS challenge; (iii) inhibiting the TNF signaling pathway resulted in a robust reduction in the number of vesicles released from LPS-treated microglia and in



shows comparison of GO analysis on Cellular Component on proteins from CTRL and LPS-activated microglia released extracellular vesicles (GO terms are with P < 0.01). **e** Bioinformatic analysis from FunRich shows comparison of GO analysis on Biological Process on proteins from CTRL and LPS-activated microglia released extracellular vesicles (GO terms are with P < 0.01)

Protein ID	Gene name	Protein name
P08226	APOE	Apolipoprotein E
P21460	CST3	Cystatin-C
Q8VDN2	ATP1A1	Sodium/potassium-transporting ATPase subunit alpha-1
P62737	ACTA2	Actin, aortic smooth muscle
Q61753	PHGDH	D-3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase
P10605	CTSB	Cathepsin B
P01942	HBA	Hemoglobin subunit alpha
Q62419	SH3GL1	Endophilin-A2
Q8R366	IGSF8	Immunoglobulin superfamily member 8
Q68FD5	CLTC	Clathrin heavy chain 1
P10923	SPP1	Osteopontin
Q61207	PSAP	Prosaposin
P06869	PLAU	Urokinase-type plasminogen activator
Q8CGP5	HIST1H2AF	Histone H2A type 1-F
P04104	KRT1	Keratin, type II cytoskeletal 1
P68369	TUBA1A	Tubulin alpha-1A chain
P01887	B2M	Beta-2-microglobulin
P09405	NCL	Nucleolin
P09055	ITGB1	Integrin beta-1
P01901	H2-K1	H-2 class I histocompatibility antigen, K-B alpha chain
P01899	H2-D1	H-2 class I histocompatibility antigen, D-B alpha chain
P29341	PABPC1	Polyadenylate-binding protein 1
P06797	CTSL	Cathepsin L1
P10852	SLC3A2	4F2 cell-surface antigen heavy chain
P08905	LYZ2	Lysozyme C-2
P10126	EEF1A1	Elongation factor 1-alpha 1
Q61937	NPM1	Nucleophosmin
P28798	GRN	Granulins
P14206	RPSA	40S ribosomal protein SA
P68372	TUBB4B	Tubulin beta-4B chain
P62242	RPS8	40S ribosomal protein S8
P47963	RPL13	60S ribosomal protein L13
Q9CZX8	RPS19	40S ribosomal protein S19
P15864	HIST1H1C	Histone H1.2
Q8VEK3	HNRNPU	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein U
Q9CR57	RPL14	60S ribosomal protein L14
P63276	RPS17	40S ribosomal protein S17
P62082	RPS7	40S ribosomal protein S7
Q9D8E6	RPL4	60S ribosomal protein L4
P35979	RPL12	60S ribosomal protein L12
P14131	RPS16	40S ribosomal protein S16
P70696	HIST1H2BA	Histone H2B type 1-A
P12970	RPL7A	60S ribosomal protein L7a
P60710	ACTB	Actin, cytoplasmic 1

 Table 4 New proteins found in present microglia-derived EV samples

Protein ID	Gene name	Protein name
Q9CXW4	RPL11	60S ribosomal protein L11
Q9CZM2	RPL15	60S ribosomal protein L15
P02301	H3F3C	Histone H3.3C
P47911	RPL6	60S ribosomal protein L6
P43276	HIST1H1B	Histone H1.5
Q8CGP5	HIST1H2AF	Histone H2A type 1-F
P14115	RPL27A	60S ribosomal protein L27a
P27659	RPL3	60S ribosomal protein L3
O55142	RPL35A	60S ribosomal protein L35a
P25206	MCM3	DNA replication licensing factor MCM3
P62702	RPS4X	40S ribosomal protein S4, X isoform
P10126	EEF1A1	Elongation factor 1-alpha 1
Q8BP67	RPL24	60S ribosomal protein L24
P14206	RPSA	40S ribosomal protein SA
P11499	HSP90AB1	Heat shock protein HSP 90-beta
P08226	APOE	Apolipoprotein E
P35980	RPL18	60S ribosomal protein L18
P63017	HSPA8	Heat shock protein 8
P80318	CCT3	T-complex protein 1 subunit gamma
P62918	RPL8	60S ribosomal protein L8
P62911	RPL32	60S ribosomal protein L32
P14869	RPLPO	60S acidic ribosomal protein P0
Q9JIK5	DDX21	Nucleolar RNA helicase 2
P62281	RPS11	40S ribosomal protein S11
P62717	RPL18A	60S ribosomal protein L18a
P86048	RPL10L	60S ribosomal protein L10-like
P62267	RPS23	40S ribosomal protein S23
P25444	RPS2	40S ribosomal protein S2
P14148	RPL7	60S ribosomal protein L7
P53026	RPL10A	60S ribosomal protein L10a
P62264	RPS14	40S ribosomal protein S14
P62908	RPS3	40S ribosomal protein S3
P04918	SAA3	Serum amyloid A-3 protein

Table 4 New proteins found in present microglia-derived EV samples (Continued)

Proteins identified in present study were compared with proteins uploaded in Exocarta database from microglial origin. Protein ID and gene name are according to Uniprot Knowledgebase

mice subjected to pMCAO; and (iv) in response to LPS, BV2 microglia release EVs with a distinct proteomic profile related to transcription and translation.

EVs can either enhance or suppress inflammation and act as main factors to regulate inflammation and immunity [40, 41]. There is evidence showing microglia can release IL-1 β , upon exposure to ATP derived from astrocytes, by shedding MVs which contain the entire machinery important for processing of it including the P2X7 receptors [42]. This is consistent with our findings that EVs contain more molecules related to transcription and translation in activated state and include a particular population of MVs budding from the plasma membrane. The mechanism underlying release of EV is still not clear. TNF can induce neurotoxicity by modulating glutamate production that results in excitotoxic neuronal death [43]. One study conducted by Wang et al. has shown that TNF promotes the release of EVs from astrocytes through increased expression of glutaminase, which convert glutamine to glutamate [44]. TNF can also induce extensively production of glutamate from microglia in an autocrine manner to cause excitotoxicity and contribute to neuronal damage [45]. Thereby, these findings together with our results suggest that microglial EV release could be potentially modulated by TNF through specifically regulated mechanisms.

Our data suggests that inhibition of TNF signaling in microglia may impact on inflammation, with an observed reduction both in the release of different cytokines and in the total number of EVs released, implying that the release of EVs in activated microglia seems to be regulated. This idea is further supported by data from our experimental stroke model that showed altered EV counts in plasma from TNF-KO mice compared to WT. These results contradict previous work that showed an increase in the amount of MVs in mice treated with TNF inhibitor for 5 days after pMCAO compared to saline-treated mice [31]. It is therefore reasonable to assume that the difference we observed is due to the different experimental set-up. A systemic administration of TNF inhibitor in the mice 30 min after surgery could merely have a transient effect on the TNF signaling pathway, whereas using the TNF-KO model is expected to be more stable to investigate and characterize long-term effects of EVs release.

From our previous study, pMCAO could initiate microglia activation and inflammation in the brain [18, 28]. Therefore, we also evaluated systemic inflammation in mice subjected to pMCAO. Although several inflammatory factors, such as IL-1 β and IL-6, were significantly increased in both types of mice at day 1 after manipulation, such induction was attenuated in TNF-KO mice. Another study has shown that EVs derived from macrophages stimulated with bacterial infection are able to increase secretion of proinflammatory cytokines in recipient cells, including TNF [17]. Taken together, we can speculate that inflammatory propagation can be mitigated by a reduction in the number of microglia-derived EVs, thus halting inflammation via TNF signaling. However, this is complicated by the fact that there are two forms of TNF, soluble TNF (solTNF), which is related to neurotoxicity and inflammation, while the transmembrane TNF (tmTNF) is involved in functional recovery and neuroprotection [18, 46]. Hence, both the cellular contribution to TNF signaling and specifically the form of TNF carried in microglial EVs is important to evaluate final outcome of experiment, neuroprotective or neurotoxic. In our study, we measured total TNF in EVs including tmTNF and solTNF. However, the specific form of TNF is likely to be important for the inflammatory and cytoprotective outcome. We believe such studies investigating the specific form of TNF carried in EVs are important in future studies.

We also studied the protein composition to further characterize the EVs released under control or inflammatory conditions. Using western blot analysis, we looked for changes in the levels of either plasma membrane or endosomal markers to elucidate where these vesicles had originated. Indeed, we observed an increase in signal from plasma membrane markers when compared to endosomal markers upon LPS activation. When combined with the increase in overall size observed with NanoSight, this supports our theory that more MVs are released under inflammatory conditions.

Furthermore, our proteomic analysis indicated that the two populations of EVs were dramatically different in categories of molecular function and biological process under GO analysis. From the qualitative proteomic analysis, 86 proteins were identified with high accuracy. Compared to Exocarta database, most of the proteins have been reported in previous studies in exosomes from other cell types, where 89.5% of the quantified proteins were firstly identified in microglial EVs. The small overlap with previous studies is most likely due to a lack of studies utilizing microglia-derived EVs, with a sole study performed on EVs from the N9 microglial cell line responsible for all microglial proteins present in ExoCarta [15]. It was also clear from the FunRich analysis [20] that the proteins detected in EVs from LPS-treated cells had different functions to those from control cells, with proteins involved in RNA binding and structural components of the ribosome more prevalent in LPS-derived EVs. While the analysis on the cellular origin of the EV proteins revealed that the extracellular exosome and membrane were dominant from both conditions, it is of interest to note that EVs isolated from inflammatory condition were detected with more membrane and less exosome proteins, consistent with a shift towards MV release rather than exosome.

For the first time, our data indicates that microglia change its EVs releasing machinery after LPS activation with an increase in the overall number of EVs, and more EVs budding from the membrane. It is tempting to speculate that non-activated microglia have an expedient and controlled release of EVs, whereas in an inflammatory condition microglia release a large variation of EVs that will perturb the normal homeostatic function of microglia. We also think that, upon LPS-stimulation, microglia respond to release populations of extracellular cargoes with a unique proteomic profile related to RNA transcription and translation. The existence of various RNA molecules in EVs is well-established including mRNA and microRNA. In fact, microRNAs can function as ligands for TLRs and induce immune responses or inhibit activation by suppressing TLR signaling [13, 47]. These RNAs are selectively sorted to EVs under different mechanisms [47]. However, the mechanisms responsible for this packaging are not clear. Thus, our study implies proteins potentially involved in such mechanisms that are increased when inflammation takes place. According to our proteomic data, we speculate that EVs could actually carry the whole machinery not only RNAs to recipient cells and surrounding tissue.

Finally, by comparing the protein cargoes from LPS-activated and non-activated BV2 microglia, we were able to identify potential candidates likely to be involved in the communication of microglial cells with other effector cells under inflammation. We found 49 proteins exclusively present in EVs in the presence of LPS. Among them, TUBB4B, HNRNPU, and SAA3 are proteins related to inflammation and neuropathology. Indeed, TUBB4B is a member of tubulin family and known as a component of cytoskeleton [48]. Liu X et al, suggested that TUBB4B may be a part of the same disease pathway as leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2), which is a crucial factor to understand the etiology of Parkinson's disease (PD) [49]. HNRNPU acts as a key factor to maintain 3D structure of chromatin and has been reported as a posttranscriptional regulator for NF-KB inflammatory pathway [50]. In addition, SAA3 is a member of serum amyloid A (SAA) and acute phase protein accompanying with other inflammatory cytokines and chemokines [51]. It has been implied to play a role in the inflammatory processes occurring in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and multiple sclerosis (MS) [51]. In addition to those proteins found exclusively in LPS EVs, we identified APOE in EVs from both LPS and control conditions. This protein is commonly present in membranes and is considered one of the most important lipoproteins involved in cholesterol shuttling between astrocytes and neurons along with being involved in remodeling and reorganization of neuronal networks after injury [34]. It is also one of the major genetic risk factors for late onset sporadic AD and can function as a ligand in receptor-mediated endocytosis with extracellular β-amyloid [34, 52].

Conclusions

The present data show that upon activation by LPS, BV2 microglia release EVs with a distinct proteomic profile compared to control. Our data suggests that under these inflammatory conditions, MVs are the predominate EV, containing increased levels of TNF in particular, and to a lesser degree IL-6. We further provide evidence in vitro and in vivo that TNF signaling is important in quantitatively controlling EV release. Furthermore, through proteomic analysis, we are able to provide lists of proteins with the potential to modulate EV trafficking in microglia, in particular a change in EV proteins related to neuronal maintenance and protein translation after LPS activation. We believe that EV regulation in microglia and its specific role in neuroinflammation will be important to fully understand the inflammatory pathogenesis in neurodegenerative diseases.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Supplementary figures for cytokines in conditioned medium from microglia show significant upregulations of TNF (n = 7), IL-1 β (n = 7), ILS (n = 7), and IL-6 (n = 3). Measured by multiplex ELISA (Unpaired t test, *P < 0.05; ***P < 0.001). (PDF 201 kb)

Additional file 2: Supplementary figures for cytokines in microgliaderived extracellular vesicles not altered after LPS treatment. Measured by multiplex ELISA (Unpaired t test, *P < 0.05; ***P < 0.01). (PDF 180 kb)

Additional file 3: Supplementary figures for the effect of TNF inhibition on dynamics of EV trafficking. Images were taken and then measured for fluorescent intensity. A) Representative images of BV2 cells cultured with PHK76-labeled EVs 12 h after different treatments, including pretreatment of cells with either LPS (1 µg/ml) or etanercept (200 ng/ml) or in presence of both. Control (CTRL) was cells without any treatment. Cells without EV were regarded as baseline. Merged images of the indicated areas show PHK76 internalized cells (Scale bar, 50 µm). B) Comparison of total fluorescent intensity (IntDen) in BV2 cells after incubation of dyelabeled EVs. No significant differences were found between the conditions (one-way ANOVA, n = 3). (PDF 9799 kb)

Additional file 4: Supplementary figures for cytokines in serum from WT and TNF-KO mice before and 1 day after pMCAO. Measured by multiplex ELISA (one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test for multiple comparisons, n = 3-6, **P < 0.01), (PDF 30 kb)

Additional file 5: Supplementary figures for quantification of extracellular vesicles in plasma from WT and TNF-KO mice subjected to pMCAO (Unpaired *t* test, *n* = 3). (PDF 18 kb)

Abbreviations

AD: Alzheimer's disease; APOE: Apolipoprotein E; BCA: Bicinchoninic acid assay; BSA: Bovine serum albumin; CNS: Central nervous system; DMEM: Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium; ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; EVs: Extracellular vesicles; FBS: Fetal bovine serum; FWHM: Full-width at halfmaximum; GO: Gene Ontology; HNRNPU: Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein U; HRP: Horse-radish protein; HSP8; Heat shock protein 8; IFNy: Interferony; IL: Interleukin; iNOS: Inducible nitric oxide synthase; KC/GRO: C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 1; LC: Liquid chromatography; LPL: Lipoprotein lipase; LPS: Lipopolysaccharide; LRRK2: Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2; m/z: Mass to charge ratio; MS: Multiple sclerosis; MS/MS: Tandem mass spectrometry; MVB: Multivesicular endosomal compartments; MVs: Microvesicles: NLRP3: Nodlike receptor protein 3; NO: Nitric oxide; NTA: Nanoparticle tracking analysis; PBS: Phosphate-buffered saline; PD: Parkinson's disease; PFA: Paraformaldehyde; pMCAO: Permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion; SAA3: Amyloid A-3 protein; soITNF: Soluble form of tumor necrosis factor; TEM: Transmission electron microscopy; TLR: Toll-like receptor; tmTNF: Transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; TNF-KO: Tumor necrosis factor knockout: TUBB4B: Tubulin beta 4B

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge technical support for mass spectrometry from the national infrastructure BioMS, Lund University, by Carol Nilisson, Sven Kjellström, and Yan Hong. And we would like to thank Lina Gefors for assistance with TEM imaging of extracellular vesicles at Bioimaging Center, Lund University.

Funding

We gratefully acknowledge funding support from the Strategic Research Area MultiPark at Lund University, Lund, Sweden; the Swedish Research Council (No. 2012-2229), the Basal Ganglia Disorders Linnaeus Consortium (BAGADILICO); the Swedish Alzheimer Foundation; A.E. Berger Foundation; Swedish Brain Foundation; Crafoord Foundation; Swedish Dementia Association; G&I Kock Foundation; Swedish National Stroke Foundation; Swedish Parkinson Foundation; Swedish National Stroke Foundation; Swedish Parkinson; Swedish P

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' contributions

YY and TD designed the studies and participated in the data analysis, interpretation, and writing of the manuscript. BHC contributed to cytokine analysis from mice. KLL contributed to all surgical and histological aspects of the study including the analysis of tissue specimens. YP performed most experiments and analyzed and interpreted data. ABS helped to interpret data and participate in the design of the study. CD assisted with extracellular vesicle experiment and provided useful input to the drafting of the paper. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval

All animal experiments were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations approved by the Danish Animal Ethical Committee (numbers 2011/561-1950 and 2013-15-2934-00924).

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Author details

¹Department of Experimental Medical Science, Experimental Neuroinflammation Laboratory, Lund University, Lund, Sweden. ²Department of Biochemistry and Structural Biology, Lund University, Lund, Sweden. ³Department of Neurobiology Research, Institute of Molecular Medicine, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark. ⁴BRIGDE—Brain Research–Inter-Disciplinary Guided Excellence, Department of Clinical Research, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark. ⁵Department of Neurology, Odense University Hospital, Odense, Denmark.

Received: 1 March 2018 Accepted: 15 May 2018 Published online: 28 May 2018

References

- Béchade C, Cantaut-Belarif Y, Bessis A. Microglial control of neuronal activity. Front Cell Neurosci. 2013;7:32.
- Tremblay M-È, Stevens B, Sierra A, Wake H, Bessis A, Nimmerjahn A. The role of microglia in the healthy brain. J Neurosci Soc Neurosci. 2011;31:16064–9.
- Heneka MT, Kummer MP, Latz E. Innate immune activation in neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14:463–77.
- Labzin LI, Heneka MT, Latz E. Innate immunity and neurodegeneration. Annu Rev Med. 2018;69:437–49.
- Wyss-Coray T, Rogers J. Inflammation in Alzheimer disease-a brief review of the basic science and clinical literature. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2:a006346.
- Ransohoff RM. A polarizing question: do M1 and M2 microglia exist? Nat Neurosci. 2016;19:987–91.
- Masgrau R, Guaza C, Ransohoff RM, Galea E. Should we stop saying 'glia' and 'neuroinflammation'? Trends Mol Med. 2017;23:486–500.
- Turola E, Furlan R, Bianco F, Matteoli M, Verderio C. Microglial microvesicle secretion and intercellular signaling. Front Physiol. 2012;3:149.
- Gupta A, Pulliam L. Exosomes as mediators of neuroinflammation. J Neuroinflammation. 2014;11:1–10.
- Quek C, Hill AF. The role of extracellular vesicles in neurodegenerative diseases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2017;483:1178–86.
- Szabo GT, Tarr B, Paloczi K, Eder K, Lajko E, Kittel A, et al. Critical role of extracellular vesicles in modulating the cellular effects of cytokines. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014;71:4055–67.
- Kumar A, Stoica BA, Loane DJ, Yang M, Abulwerdi G, Khan N, et al. Microglial-derived microparticles mediate neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14:47.
- Fleshner M, Crane CR. Exosomes, DAMPs and miRNA: features of stress physiology and immune homeostasis. Trends Immunol. 2017;38:768–76.
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol. 2013;200:373–83.
- Potolicchio I, Carven GJ, Xu X, Stipp C, Riese RJ, Stern LJ, et al. Proteomic analysis of microglia-derived exosomes: metabolic role of the aminopeptidase CD13 in neuropeptide catabolism. J Immunol. 2005;175: 2237–43.

- Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016; 113:E968–77.
- Reales-Calderón JA, Vaz C, Monteoliva L, Molero G, Gil C. Candida albicans modifies the protein composition and size distribution of THP-1 macrophage-derived extracellular vesicles. J Proteome Res. 2017;16:87–105.
- Lambertsen KL, Clausen BH, Babcock AA, Gregersen R, Fenger C, Nielsen HH, et al. Microglia protect neurons against ischemia by synthesis of tumor necrosis factor. J Neurosci. 2009;29:1319–30.
- Clausen BH, Lambertsen KL, Babcock AA, Holm TH, Dagnaes-Hansen F, Finsen B. Interleukin-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha are expressed by different subsets of microglia and macrophages after ischemic stroke in mice. J Neuroinflammation. 2008;5:46–18.
- Benito Martin A, Peinado H. FunRich proteomics software analysis, let the fun begin! Proteomics. 2015;15:2555–6.
- Keerthikumar S, Chisanga D, Ariyaratne D, Saffar Al H, Anand S, Zhao K, et al. ExoCarta: a web-based compendium of Exosomal cargo. J Mol Biol. 2016; 428:688–92.
- Burguillos MA, Svensson M, Schulte T, Boza-Serrano A, Garcia-Quintanilla A, Kavanagh E, et al. Microglia-secreted galectin-3 acts as a toll-like receptor 4 ligand and contributes to microglial activation. Cell Rep. 2015;10:1626–38.
- 23. Schroder K, Tschopp J. The inflammasomes. Cell. 2010;140:821-32.
- Burguillos MA, Magnusson C, Nordin M, Lenshof A, Augustsson P, Hansson MJ, et al. Microchannel acoustophoresis does not impact survival or function of microglia, leukocytes or tumor cells. PLoS One. 2013;8:e64233.
- Yáňez-Mó M, Siljander PRM, Andreu Z, Zavec AB, Borràs FE, Buzás EI, et al. Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. J Extracell Vesicles. 2015;4:27066.
- Vendrame M, Gemma C, De Mesquita D, Collier L, Bickford PC, Sanberg CD, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of human cord blood cells in a rat model of stroke. Stem Cells Dev. 2005;14:595–604.
- Inácio AR, Ruscher K, Leng L, Bucala R, Deierborg T. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes cell death and aggravates neurologic deficits after experimental stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;31:1093–106.
- Inácio AR, Liu Y, Clausen BH, Svensson M, Kucharz K, Yang Y, et al. Endogenous IFN-β signaling exerts anti-inflammatory actions in experimentally induced focal cerebral ischemia. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12:211.
- Clausen BH, Lambertsen KL, Dagnaes-Hansen F, Babcock AA, Linstow von CU, Meldgaard M, et al. Cell therapy centered on IL-1Ra is neuroprotective in experimental stroke. Acta Neuropathologica. Springer. 2016;131:775–91.
- Lambertsen KL, Meldgaard M, Ladeby R, Finsen B. A quantitative study of microglial-macrophage synthesis of tumor necrosis factor during acute and late focal cerebral ischemia in mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2005;25:119–35.
- Clausen BH, Degn M, Martin NA, Couch Y, Karimi L, Ormhøj M, et al. Systemically administered anti-TNF therapy ameliorates functional outcomes after focal cerebral ischemia. J Neuroinflammation. 2014;11:203.
- Ma B, Zhang K, Hendrie C, Liang C, Li M, Doherty-Kirby A, et al. PEAKS: powerful software for peptide de novo sequencing by tandem mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2003;17:2337–42.
- Kalra H, Simpson RJ, Ji H, Aikawa E, Altevogt P, Askenase P, et al. Vesiclepedia: a compendium for extracellular vesicles with continuous community annotation. PLoS Biol. 2012;10:e1001450.
- Kim J, Basak JM, Holtzman DM. The role of apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease. Neuron. 2009;63:287–303.
- Chen S, Averett NT, Manelli A, LaDu MJ, May W, Ard MD. Isoform-specific effects of apolipoprotein E on secretion of inflammatory mediators in adult rat microglia. J Alzheimers Dis. 2005;7:25–35.
- Sjögren M, Folkesson S, Blennow K, Tarkowski E. Increased intrathecal inflammatory activity in frontotemporal dementia: pathophysiological implications. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004;75:1107–11.
- Zhang B, Gaiteri C, Bodea L-G, Wang Z, McElwee J, Podtelezhnikov AA, et al. Integrated systems approach identifies genetic nodes and networks in lateonset Alzheimer's disease. Cell. 2013;153:707–20.
- Gerhard A, Pavese N, Hotton G, Turkheimer F, Es M, Hammers A, et al. In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2006;21:404–12.
- Fevrier B, Vilette D, Archer F, Loew D, Faigle W, Vidal M, et al. Cells release prions in association with exosomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. National Acad. Sciences. 2004;101:9683–8.

- Yoon YJ, Kim OY, Gho YS. Extracellular vesicles as emerging intercellular communicasomes. BMB Rep. 2014;47:531–9.
- Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Human tumor-derived exosomes selectively impair lymphocyte responses to interleukin-2. Cancer Res. 2007;67:7458–66.
- Bianco F, Pravettoni E, Colombo A, Schenk U, Möller T, Matteoli M, et al. Astrocyte-derived ATP induces vesicle shedding and IL-1 beta release from microglia. J Immunol. 2005;174:7268–77.
- Ye L, Huang Y, Zhao L, Li Y, Sun L, Zhou Y, et al. IL-1β and TNF-α induce neurotoxicity through glutamate production: a potential role for neuronal glutaminase. J Neurochem. 2013;125:897–908.
- Wang K, Ye L, Lu H, Chen H, Zhang Y, Huang Y, et al. TNF-α promotes extracellular vesicle release in mouse astrocytes through glutaminase. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14:87.
- Takeuchi H, Jin S, Wang J, Zhang G, Kawanokuchi J, Kuno R, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-a induces neurotoxicity via glutamate release from hemichannels of activated microglia in an autocrine manner. J Biol Chem. 2006;281:21362–8.
- Madsen PM, Clausen BH, Degn M, Thyssen S, Kristensen LK, Svensson M, et al. Genetic ablation of soluble tumor necrosis factor with preservation of membrane tumor necrosis factor is associated with neuroprotection after focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2016;36:1553–69.
- Jiang L, Vader P, Schiffelers RM. Extracellular vesicles for nucleic acid delivery: progress and prospects for safe RNA-based gene therapy. Gene Ther. 2017;24:157–66.
- Hammond JW, Cai D, Verhey KJ. Tubulin modifications and their cellular functions. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2008;20:71–6.
- Liu X, Cheng R, Ye X, Verbitsky M, Kisselev S, Mejia Santana H, et al. Increased rate of sporadic and recurrent rare genic copy number variants in Parkinson's disease among Ashkenazi Jews. Mol Genet Genomic Med. 2013; 1:142–54.
- Lu Y, Liu X, Xie M, Liu M, Ye M, Li M, et al. The NF-κB-responsive long noncoding RNA FIRRE regulates posttranscriptional regulation of inflammatory gene expression through interacting with hnRNPU. J Immunol. 2017;1993571–82.
- Barbierato M, Borri M, Facci L, Zusso M, Skaper SD, Expression GP. Differential responsiveness of central nervous system glial cell populations to the acute phase protein serum amyloid a. Sci Rep. 2017;7:12158.
- Winblad B, Amouyel P, Andrieu S, Ballard C, Brayne C, Brodaty H, et al. Defeating Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a priority for European science and society. Lancet Neurol. 2016;15:455–532.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- · fast, convenient online submission
- · thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
 maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year
- maximum visionity for your rescurent over 200m website views per j

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions







1.5

1.0

0.5

0.0

Т

Ctrl

YS.

pg/mL











EVs-IL10



EVs-IL12p70

















1 D after pMCAO



Paper II

SCIENTIFIC REPORTS

OPEN

Received: 7 August 2017 Accepted: 2 January 2018 Published online: 24 January 2018

Innate immune alterations are elicited in microglial cells before plaque deposition in the Alzheimer's disease mouse model 5xFAD

Antonio Boza-Serrano, Yiyi Yang, Agnes Paulus & Tomas Deierborg

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of dementia characterized by the formation of amyloid plaques (Aβ). Over the last decade, the important role of the innate immune system for the disease development has been established. Chronic activation of microglial cells creates a proinflammatory environment, which is believed to be central for the development of the disease as well as its progression. We used the AD mouse model 5xFAD to investigate if inflammatory alterations are present in microglial cells before plaque deposition. We applied mass spectrometry and bioinformation analysis to elucidate early microglial alterations. Interestingly, we found the cytokines ILI3 and IL10 to be elevated in the 5xFAD brain after the formation of Aβ plaque at 10 weeks only. Using mass spectrometry analysis of microglial cells with bioinformation analysis, we found JAK/STAT, p38 MAPK and Interleukin pathways affected pathways related to interferon-gamma regulation and MAPK pathways. Our study points toward early inflammatory changes in microglial cells even before the accumulation of Aβ.

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disease affecting more than 24 million people worldwide and future projections predicts almost 50 millions people affected by 2030¹. The two main hallmarks of the disease are the amyloid plaques (A3) and the intra-neuronal phospho-Tau aggregation called neurofbrillary tangles (NFT). Tangles are linked to the late stage of the pathology, where symptoms to a large degree are non-reversible whereas plaques build up occurs earlier in the disease and primarily before the onset of cognitive symptoms³. Future therapeutic approaches are aiming for early treatment, even presymptomatic, to effectively fight the disease progresses before the appearance of the first plaques.

Over the last decade, the important role of the innate immune system in development of AD pathology has been well-established³. In relation to the innate-immune system, the microglial cells are crucial for the homeostatic clearance of A³, synaptic formation modulation and innate immune response, which all are suggested to be affected in the AD disease pathogenesis⁴. The inflammatory response has received special attention in AD, based on recent genome-wide association studies⁵. The inflammatory response elicited in AD by microglial cells has been linked to their activation by different A³ species⁶⁻⁸. This chronic activation of microglial cells and the proinflammatory environment created due to microglial activity is suggested to be decisive for AD pathogenesis. It is plausible that early microglial activation can be one of the first pathological processes involved in the initiation of the disease due to the capacity of lower molecular A³ species to activate microglial cells *in vitro*⁶. Thes A³ molecules can be found in the extracellular environment, before the typical plaque deposition and by that activate/ alter microglial function. This process can potentially initiate and drive the progression of the disease, not only

Experimental Neuroinflammation Laboratory, Department of Experimental Medical Science, Lund University, Sölvegatan 19, BMC B11, 221 84, Lund, Sweden. Antonio Boza-Serrano and Yiyi Yang contributed equally to this work. Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to A.B.-S. (email: antonio.boza_serrano@med.lu.se) or T.D. (email: tomas.deierborg@med.lu.se)

by inducing proinflammatory microglial activation, but also by affecting the homeostatic function of microglia¹⁰, thereby affecting other cells in the brain such as neurons and astrocytes.

In view of recent failures of clinical drug trials when patients with established AD has been enrolled, the research community is searching for early pathological events important for the disease development. Therefore, elucidation of molecular pathways involved in the early phase in AD pathogenesis is necessary. In the present study, we aim to investigate alterations of the innate immune response in the microglial cell population in 5xFAD mouse model of AD. 5xFAD mouse model carries five different mutations to strongly upregulate the human amyloid metabolism, which is known to induce a strong microglial response¹¹. We studied the progression of the pathology in the 5xFAD mice at 2, 6 and 10 weeks of age and related the readout to age-matched wild-type mice. By using mass spectrometry, together with immunohistochemistry and ELISA, we performed a proteomic analysis and identified the protein profile of microglial cells linked to the early stage of microglia activation in the pathology.

We found specific changes in isolated microglia before the plaque deposition at 10 weeks of age. Our study reveals a number of different pathways related with the innate immune system response, potentially involved in the progression of the disease, even before the first plaque deposition. Our results encourage a focus on early disease treatment and suggest further investigation of early microglial alteration in prodromal stages of AD.

Materials and Methods

Animals. We used male and female, same number of each, 5xFAD mice obtained originally from Jackson Laboratories, aged 2–10 weeks and weighting 14–20g when starting the experiment. WT and 5xFAD were divided in groups depending on their age: 2 weeks, 6 weeks or 10 weeks. Each group contains 8 animals. The mice were bred and housed in standard laboratory cages with sawdust bedding and free access to water and food. The holding room had a 12:12 h light-dark cycle. The mice were trandomly assigned to different experimental groups (5xFAD and WT) with no differences in body weight and age between the groups.

All animal experiments were performed in accordance with the animal research regulations (RD53/2013 and 2010/63/UE) in Sweden and European Union, and with the approval of the Committee of Animal Research at the University of Lund (Ethical permit number: M29-16).

Genotyping. The genotypes of 5xFAD mice were determined using an integrated extraction and amplification kit (Extract-N-Amp[™], Sigma-Aldrich). First, the samples were incubated at 94 °C for 5 mins, followed by 40 cycles with denaturation at 94 °C for 45 sec, annealing at 55 °C for 30 sec, and elongation at 72 °C for 1.5 mins. The following primers (CyberGene, Solna, Sweden) were used: For the 5xFAD the primers (5' to 3') used are listed below: APP Forward AGGACTGACCACTCGACCAG, APP Reverse GGGGGGTCTAGTTCTGCAT, PSN1 Forward AATAGAAACGGCAGGAGCAC, PSN1 Reverse GCATGAGGGCACTAATCAT, WT APP Forward CTAGGCCACAGAATTGAAAGATCT, WTT APP Reverse GTAGGTGGAAATTCTAGCATCATCC, RD1, RD2 and RD3 AAGCTAGCTGCAGTAACGCCATTT,ACCTGCATGTGAACCCAGTATTCTATC, CTACAGCCCCTCTCCAAAGGTTTATAG. The PCR products were separated by gel electrophoresis labelled with ethidium bromide and visualized using a CCD camera (SONY, Tokyo, Japan).

Sequential Protein extraction. The protein extraction was performed in brain samples from 5xFAD at 2, 6 and 10 weeks and WT mice at 2 and 10 weeks. Mice were transcardially perfused under deep anesthesia with PBS, pH 7.4. Then, the mice were decapitated and the brains were removed. One brain hemisphere was snap frozen in dry ice and the other one was fixed in paraformaldehyde (4%) as described below. Soluble protein fractions were obtained from the whole cortex (mice) using sequential protein extraction. Fractions were obtained from the whole cortex (mice) using sequential protein extraction. Fractions were obtained by homogenization of the cortex with a dounce homogenizer in the presence of PBS (1 mL/100 µg of tissue). After centrifugation for 1h at 43.000 rpm in special tubes for high-speed centrifugation from Beckman-Coulter (#357448, 1,5 ml tubes) the supernatants, were obtained and aliquoted and stored at -80 °C (S1 fraction). The pellets were extracted in RIPA buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany), ultracentrifuge at 30.000 rpm and supernatants, \$2 fractions (intracellular particulate proteins), were aliquoted and stored. PBS and RIPA solution were prepared using a protein inhibit or (Protein Inhibitor Cocktail, ThermoScientific) to prevent protein degradation and to inhibit the enzymatic activity of phosphatases (PhosphoStop, Roche).

ELISA. A Mesoscale Discovery platform (MSD, from Rockville, Maryland, USA) was used to evaluate the cytokine levels by a proinflammatory reading plate for IFN- γ , IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12 and TNF- α . To measure the cytokines in mouse brain soluble fractions, we pulled together 50 µg of the S1 and S2 fraction. Moreover, MSD plates were used to test the levels of human Aβ₄₀ and Aβ₄₂ in the soluble fraction of the brain extraction from WT and 5xFAD at different ages, 2, 6 and 10 weeks. Serial dilution of the soluble fraction was tested in order to obtain an accurate measure of the protein levels. The plates were developed using the 4× reading buffer diluted 1 time with distilled water and the plates were read using the QuickPlex Q120 reader from Mesoscale. The detection range of the different cytokines presented is the next (IL13 1670-0,408 pg/mL); IL1, 3410-0,833). Other cytokines evaluated not included but not included in the results: IFN- γ (938-0,229 pg/mL), IL2 (2630-0,642 pg/mL), IL5 (967-0,236 pg/mL), IL6 (5720-1,40), KC/ GRO (1980-0,483 pg/mL), TNF- α (627-0,153). Aβ₄₀ detection range (15100-3,69 pg/mL), Aβ₄₂ detection range

Western blot. Western blotting was used to measure APP levels in brain extractions. The proteins were extracted from the cortex using PBS or RIPA buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) with proteinase and phosphatase inhibitors. The blots were run using pre-casted gels (4–20% from Bio-Rad) in TGS buffer (Bio-Rad). The proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad) using the TransBlot turbo system from BioRad. The membranes were blocked for 1h with skim milk at 3% in PBS, then washed 3 × 10 mins in PBS and Tween-20

at 0,1%, after which they were incubated with primary and secondary antibodies diluted in PBS-Tween 20 at 0.1%. To develop the blot we use ECL Clarity (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's protocol and ChemiBlot XRS + system from Bio-Rad.

Tissue processing and immunohistochemistry. Mice were transcardially perfused under deep anesthesia (5% isoflurane in oxygen) with PBS, pH 7.4. The brains were removed and fixed in 4% PFA for 24h, then, washed in PBS 3 times and then fixed in 30% sucrose solution for 3 days. Brains were cut at a $40 \mu m$ thickness in the sagittal plane on a microtome and collected in 6 series in cold PBS and 0.02% sodiumazide. Sections from control and 5xFAD mice were processed in parallel for light microscopy immunostaining using the same batches of reagents/solutions. Brief protocol: We rinsed 3 × 5 mins in PBS, pre-incubation with 10% NDS (normal donkey serum) in 0.25% Tween-20 in PBS (blocking solution) 1h in room temperature. Primary antibody staining (mouse 6E10 Covance 803002, 1:500; rabbit Iba1 Wako ref 019-19741, 1:500) was performed in 10% blocking solution (NDS, 0.25% Tween-20) and incubated overnight in room temperature. The day after, we rinsed 3 × 5 mins in Tween-PBS (0.25%) and 1×5 mins in 10% blocking solution (NDS, 0.25% Tween-20). Secondary antibody staining (anti-mouse 555 Alexa Fluor and anti-rabbit 488 Alexa Fluor were used at 1:500) in 10% blocking solution for 2h in room temperature (dark conditions) was used followed by DAPI 1:1000 for 5 mins in 0.25% Tween X-100 in PBS and subsequent rinsing 3×5 mins PBS. Next, the sections were coverslipped with Pro-LongTM Diamond Antifade Mountant (Invitrogen) and dried in dark conditions in room temperature for 24 hours. For staining with Thioflavin-S (T1892, Sigma Aldrich) sections were first washed 3 × 5 mins in 0.25% Tween-20 in PBS and then incubated for 5 mins with 0.5% Thioflavin-S. Next, we washed sections 3 × 10 mins in 0.25% Tween-20 in PBS, mounted with Pro-LongTM Diamond Antifade Mountant (Invitrogen) and dried in dark conditions for 24 hours. Nikon Confocal A1+ microscope was used to take the pictures; $20 \times$ and $60 \times$ pictures where taken in the same area using NIS elements in-house software.

Plaque quantification/microglial cells activation in the subiculum. Plaque load was defined as the number of Thioflavin-S positive A β plaques in the subiculum of 5xFAD mice. The number of labelled gal3/iba1 positive cells were quantified in the subiculum and CA1 pyramidal layer in the brains of 5xFAD. Images were acquired with a Nikon DS-5M high-resolution digital camera connected to a Nikon Eclipse 80i microscope. The camera settings were adjusted at the start of the experiment and maintained for uniformity. Digital 10× images from 2, 6 and 10 weeks old 5xFAD mice were used for plaque and microglial quantification. 6 sections/mouse; n = 4/age/genotype. Analysis of the fluorescent labelled structures was performed with Fiji Image). Software (W. Rasband, National Institutes of Health). The colour images for plaques were converted to binary images. Plaques and activated microglial cells were counted manually after setting the brightness threshold. Quantitative comparisons were carried out on sections processed at the same time with same baches of solutions. Pictures were retrieved from the same brain area in the different experimental groups.

Isolation of microglial cells. Mice were transcardially perfused, under deep isoflurane anesthesia, with PBS pH 7.4 in order to remove any peripheral cells from the vasculature in the brain. Then, brains were removed from the cranium. Microglial cells from 5xFAD and WT brains were isolated from the right hemisphere using magnetic beads for CD11b surface marker (Miltenyi, Germany) along with isolation columns from Miltenyi Biomarkers. Briefly, the right hemisphere was dissected in small pieces and store in PBS. The suspension was spinned down and the tissue was processed using the Neuronal Tissue Dissociation Kit from Miltenyi (130-092-628, Germany) following the manufacturer's protocol. The cell suspension was filtered using a 70 µM cell strainer. Next, we incubated our cell suspension with CD11b magnetic beads from Miltenyi for 30 mins at 4°C and isolated the cells using the Miltenyi Isolation Columns. Once we isolated the cells, we added RIPA buffer (R0278, Sigma Aldrich) with phosphatase (04906837001, Roche) and proteinase inhibitors (04693159001, Roche) to avoid protein degradation.

Flow cytometry. Microglia isolated by CD11b microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) were analyzed for microglial cell surface antigens by flow cytometry. Briefly cells were incubated with anti-CD16/CD32 antibody (BD Bioscience, 1:100) to block Fc receptors. Samples were then incubated with anti-CD11b-APC (Biolegend, 1:800) and anti-CD45-PE (BD Bioscience; 1:400) to confirm purity of the microglial population. Gating was determined by proper negative isotype stained controls and compensation was made with single stainings. A viability staining, 7-aminoactinomycin D (7AAD)(BD Bioscience) was used to exclude dead cells. Flow cytometry was perfomed in a FACSArial III cytometer (BD Biosciences) and FACS Diva software (BD Biosciences). Ten thousand events were recorded and microglia were identified by CD11b⁺ and CD45⁺ expression¹². Data analysis was made using FlowJo 10.3 software (Three Star, Inc). Confirmed the enrichment of microglial cells by flow cytometry using CD11b and CD45 microglial markers (Supp. Figure 1).

Sample Preparation for proteomic analysis. Protein concentration was measured for each sample using PierceTM BCA Protein Assay (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, USA) and the Benchmark Plus microplate reader (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, USA) with BSA solutions as standards. Aliquots of 1 or 4µg of each protein extract sample were mixed into the pooled reference sample. Aliquots containing 10µg of each experimental sample or reference sample were digested with trypsin using the filter-aided sample preparation (FASP) method¹³. Briefly, protein samples were reduced with 100 mM dithiothreitol at 60 °C for 30 mins, transferred on 30 kDa MWCO Nanosep centrifugal filters (Pall Life Sciences, Ann Arbor, USA), washed with 8 M urea solution and alkylated with 10 mM methyl methanethiosulfonate in 50 mM TEAB and 1% sodium deoxycholate. Digestion was performed in 50 mM TEAB, 1% sodium deoxycholate at 37 °C in two stages: the samples were incubated with 100 ng of Pierce MS-grade trypsin (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, USA) for 3 h, then 100 ng more of trypsin was added and the digestion was performed overnight. The peptides were collected by centrifugation labelled using TMT 10-plex isobaric mass tagging reagents (Thermo Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The labelled samples from brain were mixed into corresponding sets, sodium deoxycholate was removed by acidification with 10% TFA.

The mixed labelled samples were subjected to the reversed-phase high pH fractionation on the AKTA chromatography system (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Sweden) using the XBridge C18 3.5 µm, 3.0 × 150 mm column (Waters Corporation, Milford, USA) and 25 mins gradient from 7% to 40% solvent B at the flow rate of 0.4 mJ/ min; solvent A was 10 mM ammonium formate in water at pH 10.00, solvent B was 90% acetonitrile, 10% 10 mM ammonium formate in water at pH 10.00. The initial 31 fraction was combined into 15 pooled fractions in the order 2 + 17, 3 + 18, 4 + 19 etc. The pooled fractions were dried on Speedvac and reconstituted in 20µl of 3% acetonitrile, 0.1% formic acid for analysis.

LC-MS/MS Analysis. Each fraction was analyzed on Q Exactive mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) interfaced with Thermo Easy-nLC 1200 nanoflow liquid chromatography system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Odense, Denmark). Peptides were trapped on the C18 trap column (100 $\mu m > 3$ cm, particle size 3 μ m) separated on the home-packed C18 analytical column (75 μ m \times 30 cm) packed with 3 μ m Reprosil-Pur C18-AQ particles (Dr. Maisch, Germany) using the gradient from 6% to 32% B in 70 min, from 32% to 50% B in 5 min, from 50% to 100% B in 5 min; solvent A was 0.2% formic acid and solvent B was 80% acetonitrile, 0.2% formic acid. Precursor ion mass spectra were recorded at 70 000 resolution. The 10 most intense precursor ions were selected with the isolation window of 1.6, fragmented using HCD at stepped collision energy of 27, 35 and 47 and the MS² spectra were recorded at a resolution 35 000. Charge states 2 to 6 were selected for fragmentation, dynamic exclusion was set to 30 s.

Protein Evaluation. Data analysis was performed using Proteome Discoverer version 1.4 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA). The protein database for *Mus musculus* (February 2017, 16854 sequences) was downloaded from Swissprot. Mascot 2.5.1 (Matrix Science) was used as a search engine with precursor mass tolerance of 10 ppm and fragment mass tolerance of 0.02 Da, one missed tryptic cleavage was accepted. Mono-oxidation on methionine was set as a variable modification, methylthiolation on cysteine and TMT-6 reagent modification on lysine and peptide N-terminus were set as a fixed modification. Percolator was used for the validation of identificated results; target false discovery rate of 1% was used as a threshold to filter confident peptide identification.

Reporter ion intensities were quantified in MS3 spectra using Proteome Discoverer 1.4 at 0.003 Da mass tolerances with reporter absolute intensity threshold of 2000. The resulting ratios were normalized on the median protein value of 1.0 in each sample.

Protein bioinformatics analysis. Proteins profile similarities were analysed by using Venny 2.1 (http:// bioinfogp.cnb.csic.es/tools/venny/index.html) among the different analyzed groups. Then, Gene Ontology (GO) analysis and Panther pathways analysis database were used to analyse the data from 2 different approaches. Individual groups were analysed followed with group comparison. The first 200 of the most abundant proteins form each individual group (SxFAD 2, 6 and 10 weeks and WT 2 and 10 weeks) were used to evaluate the main pathways affected by EnrichR (Panther data base). Then, GO analysis was performed using STRAP software. After the GO analysis, the resulted top 20 upregulated and downregulated proteins selected from group comparison (5xFAD 2w vs 5xFAD 6w, 5xFAD 10w vs 5xFAD 6w, 5xFAD 10w vs WT12w and 5xFAD 2w vs WT 2w) were used to further analyze the main pathways involved. Briefly, to select the proteins form t-tests to get p-values, filter on fold change > 0 (to picks only up-regulated proteins) and sort on p-values. To get downregulated proteins we only change step 2; to filter on fold change < 0. The pathway analysis was performed using EnrichR (Panther database for pathways). EnrichR implements four scores to report enrichment results: p-value, q-value, rank (Z-score), and combined score.

The p-value is computed using a standard statistical method used by most enrichment analysis tools: Fisher's exact test or the hypergeometric test. This is a binomial proportion test that assumes a binomial distribution and independence for probability of any gene belonging to any set.

The q-value is an adjusted p-value using the Benjamini-Hochberg method for correction for multiple hypotheses testing. The rank score or z-score is computed using a modification to Fisher's exact test in which we compute a z-score for deviation from an expected rank.

Finally, the combined score is a combination of the p-value and z-score calculated by multiplying the two scores as follows:

$$c = log(p) * z$$

where c is the combined score, p is the p-value computed using Fisher's exact test, and z is the z-score computed to assess the deviation from the expected rank.

PCA (principal analysis component) analysis was performed using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) from Qiagen. PCA is a quality controls analysis and it was performed in order to detect outliers and to evaluate the variability within each group.

Statistical analysis. The differences between experimental groups were analysed with one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test or two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test correction. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. We used the statistical software GraphPad PRISM 7.0 (San Diego, CA, USA). Data is represented as mean \pm S.D.

D Δ 40 APP levels (% to Actin) 30 2 weeks 20 10 n 10m 100 µm 624 224 200 В Ε Soluble Fraction (pg/mL) 15 6 weeks AB40 Levels 100 5xFAD 6W SXFAD 10M 5XFAD 2W 100 µm С F 100-Soluble Fraction (pg/mL) 10 weeks 80 Aβ₄₂ Levels 60 40 20 100 µm 5XFAD 2M n 5xFAD 6m 5XFAD 10M

Figure 1. Characterization of AD brain pathology in 5xFAD mice. (**A**–**C**) Thioflavin-S staining on 5xFAD mice at 2 (**A**), 6 (**B**) and 10 (**C**) weeks. Only in 5xFAD mice at 10 weeks amyloid beta aggregates in the subiculum were present. n = 4 per group. (**D**) Human APP levels measured by western blot showed a significant increased in a time-dependent fashion from 2 weeks to 10 weeks in 5xFAD mice. (**E**, **F**) A β 40 and A β 42 levels were measured in brain homogenates soluble fraction by ELISA. (**E**) A β 40 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 42 levels were significantly increased in a time-dependent fashion in 5xFAD mice. (**F**) A β 40 mice measured by the significant by the sis the significant by the signific

.....

Results

Characterization of the disease progression in 5xFAD mice. We evaluated the age-dependent plaque deposition in hippocampus, the APP production and the brain extracellular $A\beta$ levels in the 5xFAD mice to confirm the age-dependent $A\beta$ production as part of the pathology. First, we stained our sections with thioflavin-S to visualize fibrillar plaques to verify the deposition of $A\beta$ plaques. Thioflavin-S positive aggregates were found only in 10 week-old 5xFAD mice in the subiculum (Fig. 1C) but could not be detected at younger ages, 2 and 6 weeks




Figure 2. First plaque deposits appear at 10 weeks in 5xFAD mice in the subiculum subregion of hippocampus. Evaluation of the plaque deposition in 5xFAD from 2 to 10 weeks (A–F). (A, B) The first plaque deposits were present at 10 weeks. These plaque deposits were markedly surrounded by Iba1 positive cells (Details in B). Arrows indicated plaque deposits and Iba1 positive cells besides APP positive neurons (B). (C–F) At 2 and 6 weeks the plaque deposits were undetectable. At 6 weeks the APP positive neurons (white arrow in D) were more evident compared to 2 weeks (E, F). (G) Amyloid plaque deposits were found in the subiculum at 10 weeks. The squares indicates the area analyzed in the subiculum. (H) Aβ plaques quantification in the subiculum of 5xFAD mice from 2 to 10 weeks. (I) Gal3 positive microglial cells in the subiculum of 5xFAD from 2 to 10 weeks. Gal3 positive cells were Iba1 positive cells at 6 weeks. DAPI: blue; 6E10 (A β): red; Iba1: Green. n = 3–4 per group.

.....

(Fig. 1A, B) or in the WT mice (data not shown), which is in line with previous reports studying A β plaques in the SxFAD mice^{11,14}. Then, we used western blot to study the protein levels of the human amyloid precursor protein (APP) by using GE10 antibody recognizing amino acid residues 1–16 in A β (Fig. 1D). We found a significant age-dependent increase of APP in the brain of 5xFAD mice from 2, 6 to 10 weeks of age (Fig. 1D). As expected, human APP was not detectable in WT brains (data not shown). Next, we evaluated by ELISA the human A β_{40} and A β_{42} levels in the soluble fraction from brain homogenates in the 5xFAD mice. We found a significant time-dependent increase in soluble A β_{40} and A β_{42} levels from 2 to 10 weeks of age (Fig. 1E, F). Previous studies have shown the ability of the soluble fraction to activate microglia^{15,16}. A β_{40} or A β_{42} , was not detected in WT mice (data not shown).

To further confirm the plaque deposition, we stained our brain sections from 5xFAD mice with human anti-beta amyloid (6E10) antibody together with the microglial marker Iba1 (ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1) to evaluate the presence of microglial cells around plaques, a characteristic hallmark of the plaque deposition (Fig. 2). In line with our thioflavin-S results, we were able to confirm plaque deposits at 10 weeks in our 5xFAD mice in the subiculum (Fig. 2A, B, G and H), but not before that time-point in 5xFAD mice (6 and 2 weeks, Fig. 2C–F) or in WT mice (data not shown). Importantly, at 10 weeks we found the typical plaque-associated microglial cells (Iba1+) around the plaques (Fig. 2B). Then, we searched for activated microglial cells using galectin-3, which has been associated to proinflammatory microglial cells around A β plaque in 5xFAD brains¹⁷, and which we have found to be expressed in strongly activated microglial cells^{17,18} as a TLR4 ligand¹⁹. Galectin-3 positive cells could only be detected at 10 weeks and then in association with the plaque in subiculum (Fig. 2G and 1). Interestingly, already at 6 weeks of age we found galectin-3 positive microglial cells activation at 6 weeks in the hippocampus around APP expressing neurons (Fig. 2]). This potential microglial activation at 6 weeks in the hippocampus might be related to the soluble A β released by APP positive neurons^{7,15}. This finding is in line with our hypothesis about microglial activation before plaque deposition due to neuronal release of A β soluble molecules. Altered inflammatory cytokines in 5xFAD before plaque formation. The presence of soluble $A\beta_{40}$ and $A\beta_{42}$ at early time points in the 5xFAD mice (2 and 6 week, Fig. 1E, F), despite absence of plaque, spurs the question if we still can detect early inflammatory changes. When analysing the brain tissue levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL10 we found a significant time-dependent difference (Two-way ANOVA, p > 0.01) with a significantly upregulated by 41,6% at 10 weeks compared to 6 weeks in 5xFAD mice (Fig. 3A, p > 0.05). Similar results were obtained for the proinflammatory cytokine IL1 β (Fig. 3B). Two-way ANOVA analysis showed a significant effect of both time and genotype (p > 0.001). Post hoc analysis revealed IL1 β to be significantly upregulated with 60% at 10 weeks in 5xFAD mice compared to control mice, as well as 6 and 10 weeks in 5xFAD where it was increased by 54%, and compared to 2 weeks increased by 42,4% (Fig. 3B). The elevated levels of IL10 and IL1 β at 10 weeks, the time point where plaques appears surrounded by activated microglial cells, could indicate that these two cytokines are related to the immune reactions elicited by the $A\beta$ plaque. Next, we studied the cytokine IL12 and found significant time- and genotype-dependent differences (p > 0.05, two-way ANOVA). However, we failed to find any significant differences in post hoc analyses (Fig. 3C).

The last cytokine we found to be significantly altered between 5xFAD and WT, among all the pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines measured (see material and methods), was the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL4 (Fig. 3D). We found IL4 to be downregulated in the brain of 5xFAD mice at all time points together compared to control animals (Fig. 3D, two-way ANOVA, p > 0.05), albeit independent time point differences were not significant in posthoc analysis (one-way ANOVA). The apparent early impact of IL4 level at 2 weeks in the 5xFAD mice suggest that APP expression and/or A\beta products can, at a very early age, alter IL4 levels in the brain.

Bioinformatics analysis showed inflammatory pathways upregulated in 5xFAD microglial cells before plaque deposition. We used mass spectrometry in order to study protein alterations in microglia, qualitatively and quantitatively, in the WT and 5xFAD at 2 weeks and 6 weeks of age, before the formation of $A\beta$ plaque, and at 10 weeks. Microglial cells were isolated from brains using CD11b magnetics beads (MACS).

Using a bioinformatic approach to understand the altered molecular and cellular processes, we analysed the 200 most abundant proteins at different time points and in the experimental groups. The protein profiles of 2 and 6 weeks 5xFAD microglia shared only 12,4% of the proteins (Fig. 4, analysed by software Veny 2.1 by CSIC). This difference was even larger when comparing 5xFAD at 6 and 10 weeks where only 1,6% of the proteins were the same, which could be related to the development of the $A\beta$ plaque pathology. Surprisingly, the similarity between 2 and 10 weeks were larger with 4,5% similarity in the most 200 abundant proteins (Fig. 4A) which could indicate that early developmental programs at 2 weeks are also active at 10 weeks of age but in a pathological context. Comparing microglial proteins between 2 weeks, 6 weeks and 10 weeks, 5xFAD mice showed that 1,4% of the proteins were common in microglial cells from all of the time points studied (Fig. 4A). Interestingly, there were more proteins in common between 2(7,3%) (Fig. 4C), indicating that microglial cells change their identity in response to the $A\beta$ plaque deposition. Changes in microglial profile due to $A\beta$ plaque formation have been shown in different mouse model and in human²⁰⁻²². Moreover, as a data validation step, PCA analysis was performed to evaluate individual data point clusters in each group. Notably, no outliers were present and all groups formed clusters with some clusters were prosent on the mater source as a data validation step. PCA analysis was performed to evaluate individual data point cluster in each group. Notably, no outliers were present and all groups formed clusters with some clusters weeks overlapping each other (Fig. 4D).

Next, we analysed the protein profiles for the different experimental groups in terms of molecular pathways affected. The same 200 most abundant proteins were selected as before to analyse the main altered pathways in the 5xFAD mice at 2, 6 and 10 weeks of age. At 2 weeks in 5xFAD mice the main affected pathways experimental pathways (Table 1). Notably, already at 6 weeks we found inflammatory-related pathways affected. In fact, inflammatory pathways such as JAK/STAT, p38 MAPK and Interleukin pathways were among the most affected (Table 2). At 10 weeks in our 5xFAD mice, we found the vesicles trafficking as the most affect pathway followed by metabotropic and adrenergic regulation (Table 3), which is an interesting finding in this microglial cell population. The pathway analysis of the control groups (WT) did not show any inflammatory process affected at any time point (data not shown).

For the Gene Ontology (GO) analysis, we studied the molecular function, cellular component and biological process between different groups. We first investigated the very first age-related changes linked to AD pathogenesis by making a comparison between 5xFAD 2 weeks and 5xFAD 6 weeks. The molecular function was mostly affected in regards to the catalytic activity and the binding (Fig. 5A). Notably, both catalytic and binding activity were upregulated in a time-dependent manner in 5xFAD from 2 to 10 weeks and in comparison to WT (Fig. 5A) Next, we studied subcellular components related to the protein alterations in microglial cells. We found the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER), the cytoplasmatic compartment and the nucleus to be the main cellular components affected at 6 weeks compared to 2 weeks of age in the 5xFAD mice in relation to other affected cellular components (Fig. 5B). For the biological processes: cell regulation and cellular processes were clearly affected in 5xFAD at 6 weeks compared to 5xFAD at 2 weeks (Fig. 5C). Notably, the GO for the biological processes showed enrichment of the proteins related with immune system processes in the 5xFAD at 10 weeks compared to 5xFAD 6 weeks (Fig. 5C), in line with our hypothesis of inflammation development over time. The main cellular components altered at 10 vs 6 weeks in the 5xFAD microglial cells were the endosome and the mitochondria, in relation to other affected cellular components (Fig. 5B). Finally, we analysed the pathways affected for each compared group by using the top 20 proteins upregulated resulting from the GO analysis for both 5xFAD 10 and 6 weeks (Table 4) and 5xFAD 6 and 2 weeks (Table 5). Interestingly, the comparison between 6 and 2 weeks 5xFAD showed an increasing regulation of the FAS ligand pathways at 6 weeks old 5xFAD (Table 6B). The pathways analysis outcome between 10 weeks and 6 weeks old 5xFAD mice showed a clear upregulation of immune system related pathways such as interferon-gamma signalling pathways and a strong trend for altered B and T cell activation pathways and interleukin pathways in the 10 weeks old 5xFAD mice (p = 0.055, p = 0.071, respectively) which goes along with the alteration of cytokines we detected in 10-week old 5xFAD brains. Importantly,





we found a strong trend in Alzheimer's disease related-pathways such as the amyloid-secretase pathway to be upregulated at 10 weeks in microglial cells from the 5xFAD (p = 0.055, Table 6A).

Discussion

In this study, we investigated if altered inflammatory pattern in the commonly used AD mouse model 5xFAD could be found before plaque deposition. We studied inflammatory alterations related to microglial cells and we found a clear inflammatory activation in microglial cells isolated before $A\beta$ plaque deposition with altered



Figure 4. Protein profiles and PCA cluster analysis. (A) Comparison of the protein identity among the 200 most expressed proteins in 5xFAD. Among 2 and 6 weeks only 12.4% of proteins were the same. Among 6 and 10 weeks only 1.4% were the same. (B) Comparison between 2 weeks 5xFAD and 2 weeks WT mice results in 66% similarities in protein identity. (C) Comparison between 10 weeks 5xFAD and 10 weeks WT mice results in 7.3% similarities in protein identity. (D) Proteins cluster analysis (PCA). Proteins from the same group present a similar cluster. Analysis was performed using Ingenuity Pathways Analysis (IPA) from Quiagen.

cytokine levels in the 5xFAD brain and upregulation of proteins related to JAK-STAT, MAPK and Interleukins pathways along with a significant increase in the soluble A β levels. Moreover, at 10 weeks of age, the inflammatory pathways highlighted were linked to vesicles metabolism, which has been recently related to amyloid toxicity and plaque formation²³. Moreover, at 10 weeks we found gal3 positive microglial cells around APP neurons and A β , respectively. Gal3 has been shown to be involved in the proinflammatory activation of microglial cells and the sexpressed in microglial cells around A β plaques in 5xFAD mice^{17,19}. The data obtained in this study demonstrate the role of microglial cells in the inflammatory response and the dynamics of the response from pre-plaque stages to the appearance of the first plaques.

This early aspect of microglial activation has received a lot of attention recently, and there are many studies trying to elucidate the dynamics of the inflammatory response in the context of AD. At present, the majority of

www.nature.com/scientificreports,

Index	Name	P-value	Adjusted p-value	Z-score	Combined score
1	General transcription by RNA polymerase I	0.0004042	0.01213	-1.25	5.51
2	FAS signaling pathway	0.003552	0.05329	-1.31	3.84
3	Transcription regulation by bZIP transcription factor	0.06544	0.3410	-1.05	1.13
4	Ubiquitin proteasome pathway	0.06819	0.3410	-0.83	0.89
5	CCKR signaling map ST	0.8093	0.8093	0.98	-0.21
6	Wnt signaling pathway	0.7668	0.7932	0.92	-0.21
7	PDGF signaling pathway	0.3066	0.4379	0.26	-0.21
8	Opioid prodynorphin pathway	0.1648	0.3709	0.23	-0.23
9	Heterotrimeric G-protein signaling pathway- Gi alpha and Gs alpha mediated pathway	0.3610	0.4709	0.35	-0.26
10	5HT4 type receptor mediated signaling	0.1479	0.3709	0.26	-0.26

Table 1. Main affected pathways in 5xFAD at 2 weeks (top 200 most abundant proteins).

Index	Name	P-value	Adjusted p-value	Z-score	Combined score
1	JAK/STAT signaling pathway	0.0003162	0.01138	-1.44	6.43
2	PDGF signaling pathway	0.005052	0.06063	-1.46	4.09
3	p38 MAPK pathway	0.003783	0.06063	-1.40	3.94
4	General transcription regulation	0.03085	0.1915	-0.65	1.07
5	Insulin/IGF pathway-mitogen activated protein kinase kinase/MAP kinase cascade	0.03292	0.1915	-0.64	1.05
6	FAS signaling pathway	0.03723	0.1915	-0.54	0.89
7	Transcription regulation by bZIP transcription factor	0.06429	0.2893	-0.69	0.86
8	General transcription by RNA polymerase I	0.009316	0.08384	-0.31	0.76
9	Ras Pathway	0.1480	0.3674	-0.54	0.54
10	Interleukin signaling pathway	0.2078	0.4280	-0.07	0.06

Table 2. Main affected pathways in 5xFAD at 6 weeks (top 200 most abundant proteins).

.....

Index	Name	P-value	Adjusted p-value	Z-score	Combined score
1	Synaptic vesicle trafficking	0.000002697	0.00009360	-1.42	13.19
2	Metabotropic glutamate receptor group II pathway	0.00001080	0.0002267	-1.47	12.34
3	Beta3 adrenergic receptor signaling pathway	0.000002971	0.00009360	-1.12	10.42
4	Opioid prodynorphin pathway	0.00002609	0.0002348	-0.92	7.72
5	5HT4 type receptor mediated signaling pathway	0.00001576	0.0002348	-0.91	7.63
6	Opioid proopiomelanocortin	0.00002609	0.0002348	-0.85	7.07
7	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor 2 and 4 signaling	0.00004056	0.0003194	-0.79	6.38
8	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor 1 and 3 signaling	0.00005849	0.0004095	-0.76	5.93
9	Opioid proenkephalin	0.00002609	0.0002348	-0.65	5.44
10	Metabotropic glutamate receptor group III pathway	0.0001974	0.0009568	-0.39	2.68

Table 3. Main affected pathways in 5xFAD at 10 weeks (top 200 most abundant proteins).

studies have used APP-PS1 models in adult or aged mice, or even APP rats²⁴, with a wide range of interesting approaches, from studying complement system and synapsis loss²⁰ to autophagy in microglial cells²⁵. For instance, López-Gonzaléz *et al.*, highlighted the upregulation of proinflammatory related genes in APP-PS1 mice in adult and aged mice (from 3 to 12 months)²⁶. Our approach is focusing on very early alterations before the typical disease manifestation, from 2 weeks to 10 weeks, in the 5xFAD mouse model, using mass spectrometry to explore the protein expression in isolated microglial cells.

In the present study, we first determined when and where the $A\beta$ deposition takes place. By using thioflavin-S and $A\beta$ staining, we found $A\beta$ deposits at 10 weeks restricted to the subiculum, a medial subregion of the hippocampus (Figs 1C and 2A). We found soluble levels of $A\beta_{40}$ and $A\beta_{42}$ to be increased before the plaque deposition (Fig. 1E,F).



Figure 5. Gene Ontology Analysis. (A) Molecular function analysis on the top 20 upregulated proteins among different groups. (B) Cellular Component analysis on the top 20 upregulated proteins among different groups. (C) Biological Processes analysis on the top 20 upregulated proteins among different groups. Red, 5xFAD 2 weeks view T 2 weeks; Blue, 5xFAD 6 weeks vs SYFAD 2 weeks; Green, 5xFAD 10 weeks vs WT 10 weeks; Yellow, 5xFAD 10 weeks vs 5xFAD 6 weeks. STRAP software was used to perform the GO analysis.

.....

Microglial activation is one of the key events in AD progression. We evaluated the microglial activation based on gal3 expression, a marker of proinflammatory microglial activity¹⁹, and we found a clear microglial activation in microglial cells at 10 weeks around A β plaques (Fig. 2G) in the subiculum and sparsely around APP neurons at 6 weeks. (Fig. 2]), before any plaque deposit can be found in the brain. The gal3 immunoreactivity at 6 weeks of age in the molecular layer of hippocampus is especially interesting due to the role of gal3 positive microglial cells in the inflammatory response. Previously, we have found a detrimental role of gal3 in microglial activation in model of α -synuclein-induced microglial activation related to Parkinson's disease pathogenesis¹⁶. In line with our inflammatory hypothesis, our present data demonstrate the presence of activated microglial cells in the hippocampus of 5xFAD in time points before plaque deposits.

Proteins	Name	Location
Ppp1r21	Protein phosphatase 1 regulatory subunit 21	2p16.3
Gtf3c5	General transcription factor IIIC subunit 5	9q34.13
Smchd1	Structural maintenance of chromosomes flexible hinge domain containing 1	18p11.32
Tdrd7	tudor domain containing 7	9q22.33
Sugp1	SURP and G-patch domain containing 1	19p13
Sh3glb1	SH3 domain containing GRB2 like, endophilin B1	1p22.3
Cherp	Calcium homeostasis endoplasmic reticulum protein	19p13.11
Fam129a	Family with sequence similarity 129 member A	1q25.3
Cenpv	Centromere protein V	17p11.2
Coasy	Coenzyme A synthase	17q21.2
Ndrg3	NDRG family member 3	20q11.23
Plek	pleckstrin	2p14
Prpf6	pre-mRNA processing factor 6	20q13.33
Fmnl3	formin like 3	12q13.12
Mad1l1	MAD1 mitotic arrest deficient like 1	7p22.3
Anxa7	annexin A7	10q22.2
Cmtr1	cap methyltransferase 1	6p21.2
Gvin1	GTPase, very large interferon inducible pseudogene 1	11p15.4
Parp2	Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 2	14q11.2
Gnl3	G protein nucleolar 3	3p21.1

Table 4. Gene Ontology Top 20 5xFAD 10 weeks upregulated proteins compared to 5xFAD 6 weeks.

.....

Proteins	Name	Location
Mapk1	Mitogen-activated protein kinase 1	22q11.22
Cul3	cullin 3	2q36.2
Rragc	Ras related GTP binding C	1p34.3
Mfge8	Milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 protein	15q26.1
Acad8	Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase family member 8	11q25
Acads	Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase, C-2 to C-3 short chain	12q24.31
Colgalt1	Collagen beta(1-O)galactosyltransferase 1	19p13.11
Dak	triokinase and FMN cyclase	11q12.2
Cobll1	Cordon-bleu WH2 repeat protein like 1	2q24.3
Uba5	Ubiquitin like modifier activating enzyme 5	3q22.1
Scamp2	Secretory carrier membrane protein 2	15q24.1
Rab5c	RAB5C, member RAS oncogene family	17q21.2
Mccc2	methylcrotonoyl-CoA carboxylase 2	5q13.2
Eci2	enoyl-CoA delta isomerase 2	6p25.2
Clybl	citrate lyase beta like	13q32.3
Ttr	transthyretin	18q12.1
Rab4a	RAB4A, member RAS oncogene family	1q42.13
Wdr7	WD repeat domain 7	18q21.31
Ppt1	palmitoyl-protein thioesterase 1	1p34.2
Clpp	caseinolytic mitochondrial matrix peptidase proteolytic subunit	19p13.3

Table 5. Gene Ontology Top 20 5xFAD 6 weeks upregulated proteins compared to 5xFAD 2 weeks.

.....

Over the last decade, a large interest in the contribution of the innate immune system and its role in AD have been incurred. Especially, the microglial cells, have received a lot of attention. Understanding how the inflammatory response contributes to AD can be important to halt the progression of the disease. Hence, we aim to elucidate early inflammatory events related to $A\beta$ immune reactions.

Here, we show an altered cytokine pattern in 5xFAD mice compared to control mice. In our study, protein levels of the cytokines IL10, IL12, IL1 β and IL4 (Fig. 3) were altered in the early phase of the pathology in 5xFAD mice. When we further analysed cytokine levels, we found IL10 and IL1 β to be significantly elevated in 5xFAD mice first at 10 weeks whereas IL12 showed a strong trend towards reduction starting at 6 weeks in 5xFAD mice compared to control animals, *i.e.* before the formation of plaque, albeit not significant. Interestingly, the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-4 was overall reduced in the brain of 5xFAD mice at 2, 6 and 10 weeks of age.

Pathway 5xFAD 10w vs 6w	P-value	Adjusted p-value	Z-score	Combined score
Interferon-gamma signaling pathway	0.02764	0.1262	-1.45	3.01
Insulin/IGF pathway- mitogen activated protein kinase kinase/MAP kinase cascade	0.02862	0.1262	-1.25	2.59
B cell activation	0.05551	0.1262	-1.15	2.38
Alzheimer disease-amyloid secretase pathway	0.05456	0.1262	-1.13	2.34
Ras Pathway	0.06682	0.1262	-1.05	2.18
T cell activation	0.07056	0.1262	-0.90	1.87
Interleukin signaling pathway	0.08261	0.1262	-0.65	1.34
Pathways 5xFAD 6w vs 2w	P-value	Adjusted p-value	Z-score	Combined score
FAS signaling pathway	0.03056	0.03056	-1.46	5.10

 Table 6. Main innate-related pathways resulted from top 20 most upregulated proteins from the Gene Ontology.

IL10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine known to cease a proinflammatory response²⁷, presenting a significant up regulation from 6 weeks (pre-plaque stage) to 10 weeks of age in the brains of 5xFAD mice (Fig. 3A), suggesting IL10 to be related to the pathology starting at the time/or due to plaque formation. The function of IL10 and its effects on AD pathogenesis has been studied recently. For instance, Guillot-Sestier and colleagues found IL10 deficiency to reduce the disease progression in APP-PS1 crossed with IL10 knockout mice²⁸. They found a preserved synaptic integrity and altered regulation of innate immune genes with increased A β phagocytosis. Using a different approach, the role of IL10 was investigated and the outcome basically the same in a work where Chakrabarty *et al.*, demonstrated how the up regulation of IL10, performed by the injection of an AAV2/1-*IL-10 expressing viral vector* increased the amyloid deposition and worsen the cognitive behaviour in an AD mouse model²⁹. Taken together, these reports suggest IL10 to be involved in AD pathology, in line with our IL10 cytokine increase, at the time of plaque formation. The overall role of IL10 in the human brain for disease outcome and association to A β microgliosis is still unresolved.

Further, we found the pivotal proinflammatory cytokine IL1 β to be elevated in the brains of 5xFAD mice at the time of plaque deposition at 10 weeks of age (Fig. 3B). IL1 β has also been studied in experimental AD models, APPswe/PS-1dE9, where overexpression of IL1 β resulted in altered plaque pathology³⁰. IL1 β has also been genetically related to AD, where polymorphism in the IL1 β gene can be related to AD progression and sleep disorders³¹. Moreover, elevated levels of IL1 β were found in the cerebrospinal fluid of AD patients indicating clinical relevance for mechanisms involving this cytokine in AD development.

Another cytokine that we found a genotype-related difference (overall effect, 2-way ANOVA) was IL12 (Fig. 3C). IL12 is suggested to be involved in the progression of AD pathology. In fact, IL12 inhibition reduces AD pathology in APP/PSI mice by reducing plaque formation and cognitive deficits after intra-cerebroventricular injection of antibodies inhibiting IL12/IL23 signaling³². Clinically, elevated levels of IL12 subunit p40 has been found in CSF from AD patients²². However, a dual role of IL12 in the inflammatory response has been described, by regulation of IL10 by the activation of Th1 cells^{33,34}, showing the complex immune interplay involving IL12. Finally, we found one of the principal anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL4, to be reduced in 5xFAD mice compared to WT (Fig. 4D, overall effect, 2-way ANOVA). This downregulation of IL4 suggests that this cytokine is sensitive in early stages of the pathology. IL4 is considered an anti-inflammatory cytokine and may play a role in microglial activation³⁵.

To further elucidate the microglial phenotype, we isolated microglial cells from 5xFAD and WT brains and performed bioinformatic analysis of microglia protein profile generated by mass spectrometry. Mass spectrometry allowed us to precisely quantify and identify the proteins expressed in microglial cells from 5xFAD and WT mice. It is important to mention that at 10 weeks, the Aβ plaque is only present in the subiculum and it is only a very limited number of cells directly in contact with the plaques compared to the number of microglial cells isolated from the whole cortex and hippocampus (more than 250.000 microglial cells/brain analysed).

At week 2, we found processes linked to RNA transcription by RNA polymerase I and FAS signaling pathway affected (Table 1). FAS ligand signalling is an innate immune pathway related to apoptotic mechanisms and inflammatory response. For instance, the highlight of the apoptotic pathways can be linked to brain development connected to TNF- α expression³⁶.

Remarkably, at 6 weeks, we detected altered innate-immune related pathways in our microglial cells isolated from the 5xFAD mice (Table 2). These pathways were: JAK/STAT, p38 MAPK and Interleukin related pathways. All of them are directly involved in the inflammatory response elicited by microglial cells. For instance, p38 MAPK protein has been linked with microglial response by directly promoting the expression of inflammatory cytokine such as TNF- α , LL6 or IL-1β via TLRS ligands or in the presence of A β^{37} . Moreover, p38 MAPK has been considered a suitable target for AD^{38,39}. The role of interleukins^{31,40–43}. Remarkably, at 10 weeks, we found synaptic vesicle trafficking as the most altered pathway in our analysis. We did not found the previous proinflammatory pathways affected at 10 weeks compared to the pathways described at 6 weeks. However, individual proinflammatory proteins found at 6 weeks ranked higher at 10 weeks

(see supplementary excel file). The prevalence of vesicles trafficking pathways over proinflammatory pathways at 10 weeks is likely related with the beginning of the plaque formation and deposition, as we found in the subiculum. Furthermore, the synaptic vesicle trafficking has been linked to the inflammatory response²³. This data highlight the sensitivity of our approach, being able to address minor and important changes in the dynamic of the innate immune response. For instance, vesicles-like structures, *i.e.* exosomes and microvesicles are suggested to be involved in brain disorders such as Parkinson's disease disease and AD^{23,44,45}. In line with the role of microvesicles in AD, a recent paper published by Verderio's lab, shown that microvesicles released by microglial cells are linked to $A\beta$ aggregation and neurotoxicity²³.

To further analyse our proteomic data, we performed a GO analysis to establish the main molecular function, cellular component and biological processes affected. Regarding the molecular function, the most striking difference was found when comparing 5xFAD 6 and 2 weeks of age (Fig. 5A). The catalytic activity was upregulated at 6 weeks compared to 2 weeks 5xFAD mice. Among the proteins with a catalytic activity mainly upregulated in our analysis, we found protein phosphatase 1 regulatory subunit 21 (Ppp1r21) and GTPase protein, very large interferon inducible 1 (Gvin1) (Table 4). Phosphatases such as serine/threonine and tyrosine have been linked with AD pathology⁴⁶. Gvin1, which is related with inflammatory response is upregulated in our 5xFAD in line with other studies¹¹.

Notably, the biological processes affected between 5xFAD at 10 and 6 weeks of age pointed out significant differences in the innate immune response (Fig. 5C). In fact, proteins such as Mapk1, Rrage and Dak were among the top 20 upregulated (Table 5). Mapk1, mitogen-activated protein kinase 1, is a protein belonging to the MAPK protein family. MAPK proteins have been widely studied and linked to microglial activation and IL1 β production in AD⁴⁷. For instance, microglial p38 α MAPK is a regulator of proinflammatory cytokine expression induced by TLR ligands and A β^{37} .

The comparison from 5xFAD 6 weeks vs 2 weeks confirmed FAS ligand signalling pathway as the main up regulated pathway at 2 weeks of age (Table 5). Then, we made a comparison between 5xFAD at 10 and 6 weeks and we detected a number of different innate-immune related pathway affected such as: interferon gamma regulation, interleukins-related pathways and B and T cells activation pathways, which were upregulated in 5xFAD at 10 weeks (Table 6). Our data demonstrate the implication of the innate immune response from 6 to 10 weeks (Table 6). Our data demonstrate the implication of the innate immune response from 6 to 10 weeks Sased on the cytokine levels and especially due to the innate immune pathways upregulated at 6 weeks (MAPK p38 kinase, JAK-STAT or interleukin pathways) and 10 weeks (synaptic vesicles and metabolic alterations), as well as, microglial cells expressing gal3 around APP positive neurons in the hippocampus before plaque deposition. Future analysis of the proteomic of single cells, especially in relation to A β plaque, using CyTOF mass cytometry⁴⁶ or single cell RNAseq⁴⁹ can be useful to pin-point the detrimental signaling in microglia that contribute to the neuroinflammatory pathogenesis in AD.

Conclusion

In this study, we describe microglial changes in the very early phase of AD pathogenesis before plaque deposition in the brain of 5xFAD mice. We believe this approach can be useful to better understand the cellular pathways involved in the early disease progression, before any clinical manifestation of the disease. By performing proteomic analysis, and using bioinformation analysis to interpret the data, we were able to describe the dynamics of the inflammatory response from 2 to 10 weeks in 5xFAD AD mouse model. First, we detected important inflammatory pathways up regulated at 6 weeks (MAPK, JAK/STAT and Interleukin pathways) and then, at 10 weeks of age, we found a shift in the microglial profile with a predominant action of vesicle trafficking. Moreover, using ELISA we were able to validate our mass spectrometry data analysis and found innate immune alterations in important neuroinflammatory cytokines, IL10 and IL1 β related to the time point of plaque deposition at 10 weeks. We believe that therapeutic approaches, where early microglial alteration can be targeted, are crucial in future pre-clinical AD trials.

References

- Winblad, B. et al. Defeating Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a priority for European science and society. The Lancet Neurology 15, 455–532, https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(16)00062-4 (2016).
- Palmqvist, S. et al. Earliest accumulation of beta-amyloid occurs within the default-mode network and concurrently affects brain connectivity. Nat Commun 8, 1214, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01150-x (2017).
- Heneka, M. T. et al. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. The Lancet Neurology 14, 388–405, https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(15)70016-5 (2015).
- Prokop, S., Miller, K. R. & Heppner, F. L. Microglia actions in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathologica 126, 461–477, https://doi. org/10.1007/s00401-013-1182-x (2013).
- Cuyvers, E. & Sleegers, K. Genetic variations underlying Alzheimer's disease: evidence from genome-wide association studies and beyond. *Lancet Neurol* 15, 857–868, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00127-7 (2016).
- Parajuli, B. et al. Oligomeric amyloid beta induces IL-1beta processing via production of ROS: implication in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Death Dis 4, e975, https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.503 (2013).
- Haass, C. & Selkoe, D. J. Soluble protein oligomers in neurodegeneration: lessons from the Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8, 101–112, https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2101 (2007).
 Liu, S. et al. U. Di an antipart peptide for all heimer and and an antipart of the pertide to trigger payment on a structure. J January 10, 100 (2007).
- Liu, S. et al. TLR2 is a primary receptor for Alzheimer's amyloid beta peptide to trigger neuroinflammatory activation. J Immunol 188, 1098–1107, https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1101121 (2012).
 Kim, C. et al. Neuron-released oligomeric alpha-synuclein is an endogenous agonist of TLR2 for paracrine activation of microglia.
- Kim, C. et al. Neuron-released oligomeric alpha-synuclein is an endogenous agonist of 1LK2 for paracrine activation of microgua. Nat Commun 4, 1562, https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms2534 (2013).
- Krasemann, S. et al. The TREM2-APOE Pathway Drives the Transcriptional Phenotype of Dysfunctional Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Immunity 47, 566–581 e569, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.008 (2017).
- Landel, V. et al. Temporal gene profiling of the 5XFAD transgenic mouse model highlights the importance of microglial activation in Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurodegener 9, 33, https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-9-33 (2014).

- 12. Ford, A. L., Goodsall, A. L., Hickey, W. F. & Sedgwick, J. D. Normal adult ramified microglia separated from other central nervous system macrophages by flow cytometric sorting. Phenotypic differences defined and direct ex vivo antigen presentation to myelin basic protein-reactive CD4 + T cells compared. J Immunol 154, 4309-4321 (1995)
- Wisniewski, J. R., Zougman, A., Nagaraj, N. & Mann, M. Universal sample preparation method for proteome analysis. Nat Methods 6, 359–362, https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1322 (2009).
- 14. Spangenberg, E. E. et al. Eliminating microglia in Alzheimer's mice prevents neuronal loss without modulating amyloid-beta pathology. Brain 139, 1265–1281, https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww016 (2016). Sondag, C. M., Dhawan, G. & Combs, C. K. Beta amyloid oligomers and fibrils stimulate differential activation of primary microglia.
- 15. J Neuroinflammation 6, 1, https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-6-1 (2009). 16. DaRocha-Souto, B. et al. Brain oligomeric beta-amyloid but not total amyloid plaque burden correlates with neuronal loss and
- astrocyte inflammatory response in amyloid precursor protein/tau transgenic mice. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 70, 360-376, https:// doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e318217a118 (2011).
- 17. Yin, Z. et al. Immune hyperreactivity of Abeta plaque-associated microglia in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 55, 115-122, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2017.03.021 (2017)
- 18. Boza-Serrano, A. et al. The role of Galectin-3 in alpha-synuclein-induced microglial activation. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2, 156, https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-014-0156-0 (2014). 19. Burguillos, M. A. et al. Microglia-Secreted Galectin-3 Acts as a Toll-like Receptor 4 Ligand and Contributes to Microglial Activation.
- Cell Rep, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.02.012 (2015).
- 20. Hong, S. et al. Complement and microglia mediate early synapse loss in Alzheimer mouse models. Science 352, 712-716, https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aad8373 (2016).
- 21. Bolmont, T. et al. Dynamics of the microglial/amyloid interaction indicate a role in plaque maintenance. J Neurosci 28, 4283-4292, https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4814-07.2008 (2008).
- 22. Krabbe, G. et al. Functional impairment of microglia coincides with Beta-amyloid deposition in mice with Alzheimer-like pathology. PLoS One 8, e60921, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0060921 (2013).
- Joshi, P. et al. Microglia convert aggregated amyloid-beta into neurotoxic forms through the shedding of microvesicles. Cell Death Differ 21, 582–593, https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2013.180 (2014).
- 24. Hanzel, C. E. et al. Neuronal driven pre-plaque inflammation in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 35, 2249–2262, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.03.026 (2014).
 25. Pomilio, C. *et al.* Glial alterations from early to late stages in a model of Alzheimer's disease: Evidence of autophagy involvement in
- Abeta internalization. Hippocampus 26, 194-210, https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22503 (2016). 26. Lopez-Gonzalez, I. et al. Neuroinflammatory signals in Alzheimer disease and APP/PS1 transgenic mice: correlations with plaques,
- tangles, and oligomeric species. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 74, 319-344, https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.000000000000176 (2015) 27. Sabat, R. et al. Biology of interleukin-10. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 21, 331-344, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.09.002
- (2010). 28. Guillot-Sestier, M. V. et al. 1110 deficiency rebalances innate immunity to mitigate Alzheimer-like pathology. Neuron 85, 534-548,
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.068 (2015).
 29. Chakrabarty, P. et al. IL-10 alters immunoproteostasis in APP mice, increasing plaque burden and worsening cognitive behavior.
- Neuron 85, 519-533, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.11.020 (2015).
- 30. Matousek, S. B. et al. Chronic IL-1beta-mediated neuroinflammation mitigates amyloid pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease without inducing overt neurodegeneration. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 7, 156-164, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-011-9331-2 (2012).
- 31. Yuan, H., Xia, Q., Ge, P. & Wu, S. Genetic polymorphism of interleukin 1beta -511C/T and susceptibility to sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis. Mol Biol Rep 40, 1827-1834, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-012-2237-0 (2013)
- Vom Berg, J. et al. Inhibition of IL-12/IL-23 signaling reduces Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline. Nat Med 18, 1812–1819, https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2965 (2012).
- 33. Chang, H. D. & Radbruch, A. The pro- and anti-inflammatory potential of interleukin-12. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1109, 40-46, https:// doi.org/10.1196/annals.1398.006 (2007)
- 34. Chang, H. D. et al. Expression of IL-10 in Th memory lymphocytes is conditional on IL-12 or IL-4, unless the IL-10 gene is imprinted by GATA-3. Eur J Immunol 37, 807–817, https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200636385 (2007).
- 35. de Araujo, E. G., da Silva, G. M. & Dos Santos, A. A. Neuronal cell survival: the role of interleukins. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1153, 57-64, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2008.03974.x (2009)
- Kischkel, F. C. et al. Apo2L/TRAIL-dependent recruitment of endogenous FADD and caspase-8 to death receptors 4 and 5. Immunity 12, 611–620 (2000). 37. Bachstetter, A. D. et al. Microglial p38alpha MAPK is a key regulator of proinflammatory cytokine up-regulation induced by toll-like
- receptor (TLR) ligands or beta-amyloid (Abeta). J Neuroinflammation 8, 79, https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-79 (201 38. Munoz, L. & Ammit, A. J. Targeting p38 MAPK pathway for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Neuropharmacology 58, 561–568,
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2009.11.010 (2010). 39. Svensson, C. I. et al. Activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in spinal microglia is a critical link in inflammation-induced
- spinal pain processing. J Neurochem 86, 1534-1544 (2003). 40. Fu, A. K. et al. IL-33 ameliorates Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113, E2705-2713,
- https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1604032113 (2016). 41. Sheng, J. G., Griffin, W. S., Royston, M. C. & Mrak, R. E. Distribution of interleukin-1-immunoreactive microglia in cerebral cortical
- layers: implications for neuritic plaque formation in Alzheimer's disease. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 24, 278-283 (1998) 42. Grimaldi, L. M. et al. Association of early-onset Alzheimer's disease with an interleukin-1alpha gene polymorphism. Ann Neurol 47,
- 361-365 (2000).
- 43. Nicoll, J. A. et al. Association of interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms with Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 47, 365-368 (2000). 44. Rajendran, L. et al. Alzheimer's disease beta-amyloid peptides are released in association with exosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA
- 46. Braithwaite, S. P., Stock, J. B., Lombroso, P. J. & Nairn, A. C. Protein phosphatases and Alzheimer's disease. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci
- 106, 343-379, http ://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396456-4.00012-2 (2012). 47. Kim, S. H., Smith, C. J. & Van Eldik, L. J. Importance of MAPK pathways for microglial pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 beta
- production. Neurobiol Aging 25, 431–439, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-4580(03)00126-X (2004). 48. Korin, B. et al. High-dimensional, single-cell characterization of the brain's imm une compartment. Nat Neurosci 20, 1300-1309,
- https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4610 (2017).
 49. Keren-Shaul, H. et al. A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. Cell 169,
- 1276-1290 e1217, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.018 (2017).

Acknowledgements

This work has been supported by the Strategic Research Area MultiPark at Lund University, Lund, Sweden, the Swedish Research Council grant no. 2012-2229, the Basal Ganglia Disorders Linnaeus Consortium (BAGADILICO), the Swedish Alzheimer foundation, A.E. Berger Foundation, Swedish Brain Foundation, Crafoord Foundation, Swedish Dementia Association, G&J Kock Foundation, Swedish National Stroke Foundation, Swedish Parkinson Foundation, Stohnes Foundation and the Royal Physiographic Society. Quantitative proteomic analysis was performed at the Proteomics Core Facility at Sahlgrenska Academy, Gothenburg University by Egor Vorontsov, Jari Martikainen and Carina Sihlbom. The Proteomics Core Facility is grateful of Inga-Britt and Arne Lundbergs Forskningsstiftlese for the donation of the Orbitrap Fusion Tribrid MS instrument.

Author Contributions

A.B.S. and T.D. design the experiments and wrote the paper. A.B.S., Y.Y. and A.P. contributed to perform the experiments. A.B.S. and T.D. performed statistical analysis. A.B.S. perfomed the bioinformatic analysis along with Quantitative proteomics Core Facility at Sahlgrenska Academy, Gothenburg University.

Additional Information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-19699-y.

Competing Interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's note: Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2018

Innate immune alterations are elicited in microglial cells before plaque deposition in the Alzheimer's disease mouse model 5xFAD

Antonio Boza-Serrano^{*1}, Yiyi Yang^{*1}, Agnes Paulus¹ and Tomas Deierborg¹ Experimental Neuroinflammation Laboratory, Department of Experimental Medical Science, Lund University, Lund, Sweden.

Sölvegatan 19, BMC B11, 221 84 Lund, Sweden

Corresponding author: Antonio Boza-Serrano; antonio.boza_serrano@med.lu.se

Tomas Deierborg; tomas.deierborg@med.lu.se

*Equal contribution to the paper

Keywords: inflammation, brain, Alzheimer's disease, innate immune system and microglia.

Supplementary Figure 1

Enrichment of microglia after CD11b microbeads isolation

A) Bars show a relative comparison of microglia that were CD11b⁺ and CD45⁺ before and after CD11b microbeads isolation. There is a significant enrichment of microglia population after the isolation compared to before (Paired t-test, n = 4, P < 0.05, error bars with mean \pm SEM).

(B-C) Representative contour plots of CD11b microbeads isolated cells stained with anti-CD11b-APC and anti-CD45-PE antibodies. Microglia were identified by double positive for CD11b and CD45 staining. Only single and live cells were taken into consideration for the gating.





А